Development of efficient tools for monitoring and improvement of biogas production

Dissertation

zur

Erlangung des Doktorgrades (Dr. rer. nat.)

der

Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der

Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

vorgelegt von

Sarah Refai

aus Würselen

Bonn, 2016

Angefertigt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

> Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Uwe Deppenmeier
> Gutachter: PD Dr. Christiane Dahl Tag der Promotion: 22.12.2016 Erscheinungsjahr 2017

In tiefer Dankbarkeit und Liebe widme ich diese Dissertation meinen Eltern und meiner Schwester Miriam.

Contents

I.	INTRODUCTION	5
	ENERGY IS THE DRIVING FORCE BEHIND MODERN HUMAN DEVELOPMENT	5
	RENEWABLE ENERGY FROM BIOGAS	6
	MICROBIAL DEGRADATION PROCESSES IN A MESOPHILIC AGRICULTURAL BIOGAS REACTOR	8
	DENTIFICATION AND QUANTIFICATION OF THE MICROBIAL COMMUNITY IN A BIOGAS PLANT	. 20
	MONITORING THE BIOGAS PRODUCTION PROCESS	. 24
	PROCESS INCIDENTS DURING BIOGAS FORMATION IN BIOGAS PLANTS	. 30
	IMPROVEMENT OF PROCESS EFFICIENCY IN BIOGAS PRODUCTION	. 36
II.	AIMS OF THE THESIS	. 40
III.	PUBLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS	. 42
	CHAPTER 1 - QUANTIFICATION OF METHANOGENIC HETERODISULFIDE REDUCTASE ACTIVITY IN BIOGAS	40
	CHAPTER 2 - SHORT-TERM EFFECT OF ACETATE AND ETHANOL ON METHANE FORMATION IN BIOGAS	. 43
	CHAPTER 3 - INCREASE OF METHANE FORMATION BY ETHANOL ADDITION DURING CONTINUOUS	. 40
	FERMENTATION OF BIOGAS SLUDGE	. 60
	CHAPTER 4 - BEAP PROFILES AS RAPID TEST SYSTEM FOR STATUS ANALYSIS AND EARLY DETECTION OF	-
	PROCESS INCIDENTS IN BIOGAS PLANTS	. 71
IV	SUMMARY	. 98
V.	REFERENCE LIST	100
VI	LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	129
VI	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS/ DANKSAGUNG	130

I. Introduction

Energy is the driving force behind modern human development

Over the last century human civilization has become more and more dependent on electrical energy. Since the beginning of the industrial age, the global energy demand continues to rise. The energy used worldwide is set to grow, primarily because of the economic and political growth of developing countries such as India, China, Africa, the Middle East, and Southeast Asia (International Energy Agency 2015). In a recent study, it was found that without any change in our current use of energy, the world energy demand will have increased by 50 - 80 % in 2020 compared to the energy level in 1990 (World Energy Council 2013).

Most of the energy needed worldwide currently originates from fossil fuels like coal, petroleum, and natural gas. Fossil fuels are carbon sources conserved during millions of years by anaerobic degradation processes. However, growing energy demand promotes the exhaustion of existing fossil energy resources. Beyond that, the extensive extraction of fossil combustible material is responsible for enormous amounts of CO₂ released into the atmosphere, leading to ongoing climate warming (Dincer 1998). Primarily in Europe, this effect led to an introduction of policies to find alternative materials to further develop renewable energy sources for environmental protection and to secure a sustainable energy supply. Renewable energy sources like bioenergy, hydropower, ocean energy, geothermal energy, solar and wind energy are characterized by natural replenishment on a human timescale and are thus CO₂ neutral. These resources provide energy by power generation, heating, and cooling of air as well as water and transport fuels. Currently, 14 % of the worldwide energy demand is provided by renewable energy sources (Demirbas 2009).

In Germany, in the past two decades, public awareness of the need for sustainable energy production has increased. This led to the government introducing the first decisive Renewable Energy Law in 2000 (EEG 2000), followed by amendments in the subsequent years (EEG 2004, EEG 2008, EEG 2012). The law financially triggered the decentralized construction of renewable energy sites such as photovoltaic, wind turbines, and biogas plants. Consequently, gross electricity production from renewable energy sources increased from 36.0 bil KW h⁻¹ in 2000 to 195.9 bil KW h⁻¹ in 2015 (Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy 2015).

The percentage of gross electricity production from renewable energy sources is divided into wind power (12.3 %), biomass (6.9 %), photovoltaic (6.0 %), hydropower (2.9 %), and also a small portion of household waste (0.9 %) (Arbeitsgemeinschaft Energiebilanzen e. V. 2016). Renewable energy from biomass is the key player in renewable-based electricity generation. In the year 2015, 25.5 % of the renewable-based electricity generation resulted from the metabolization of biomass (Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy 2015). Biomass-based electricity can be divided into electricity derived from biogas, biogenic fuels, and waste as well as sewage and landfill gas, the main proportion originates from biogas with 60.2 % (Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy 2015).

Renewable energy from biogas

In Germany, there are about 9,000 biogas plants operating with an installed electric capacity of 4.18 GW (Fachverband Biogas e.V. 2015). Therefore, biogas has become an essential factor for energy supply. Biogas is produced by microbial degradation of organic material and then turned into electric power and heat by combined heat and power units, or purified to biomethane and fed into the national gas grid. One major advantage of biogas when compared to solar or wind energy is that it offers the option of storing it temporarily as well as producing it seasonally thus, tailoring its availability to peak consumption times.

Downsides of biogas production include its relative inefficiency when compared to fossil fuels. Furthermore, energy crop cultivation can displace existing agricultural crops leading to regional monocultures in e.g. maize crop. To meet the increased demand of energy crops, formerly fallow land or grassland may be converted to arable land and thus, cause a loss of biodiversity. However, when applied sustainably and responsibly, biogas production represents a major and important source in renewable energy generation.



<u>Figure 1:</u> **Biogas yield and CH**₄ **proportion in different substrates fed into a biogas tank.** *Yellow bars*, biogas yield [Nm³ t¹FM]. *Green squares*, CH₄ proportion [%]. Modified from Fachagentur für nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. 2015.

The existing legislation promotes biogas production from agricultural animal and vegetable derived biomass. This is why mainly energy crops (52 %) and animal excrements like slurry and manure (43 %) are utilized for the production of biogas in Germany (Fachagentur für nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. 2015). Residue materials from industry and agriculture (2 %) as well as municipal biological waste (3 %) are utilized as well but currently play only a minor role. The organic substances have different microbial fermentative potentials, meaning the degradation of these raw materials results in various amounts of CH₄. Among the energy crops, maize silage contains a biogas yield of 220 Nm³t¹ fresh mass with an average CH₄ content of 52 % (Fig. 1). Within the animal excrements, poultry manure possesses the highest yield in biogas production (55 Nm³t¹ FM) and the CH₄ proportion is about 55 % (Fig. 1). Cattle manure is also often used to generate biogas with an average

CH₄ content of 55 % and a biogas yield of 90 Nm³ t¹ FM (Fachagentur für nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. 2015) (Fig. 1).

For the production of biogas three areas intertwine that need to be in a perfect balance with each other, so that biogas production can occur without problems. Firstly, the choice of substrates plays a crucial role in biogas formation, as well as, secondly, the process technology that accompanies the process. In addition, it is essential that the microbial degradation of organic material can take place under optimum environmental conditions for the microorganisms involved.

Biogas can be produced in multi- as well as one-step systems (Weiland 1993). In Germany, predominantly one-step agricultural biogas systems are applied for biogas production (Weiland 1993, Lindorfer *et al.* 2008). For feeding, liquid substrates such as cattle manure or silage effluent are collected and homogenized in a collecting or mixing tank and afterwards a dosing unit is used to introduce solid substrates like crop silage into the biogas plant (Fig. 2). The digestion of the substrates takes place in the primary or main fermenter. This fermenter is gastight, heatable, insulated, and often equipped with weatherproof cladding. For stirring, digesters accommodate one to several agitators and they are covered by a single or double membrane roof for gas storage (Fig. 2). The main share of microbial degradation and biogas production takes place in this main fermenter. In a number of cases, the main fermenter is followed by a secondary tank, featuring the same layout as a primary tank except for a feeding mechanism. A storage tank is then used for storing the biodegraded digestate until field-spreading and additionally to collect biogas (Fig. 2).



Figure 2: Structure of an agricultural biogas plant fed with renewable resources.

Biogas can be treated to remove CO₂ resulting in biomethane that can be fed into the gas grid or converted into electric power and heat in a combined heat and power unit (Weiland 2010, Lansche and Müller 2012). Biomethane can be used in various ways, as fuel for cars, trucks, and buses. Apart from generating electricity, combined heat and power units produce thermal energy which can be utilized in local and district heating systems.

The existing biogas plants in Germany differ in composition and structure, as well as in the organic materials used and the physico-chemical parameters, which play a crucial role in the synthesis of biogas. Thus, the composition of biogas is different. Biogas mainly consists of 45 – 70 % CH₄ and 30 - 45 % CO₂ (Rasi *et al.* 2007). Depending on the utilized substrate, the percentage of each component can change like measured in samples of biogases from a landfill, sewage treatment plant, and agricultural biogas plants (Rasi *et al.* 2007). Besides CH₄ and CO₂, biogas contains trace gases such as NH₃, N₂, H₂, volatile organic compounds, and different sulfur components, e.g. H₂S (0 - 5000 ppm) (Rasi *et al.* 2007).

Microbial degradation processes in a mesophilic agricultural biogas reactor

Degradation of different organic materials from agricultural plants and animal excrements is conducted by an anaerobic microbial degradation chain. The final products of this process are CO₂ and CH₄. The organisms' composition may vary depending on the type of plant, type of substrate, and on different process parameters. Nevertheless, the degradation scheme of renewable raw materials is always the same. In the first step, the hydrolysis, the polymeric constituents of different substrates in the form of proteins, lipids, and polysaccharides are hydrolyzed so that amino acids, fatty acids, and sugars are formed. In the next step, the primary fermentation, also called acidogenesis, these intermediates are metabolized by a variety of fermentative bacteria to short chain fatty acids and alcohols. In the acetogenesis syntrophic microorganisms synthesize acetate, CO₂ and H₂, so that in the final step of methanogenesis CH₄ can be produced. These four degradation steps will be further described in more detail (Fig. 3, see following sections Hydrolysis, Acidogenesis, Acetogenesis, Methanogenesis).

Hydrolysis

The process of hydrolysis describes a cleavage of chemical bonds in organic matter with the help of H₂O. A complex microbial consortium secretes hydrolytic enzymes which catalyze these reactions. Especially glycosidases, lipases, and peptidases are crucial classes of enzymes involved in the anaerobic hydrolysis of organic material. Glycosidases catalyze the cleavage of glucosidic bonds such as those found in many polymers like starch, cellulose, hemicellulose, and pectin. The more complex the respective substrate is the more difficult is the cleavage procedure. Especially the division of lignocellulose is highly complex but lignocellulose is the most abundant plant cell wall component of the biosphere (Glass *et al.* 2013). Due to the presence of lignocellulose in a variety of plant silages, which are used as substrates, it is increasingly found in agricultural biogas plants. Lignocellulose is mainly composed of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin (Saha 2003). Cellulases cleave cellulose molecules (Zhang and Lynd 2004). In some anaerobic cellulose-degrading microorganisms cellulases

are arranged in a multi-enzyme complex, so-called cellulosomes (Bayer et al. 1994, Schwarz 2001, Lynd et al. 2002). These consist of a scaffold protein with cohesin that interact with dockerin connected with linkers, sitting at the catalytic domains of the enzymes, ensuring a very efficient degradation of cellulose (Bayer et al. 2004, Ding et al. 2008). Cellulosomes could be identified in a variety of anaerobic bacteria, e.g. in some species of the genus Clostridium (Clostridium (Cl.) cellulovorans (Kosugi et al. 2001, Murashima et al. 2002, Park et al. 2001), Cl. josui (Jindou et al. 2002), Cl. thermocellum (Prates et al. 2001), Cl. acetobutylicum (Nölling et al. 2001) and Cl. cellobioparum (Lamed et al. 1987)), also in Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens (Berger et al. 1990) and Ruminococcus sp. (Miron et al. 2001, Ohara et al. 2000, Ding et al. 2001, Rincón et al. 2005). In mesophilic agricultural biogas plants, a number of different Clostridia spp. have been identified by amplicon sequencing and metagenome analysis of 16S DNA (Sun et al. 2013, Ziganshin et al. 2013, Jaenicke et al. 2011). Moreover, a whole series of uncharacterized microorganisms of the order Firmicutes persist, which might be involved in the process of hydrolysis (Kröber et al. 2009). Some Actinomyces are also identified in biogas reactors (Ziganshin et al. 2013, Qiao et al. 2013) which include for example the cellulose-degrading Cellulomonas sp. (Singh and Jain 1986, Dubey et al. 2014).

In addition to the breakdown of carbohydrates, hydrolytic degradation of lipids and proteins plays a major role in a biogas plant. Lipases catalyze the cleavage of ester bonds, as they are frequently present in lipids. Peptidases or proteolytic enzymes are capable of degrading peptide bonds. Especially animal excrements are very protein-rich, so a large number of proteases are required to cleave the proteins (Hahnke *et al.* 2015, Tiquia 2002). Despite these facts, it is difficult to describe the whole process reliably because hydrolysis of complex insoluble substrate depends on many different parameters such as particle size, production of enzymes, pH, and temperature.

Besides bacterial hydrolysis of polymers, fungi can cleave mainly vegetable polymers mechanically and enzymatically. Just recently, the life cycle of anaerobic fungi of the phylum *Neocallimastigomycota* has been elucidated (Gruninger *et al.* 2014). They play a central role in the degradation of plant materials in the gut of mammalian herbivores. Additionally, in a few biogas plants, these anaerobic fungi were also found (Dollhofer 2015). They contribute, although not essential, to hydrolytic cleavage of the biomass used for biogas production (Dollhofer 2015).

Acidogenesis

Hydrolytically produced monomers and oligomers of amino acids, sugars, and long chain fatty acids are converted into short chain fatty acids, but also short-chain alcohols in the next step of the anaerobic degradation chain, in the primary fermentation or acidogenesis (Fig. 3). Mainly carboxylic acids such as acetic acid, butyric acid, or propionic acid are formed, but also lactic acid, valeric acid, ethanol, H₂ and CO₂ can be produced. Clostridia, assigned to the phylum Firmicutes, are well equipped for this environment and thus, occur abundantly in biogas reactors (Sun *et al.* 2013, Jaenicke *et al.* 2011, Kröber *et al.* 2009). Members of the phylum Bacteroidetes are also frequently found in biogas reactors. Often they are the second most abundant group of the microbial community

(Hanreich *et al.* 2013, Kröber *et al.* 2009, Schlüter *et al.* 2008, Ziganshin *et al.* 2013). Bacteroidetes represent a metabolically heterogeneous group comprising species with a broad range of capabilities (Hahnke *et al.* 2015). In a biogas plant they are responsible for the hydrolysis of polysaccharides and proteins, as well as for the fermentation of sugars and production of VFA (Vos *et al.* 2011).

Acetogenesis

The next step in the anaerobic degradation chain is the secondary fermentation or acetogenesis (Fig. 3). This step of fermentation is directly linked to the final step of degradation, the methanogenesis. Under anoxic conditions, a complete breakdown of one molecule glucose as catalyzed by microbial consortia to CO₂ and CH₄ releases -390 kJ mol⁻¹ free energy (Schink 1997). In contrast, aerobic metabolization of glucose provides -2870 kJ mol⁻¹ free energy. Thus, there is only a small amount of energy available in methanogenic conversion which forces the involved microorganisms to a very efficient cooperation. The mutual dependence of partner bacteria with respect to energy limitation can go so far that neither one partner can operate without the other and that together they exhibit a metabolic activity that neither one could accomplish on its own (Schink 1997). Such cooperations are called syntrophic relationships. Syntrophy describes a special case of symbiotic cooperation between two metabolically different types of microorganisms which depend on each other for degradation of a certain substrate, typically for energetic reasons (Schink 1997). The term was used for the first time to describe the cooperation of fatty acid-oxidizing, fermenting bacteria with hydrogen-oxidizing methanogens (McInerney *et al.* 1979).

The classic example of syntrophic symbiosis is probably a culture of Methanobacillus omelianskii. This culture was isolated by Barker in 1940 (Barker 1940). It was assumed that this methanogenic organism is able to synthesize CH₄ from ethanol and acetate. However, there are actually two syntrophic partners living together. The fermentative bacterium 'S.' catalyzes the oxidation of ethanol to acetate and H₂ (Eq. 1). The methanogenic archaeon 'M.o.H.' then reduces CO₂ to CH₄ by using the electrons from the previously produced H₂ (Bryant et al. 1967). It was found that the first reaction can occur and provide energy for strain 'S.' only if the H_2 partial pressure is kept low enough (<100 Pa) by the methanogen 'M.o.H'. (Bryant et al. 1967). Decreasing the H₂ partial pressure and removing end products out of balance changes the thermodynamic conditions of the reaction. Under standard conditions this metabolization is an endergonic reaction ($\Delta G^{\circ \prime}$ = +9.6 kJ mol⁻¹ ethanol) but becomes an exergonic overall reaction by coupling with the synthesis of CH₄ ($\Delta G^{\circ \prime}$ = -112 kJ mol⁻¹ CH₄) (Schink 1997). Therefore, methanogens are essential to maintaining the low concentration of H₂ and making the reaction sufficiently exergonic to support energy conservation, cell maintenance, and growth for the syntrophic bacteria (Stams and Plugge 2009). This process plays an important role in anaerobic reactors in biogas plants. Syntrophic bacteria such as Pelobacter sp. (Schink 1985, Seitz et al. 1990), Thermacetogenium phaeum (Hattori 2008), Thermoanaerobium brockii (Ben-Bassat et al. 1981) are able to completely oxidize ethanol to CH₄ only in syntrophy with hydrogenotrophic methanogens. Besides the conversion of ethanol, the oxidation of short-chain fatty acids, originating from the anaerobic degradation of biomass, is an endergonic reaction under standard conditions (PH2 1 atm, substrate and product concentrations 1 M, temperature 298 K, pH 7.0 (Thauer et al. 1977)). Meaning

the oxidation of short-chain fatty acids cannot proceed without a syntrophic partner. A thermodynamic approach is necessary in order to understand the process in detail. Under standard conditions, the change of free energy for the oxidation of butyrate to acetate and H₂ is $\Delta G^{\circ \prime}$ = +48.3 kJ mol⁻¹ (Eq. 2) (Müller *et al.* 2010).

Eq. 1:	Ethanol	+ $H_2O \rightarrow$	Acetate ⁻ + H^+ + 2 H_2	$\Delta G^{\circ} = + 9.6 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$
Eq. 2:	Buytrate-	+ 2 H ₂ O \rightarrow	2 Acetate- + H+ + 2 H ₂	ΔG° = + 48.3 kJ mol ⁻¹
Eq. 2:	Propionate	e^{-} + 2 H ₂ O \rightarrow	Acetate ⁻ + CO ₂ + 3 H ₂	ΔG° = + 76.0 kJ mol ⁻¹

Thus, all organisms oxidizing butyrate would need energy for their metabolism and therefore would not be viable independently. Butyrate is degraded by the process of β -oxidation by organisms of the family Syntrophomonadaceae, which belong to the order of Clostridiales (Zhao et al. 1993) and of the order Syntrophobacterales belonging to the Deltaproteobacteria (Müller et al. 2010). These include organisms such as Syntrophomonas (S.) wolfei, S. erecta, S. curvata, S. zehnderi, and also Thermosyntropha lipolytica (Müller et al. 2010). In the course of butyrate oxidation electrons are transferred to electron carrier molecules (e.g. NAD⁺) (McInerney et al. 2008). These carrier molecules can be reduced during the oxidation of organic or inorganic compounds. In the above mentioned butyrate oxidation pathway these molecules are formed during oxidation of butyryl-CoA to crotonyl-CoA and of 3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA to acetoacetyl-CoA. Oxidation of butyryl-CoA to crotonyl-CoA is the energetically most difficult reaction in butyrate conversion (E_0 ' = -15 mV) (Thauer et al. 1977, Hauge 1956). Even at H₂ partial pressures of 1 Pa this is an endergonic reaction because the standard midpoint redox potentials of the reduced electron carriers are too high for the reduction of protons to form H₂ (-414 mV) (Thauer et al. 1977, Schink 1997). To drive this reaction, metabolic energy by reverse electron transport is required. Butyrate oxidizers utilize parts of the gained ATP by an energy conservation chain coupled to the cytoplasmic membrane to shift electrons to this redox potential (Thauer and Morris, 1984). Partner organisms, preferably methanogenic archaea, keep the H₂ partial pressure low, thus raising the redox potential of proton reduction to around -300 mV (Schink 1997); remaining ATP can be used for biosynthesis and growth. An even more positive standard free energy of ΔG° = +76.0 kJ mol⁻¹ is calculated for the oxidation of propionate (Eq. 3) (Müller *et al.* 2010). Organisms such as S. fumaroxidans, S. wolinii, S. sulfatireducens or Pelotomaculum (P.) schinkii, and P. propionicum as well as Desulfotomaculum thermobenzoicum ssp. thermosytrophicum are able to oxidize propionate using the methylmalony-CoA pathway in syntrophic association with methanogens (Müller et al. 2010). Similar to the oxidation of butyrate, electrons are transferred to electron carrier molecules (e.g. NAD⁺ or Fdox). These reduced electron carrier molecules can be reoxidized via a membrane-bound electron transport chain and H_2 , formate, and acetate are generated. Especially, the oxidation of succinate to fumarate and malate to oxaloacetate are thermodynamically difficult reactions during the propionate oxidation pathway. However, the reactions are favored by the methanogenic consumption of H₂ and formate. Accordingly, the process would stop without the methanogens. All these described processes occur in a biogas reactor and are sensitively dependent on the interaction

of acetogenic bacteria and methanogenic archaea, involved in the final step of the energy production from biomass.

Methanogenesis

Methanogenic archaea utilize a limited number of substrates: acetate, $H_2 + CO_2$, formate, and methylated compounds (Ferry 1993). In the central metabolism, referred to as methanogenesis, all substrates are converted to CH₄. Depending on the type of substrate three main types of methanogenic pathways can be distinguished: hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis based on the conversion of $H_2 + CO_2$, aceticlastic methanogenesis using acetate as substrate and methylotrophic methanogenesis where methylated compounds are metabolized. Hydrogenotrophic methanogenes belong to the orders Methanobacteriales, Methanocellales, Methanocccales, Methanopyrales and Methanomicrobiales. Till now, there are only two genera discovered, able to grow on acetate: *Methanosaeta* and *Methanosarcina*. *Methanosaeta* strains depend on the presence of acetate (Jetten *et al.* 1992). In contrast, *Methanosarcina* spp. are the most versatile methanogenes. Besides the conversion of acetate, $H_2 + CO_2$ as well as methylated compounds can be used as substrate. Thus, in the genome of most *Methanosarcina* sp. enzymes for all three types of methanogenesis are encoded (Deppenmeier *et al.* 2002).



Figure 3: Anaerobic degradation chain of organic material in a biogas reactor.

There are only a few exceptions showing a mixture of the different metabolic pathways. One example is *Methanosphaera* (*Mp*.) *stadtmanae*, a human gut commensal (Fricke *et al.* 2006), growing on methanol and H₂. Another recently discovered example is *Methanomassiliicoccus* (*Mm*.) *luminyensis* isolated from the human gut (Dridi *et al.* 2012). The organism grows with H₂ and methanol or

methylated amines and belongs to the new order of Methanomassiliicoccales (Dridi *et al.* 2012, Brugère *et al.* 2014).

The presence of certain substrates defines the occurrence of methanogenic species. Due to the anaerobic degradation of biomass in a mesophilic biogas plant, mainly hydrogenotrophic and aceticlastic methanogenesis take place (Fig. 3). In most mesophilic agricultural biogas plants the methanogenic order Methanosarcinales can be found (Nettmann *et al.* 2008, St-Pierre and Wright 2013, Bergmann *et al.* 2010b, Ziganshin *et al.* 2013). So far, only two families are known in this order, *Methanosarcinaceae* and *Methanosaetaceae*. In many biogas reactors, those organisms are responsible for the degradation of acetate (Kern *et al.* 2016a, Kampmann *et al.* 2012, St-Pierre and Wright 2013, Nettmann *et al.* 2010). Hydrogenotrophic methanogens use electrons from H₂ to catalyze the stepwise reduction of CO₂ to CH₄. The diversity in hydrogenotrophic methanogenic orders is much higher. Mainly microorganisms belonging to Methanobacteriales and Methanomicrobiales could be identified in biogas reactors (Nettmann *et al.* 2013, Kröber *et al.* 2009, Jaenicke *et al.* 2011), dominated by organisms of the genus *Methanoculleus* (Nettmann *et al.* 2010, Kröber *et al.* 2009, Jaenicke *et al.* 2011).

Hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis

In the following section the focus will be on CH_4 formation from $H_2 + CO_2$. Microorganisms of the orders Methanomicrobiales, Methanococcales, and Methanobacteriales perform hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis in a biogas reactor.

The series of reactions is initiated by the formylmethanofuran dehydrogenase (Fig. 4, reaction 1). The enzyme catalyzes the formation of N-carboxymethanofuran from methanofuran (MFR) and CO₂ and subsequently the reduction to formyl-MFR (Bartoschek et al. 2000). Reducing equivalents for this reductive process derive from Fd_{red}, provided by a bifurcation process explained below. Afterwards, the formyl group is transferred to tetrahydromethanopterin (H₄MPT) (Fig. 4, reaction 2) (Breitung and Thauer 1990, Shima et al. 1996, Kunow et al. 1996) and stepwise reduced to methyl-H₄MPT (Fig. 4, reaction 3-5). The first intermediate is methenyl-H₄MPT synthesized by the methenyl-H₄MPT cyclohydrolase (Fig. 4, reaction 3) (te Brömmelstroet et al. 1990a, Pomper et al. 1999, Vaupel et al. 1996). In the next enzymatic reaction, the methylene-H₄MPT dehydrogenase converts methenyl-H₄MPT to methylene-H₄MPT (Fig. 4, reaction 4) (te Brömmelstroet et al. 1991a, te Brömmelstroet et al. 1991b). The produced intermediate is further reduced to methyl-H₄MPT by the methylene-H₄MPT reductase (Fig. 4, reaction 5) (te Brömmelstroet et al. 1991b, te Brömmelstroet et al. 1990b, Ma and Thauer 1990a, Ma and Thauer 1990b). The electrons transferred in the last two reactions are provided by the methanogenic cofactor F_{420} ((N-L-lactyl-y-L-glutamyl)-L-glutamic acid phosphodiester of the 7,8-didemethyl-8-hydroxy-5-desazariboflavin-5´-phosphate). F₄₂₀ is reduced with the help of molecular H₂ by the F₄₂₀-reducing hyrogenase localized in the cytoplasm (Fig. 4, reaction 6) (Vaupel and Thauer 1998, Sorgenfrei et al. 1997). In the next step, the methyl-H4MPT-CoM methyltransferase catalyzes the transfer of the methyl-moiety to coenzyme M (HS-CoM) thereby producing methyl-S-CoM (Fig. 4, reaction 7) (Gottschalk and Thauer 2001). This enzyme reaction is an exergonic process coupled to Na⁺ ion translocation out of the cell, resulting in the generation of an electrochemical Na⁺ gradient (Becher *et al.* 1992a, Becher *et al.* 1992b, Gottschalk and Thauer 2001). This gradient is subsequently used for ATP synthesis by an A₁A₀ ATP synthase (Fig. 4, reaction 9) (Becher and Müller 1994, Deppenmeier *et al.* 1996, Perski *et al.* 1982).

Methyl-S-CoM is the central intermediate and in the final step of methanogenesis the methyl group is reduced to CH₄ (Fig. 4, reaction 8) (Ermler *et al.* 1997, Ellermann *et al.* 1989, Ankel-Fuchs and Thauer 1986, Ankel-Fuchs *et al.* 1986). This reaction is catalyzed by the methyl-CoM reductase, which reduces the methyl group to CH₄, while HS-CoM is combined with coenzyme B (HS-CoB) resulting in the formation of the heterodisulfide (CoM-S-S-CoB) (Fig. 4, reaction 8). CoM-S-S-CoB is the terminal electron acceptor of the metabolism and is reduced to HS-CoM and HS-CoB by a bifurcation reaction of a multi enzyme complex consisting of a [NiFe] hydrogenase (Mvh) and a heterodisulfide reductase (HdrABC) (Fig. 4, reaction 10) (Thauer *et al.* 2008). The Mvh/HdrABC complex is able to use electrons derived from H₂ oxidation for the exergonic reduction. The resulting Fd_{red} is used for CO₂ fixation, previously described, thus, the circle of hydrogenotrophic methanogenic metabolism is closed. Additionally, a Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter is located in the cytoplasmic membrane of hydrogenotrophic methanogens (Fig. 4, reaction 11). This transporter functions in both directions and has a function of pH homeostasis.

Overall, only one catalytic step in the hydrogenotrophic metabolism translocates ions across the membrane that can be used for the generation of ATP, the methyl group transfer by methyl-H₄MPT-CoM methyltransferase (Gottschalk and Thauer 2001). For the synthesis of ATP from ADP and orthophosphate (P_i) at least -50 kJ mol⁻¹ are required (Thauer *et al.* 1977). The standard free energy change that is associated with the reduction of CO₂ with H₂ to CH₄ is -131 kJ mol⁻¹ (conditions: 25 °C, pH 7, H₂ and CO₂ and CH₄ in the gaseous state at 10⁵ Pa, all other compounds at a concentration of 1 M (Thauer *et al.* 1977)). At H₂ partial pressures of 1-10 Pa, as they occur in most natural habitats of methanogens, the free energy change that is associated with the CO₂ reduction to CH₄ is only -40 kJ mol⁻¹, which is not even sufficient for the synthesis of one ATP molecule (Hoehler *et al.* 1998, Conrad and Wetter 1990, Thauer *et al.* 2008). Energy conservation in these is only possible by a chemiosmotic mechanism that involves the generation of an electrochemical ion gradient across the cytoplasmatic membrane as catalyzed by the methyl-H₄MPT-CoM methyltransferase and ATP synthesis as catalyzed by an A₁A₀ ATP synthase (Mayer and Müller 2014).

In addition to $H_2 + CO_2$, formate is a common substrate for about half of all methanogens. But it is not used by any *Methanosarcina* spp.. Methanogenesis from formate involves oxidation of the substrate to produce CO_2 and a reduced electron carrier. All other reactions are identical to the process of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis. Formate oxidation is catalyzed by a formate dehydrogenase. The enzyme has been isolated from *Methanobacterium* (*Mb.*) formicicum and *Methanococcus* (*Mc.*) *vannielii* (Barber *et al.* 1983, Jones and Stadtman 1981). In the course of the oxidation of formate coenzyme F_{420} is reduced. CO_2 enters the carbon dioxide reduction pathway outlined above and $F_{420}H_2$ serves as an electron donor for the reduction of methenyl-H₄MPT and methylene-H₄MPT (Sparling and Daniels 1990, te Brömmelstroet *et al.* 1991a, te Brömmelstroet *et al.* 1991b).

Introduction



<u>Figure 4:</u> Scheme of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis coupled with an energy conservation system. This pathway exists in all methanogens without cytochromes (Methanomicrobiales, Methanococcales, Methanopyrales, and Methanobacteriales). *Green*, membrane-bound enzyme complexes. *Blue*, cytoplasmic enzyme complexes. 1, formylmethanofuran dehydrogenase. 2, formylmethanofuran: tetrahydromethanopterin formyltransferase. 3, methenyl-tetrahydromethanopterin cyclohydrolase. 4, methylene-tetrahydromethanopterin dehydrogenase. 5, methylene-tetrahydromethanopterin reductase. 6, F_{420} -reducing hydrogenase. 7, methyl-tetrahydromethanopterin-coenzyme M methyltransferase. 8, methyl-coenzyme M reductase. 9, A_1A_0 ATP-Synthase. 10, multienzyme complex of [NiFe] hydrogenase and heterodisulfide reductase. 11, Na^+/H^+ antiporter. Fd, ferredoxin. H_4MPT , tetrahydromethanopterin. HS-CoB, coenzyme B. CoM-S-S-CoB, heterodisulfide. Modified from Thauer *et al.* 2008.

Aceticlastic methanogensis

Besides the consumption of H_2 and formate by hydrogenotrophic methanogens, the degradation of acetate is essential, which is also formed as end-product of acetogenesis. Acetate plays a key role in a biogas reactor because syntrophic bacteria can degrade short chain fatty acids and alcohols only at low acetate concentrations (Schink 1997). If methanogens are impaired in their activity, there is an accumulation of propionic acid and other carboxylic acids (for example, butyric acid or valeric acid) which ultimately leads to breakdown of the biogas plant. Therefore, acetate conversion by methanogenic archaea is essential in the anaerobic microbial degradation process. The metabolization of acetate is called aceticlastic methanogenesis that can only be performed by members of the order Methanosarcinales (Deppenmeier and Müller 2007). CH₄ formation based on acetate is connected to a change in the free energy of only -36 kJ mol⁻¹. Hence, aceticlastic methanogens must possess efficient energy-conserving systems to cope with the thermodynamic limitation (Deppenmeier 2002). Despite the fact that two thirds of the global CH₄ production originates from the methyl group of acetate (Metje and Frenzel 2007), only two genera, Methanosarcina and Methanosaeta, are able to metabolize this substrate for growth. Both genera are found in biogas reactors of agricultural biogas plants (Kern et al. 2016a, Kampmann et al. 2012, St-Pierre and Wright 2013, Nettmann et al. 2010). Thus, it is important to study aceticlastic methanogenesis in detail. In all aceticlastic methanogenic species acetate is activated to acetyl-CoA connected to the consumption of ATP. In Methanosarcina strains the activation starts by an ATP-dependent phosphorylation of the carboxyl group of acetate by an acetate kinase (Fig. 5, reaction 1) (Latimer and Ferry 1993, Buss et al. 1997). Subsequently, a phosphotransacetylase converts the resulting acetyl-phosphate to acetyl-S-CoA (Fig. 5, reaction 2) (Rasche et al. 1997, Latimer and Ferry 1993). In Methanosaeta spp. acetate activation is performed by an acetyl-CoA synthetase forming acetyl-S-CoA, AMP, and pyrophosphate (PPi) from acetate, coenzyme A (HS-CoA), and ATP (Jetten et al. 1989). PPi is hydrolysed by a soluble pyrophosphatase to drive the reaction (Jetten et al. 1992). Consequently, for the activation of one mole acetate in Methanosaeta spp. two equivalents of ATP are required.

In the next step, acetyl-CoA is cleaved into its carbonyl and methyl moiety by the action of a COdehydrogenase/acetyl-CoA synthase (CODH/ACS) in *Methanosarcina* and *Methanosaeta* spp. (Fig. 5, reaction 3) (Raybuck *et al.* 1991, Abbanat and Ferry 1991). The carbonyl group of acetyl-CoA is oxidized to CO₂ and the electrons are used for Fd_{ox} reduction. The methyl group is transferred to H₄SPT. Subsequently, a methyl-H₄MPT-HS-CoM methyltransferase catalyzes the transfer of the methyl group to HS-CoM, coupled by an Na⁺ ion extrusion across the cytoplasmic membrane, resulting in the generation of an electrochemical ion gradient (Fig. 5, reaction 4) (Gottschalk and Thauer 2001). The methyl group of methyl-S-CoM is further reduced to CH₄, catalyzed by the methyl-CoM reductase (Fig. 5, reaction 5). The electrons for this reaction derive from HS-CoB, causing the formation of the mixed disulfide from HS-CoM and HS-CoB, the CoM-S-S-CoB. CoM-S-S-CoB is the terminal electron acceptor of an anaerobic respiratory chain and is reduced by electrons of Fd_{red}. The pathway of Fd_{red} oxidation differs in members of the genus *Methanosarcina*. *Methanosarcina* (*Ms.*) *mazei* and *Ms. barkeri* for example use the energy-converting [NiFe] hydrogenase (Ech hydrogenase) for the oxidation of Fd_{red} (Fig. 5, reaction 6) (Künkel *et al.* 1998, Meuer *et al.*, 1999). In contrast *Ms.*

acetivorans is a hydrogenase-negative strain and the oxidation of Fd_{red} is catalyzed by the Rnf complex (Fig. 5, reaction 8) (Ferry and Lessner 2008). The Ech hydrogenase transfers electrons from Fd_{red} to protons to form H₂. Additionally, Welte *et al.* (2010) demonstrated that the Ech hydrogenase acts as proton pump in the course of Fd_{red} oxidation and contributes to the electrochemical ion gradient.

Molecular H₂ formed by the Ech hydrogenase diffuses out of the cell and is oxidized by a membranebound methanophenazine-reducing hydrogenase (Vho/Vht) (Fig. 5, reaction 7) (Deppenmeier *et al.* 1992). The active site of Vho/Vht is exposed towards the periplasm, thus, two protons are released to the extracellular side of the membrane when H₂ is oxidized (Fig. 5, blue box) (Ide *et al.* 1999). The electrons are transferred to methanophenazine, an electron carrier located in the cytoplasmic membrane (Beifuss *et al.* 2000). The second Fd_{red} oxidizing enzyme is the Rnf complex found in *Ms. acetivorans* (Fig. 5, reaction 8). This enzyme complex catalyzes the electron transport from Fd_{red} to methanophenazine coupled to a Na⁺ transport across the cytoplasmic membrane (Ferry and Lessner 2008).

In addition to already described membrane-bound enzyme complexes, the aceticlastic methanogens possess a heterodisulfide reductase (HdrDE) associated to the cytoplasmic membrane (Fig. 5, reaction 9) (Heiden *et al.* 1993, Heiden *et al.* 1994, Künkel *et al.* 1997, Smith and Ingram-Smith 2007). This enzyme complex catalyzes the reduction of the final electron acceptor, CoM-S-S-CoB. The electrons required for this reaction originate from Fd_{red}, generated during aceticlastic methanogenesis. Methanophenazine, localized in the membrane, transports the electrons to the catalytic center of HdrDE. In addition, the enzyme is able to transport protons across the cytoplasmic membrane.

Ms. mazei and *Ms. barkeri* are able to transfer at least five protons per acetate molecule across the membrane via the membrane-bound hydrogenases and HdrDE (Ide *et al.* 1999, Welte *et al.* 2010). Additionally, two Na⁺ ions are translocated by the methyl-H₄MPT-HS-CoM methyltransferase (Becher *et al.* 1992b). In *Ms. acetivorans* two protons are translocated by HdrDE. In addition, the translocation of three Na⁺ ions is conducted by the Rnf complex and two Na⁺ ions are pumped by the methyl-H₄MPT-HS-CoM methyltransferase across the cytoplasmic membrane (Ide *et al.* 1999, Schlegel *et al.* 2012, Becher *et al.* 1992b). The resulted electrochemical Na⁺/H⁺ gradient can be used for ATP synthesis by an A₁A₀ ATP synthase (Fig. 5, reaction 11) (Pisa *et al.* 2007, Schlegel und Müller 2011).

In contrast to *Methanosarcina* strains, two ATP equivalents are required for the activation of one acetate molecule in *Methanosaeta* species. As described above during CH₄ formation in *Methanosaeta* spp. Fd_{ox} is reduced and CoM-S-S-CoB is produced. Fd_{red} is used as electron donor by a membrane-bound electron transport chain and CoM-S-S-CoB is reduced as terminal electron acceptor of the anaerobic respiratory chain (Welte and Deppenmeier 2011a). However, in the genome of *Methanosaeta* spp. neither genes encoding an Ech hydrogenase nor genes encoding a Rnf complex could be found (Smith and Ingram-Smith 2007). Nevertheless, all genes encoding the F₄₂₀H₂ dehydrogenase without the F₄₂₀H₂-oxidizing subunit FpoF were found in the genome of *Methanosaeta* strains (Welte and Deppenmeier 2011a).

The F₄₂₀H₂ dehydrogenase is a F₄₂₀H₂-oxidizing membrane-bound enzyme complex found only in

members of the order Methanosarcinales. In Methanosarcina spp. during growth on methylated compounds the protein uses $F_{420}H_2$ as electron donor and reduces the electron carrier methanophanzine in the cytoplasmic membrane. In the course of one reaction cycle the enzyme complex can transfer two protons across the membrane contributing to the generation of an electrochemical ion gradient. In contrast, it was demonstrated that F₄₂₀H₂ is not oxidized by the membrane fraction of Methanosaeta (Mt.) thermoacetophila (Welte and Deppenmeier 2011a). However, the genes encoding the F420H2 dehydrogenase without the F420H2-oxidizing subunit FpoF are highly transcribed in Mt. thermoacetophila during growth on acetate (Welte and Deppenmeier 2014). This finding led to the hypothesis that the $F_{420}H_2$ dehydrogenase encoded in the genome of Methanosaeta spp. could be involved in the membrane-associated oxidation of Fd_{red}. The subunit Fpol of the F₄₂₀H₂ dehydrogenase contains iron-sulfur clusters and a C-terminal extension with an accumulation of lysine residues. Lysine, as basic amino acid, could facilitate the interaction with the acidic Fdred. The electrons could be further transferred to iron-sulfur clusters in Fpol and thus, reach the active side of the enzyme complex for methanophenazine reduction. The redox potential difference of Fd_{red} as electron donor (-500 mV, Thauer et al. 2008) and methanophenazine (-165 mV, Tietze et al. 2003) as electron acceptor could enable the translocation of three protons across the cytoplasmic membrane. Taking into account all protons translocated by the F₄₂₀H₂ dehydrogenase and the HdrDE as well as the Na⁺ ions extrusion across the cytoplasmic membrane by the methyl-H₄MPT-HS-CoM methyltransferase an electrochemical ion gradient could be generated. In total seven ions would be translocated during the breakdown of one acetate molecule which could be used by a bifunctional A1A0 ATP synthase for ATP synthesis. Estimating a stoichiometry of three ions per ADP phosphorylation, two ATP molecules and one extra translocated ion would be provided from one acetate molecule (Welte and Deppenmeier 2014). Considering the fact that two ATP molecules are required for the activation of one acetate molecule, it can be estimated that three mole acetate are needed to phosphorylate one extra mole of ADP to ATP (Welte and Deppenmeier 2014). This is the minimal energy quantum to sustain life but because of the low acetate concentrations needed for growth, Methanosaeta strains are able to occupy ecological niches with low amounts of acetate as found in some biogas plants (Jetten et al. 1992).

Biogas formation is a highly complex process in reactors of a biogas plant and various prokaryotes are involved, but how can the different classes, genera and species be identified and quantified? In the following chapters, various known approaches to identify and quantify the microbial community are discussed.

Introduction



Figure 5: Schematic presentation of the aceticlastic methanogensis of *Methanosarcina* sp. coupled with an energy conservation system. The enzyme complexes shown in the *blue box* are from *Ms. mazei* and *Ms. barkeri* whereas the complex in the *puple box* is found in *Ms. acetivorans. Green*, enzyme complexes localized to the cytoplasmic membrane. *Blue*, cytoplasmic enzyme complexes. 1, acetate kinase. 2, phosphotransacetylase. 3, CO-dehydrogenase/ acetyl-CoA synthase. 4, methyl-tetrahydromethanopterin-coenzyme M methyltransferase. 5, methyl-coenzyme M reductase. 6, Ech hydrogenase. 7, F₄₂₀-non reducing hydrogenase. 8, Rnf complex. 9, heterodisulfide reductase. 10, F₄₂₀H₂ dehydrogenase. 11, A₁A₀ ATP-Synthase. Fd, ferredoxin. H₄MPT, tetrahydromethanopterin. HS-CoB, coenzyme B. CoM-S-S-CoB, heterodisulfide.

Identification and quantification of the microbial community in a biogas plant

The biological community in a complex habitat such as a biogas reactor, which is fed with various plant and animal organic matter, is difficult to describe to a detailed extent. More than 30 years ago, a detection method was developed based on species-specific regions of the 16S rDNA or 16S rRNA, which allows an organism-specific characterization (Woese and Fox 1977, Amann et al. 1995, Weisburg et al. 1991). Thus, this detection method allows to obtain more information about the community structures in anaerobic processes like biogas production (Oude Elferink et al. 1998, Yu et al. 2005, Karakashev et al. 2005, Klocke et al. 2008). Regions of the 16S rDNA in the genome are unique for each species which enable a species-specific detection. After the generation of PCR products various sequencing methods can be used (e.g. 454 pyrosequencing and illumina sequencing) to analyze those regions. Moreover, genomes of different associated species can be analyzed by metagenomic sequencing. The first successful isolation of DNA from thermophilic anaerobic digesters and the corresponding metagenome sequencing was done by Healy and coworkers (1995). Since 1995, hundreds of metagenomes from different types of biogas reactors have been published based on metagenome sequencing (Sundberg et al. 2013, Liu et al. 2009, Li et al. 2013, Kröber et al. 2009, Schlüter et al. 2008, Demirel et al. 2008, Supaphol et al. 2011, Klocke et al. 2007). The major outcome of this approach was that the different characteristics of the diverse reactors like temperature, substrate composition, pH value, hydrogen carbonate buffer capacity, total content of volatile fatty acids, or retention time affect the microbial composition of the metagenome (Demirel et al. 2008, Kröber et al. 2009, Sundberg et al. 2013).

The basis of the 16S gene analytic methods and metagenomic sequencing is the isolation and purification of the total DNA from a habitat as the initial step for metagenomic analysis. One major difficulty associated with the metagenomic approaches is related to the effectiveness of DNA isolation. The efficiency can vary depending on the method applied which can have influences on the results of the microbial community analysis (Theiss *et al.* 2016). Additionally, purified DNA is often contaminated with polyphenolic compounds (Streit and Schmitz 2004). These compounds are difficult to remove but they interfere with enzymatic modifications of the isolated DNA, needed for sequencing. Consequently, the construction of environmental DNA libraries is problematic. Furthermore, it is difficult to compare community structures determined by PCR analysis of 16S genes using different primer pairs because of low specificity of the used primers for the amplified DNA sequences (Fischer et al. 2016). Despite these deficiencies, it is possible to identify a large number of organisms in full-scale operating biogas plants. All analyzed reactors exhibit a lot of differences as described above. However, some similarities are found in the microbial composition of biogas reactors. Members of the phylum Firmicutes and especially various species of the class of Clostridia can be found in any type of reactor as well as methanogenic archaea, which are crucial for the production of CH₄.

Microbial characterization by enrichment cultures

Genome-based analysis enables the identification of individual organisms in a biogas reactor, but does not allow conclusions about their metabolic activity. Much is known about the basic metabolism in different types of anaerobic digestion processes, but little is known about the microbes responsible for these processes (Weiland 2010). Only a few percent of bacteria and archaea have been isolated so far. The isolation of various species from biogas sludge and enrichment cultures offers the opportunity of carring out biochemical studies on the metabolism and the catalytic properties of these organisms during degradation of organic matter. Enrichment of archaeal and bacterial cultures from complex environments like biogas reactors might be successful in some cases but most microorganisms are nonculturable, because the imitation of environmental conditions in a laboratory proves a challenge.

In a few cases, however, enrichment cultures of reactor material were carried out successfully. Kern *et al.* (2016a) published an isolation of an archaeal strain from a mesophilic biogas reactor, *Ms. flavescens* sp. nov. E03.2^T a novel strictly anaerobic, non-motile, sarcina-like, coccal methanogenic archaeon. This strain grows autotrophically on $H_2 + CO_2$ and is also able to utilize acetate, methylamines, and methanol. The genome of strain E03.2^T was completely sequenced and in combination with phenotypic (sarcina-like structures) and physiological (methanogenesis from $H_2 + CO_2$, or acetate, or methylated compounds) characteristics it was concluded the organism belongs to the genus *Methanosarcina* (Kern *et al.* 2016a).

Mladenovska and Ahring (2000) also isolated *Methanosarcina* strains from full-scale operating thermophilic biogas plants. These biogas plants were fed with a mixture of animal manures or with industrial organic wastes. All isolates exhibited significantly higher growth rates and higher acetate binding affinities compared to the type strain *Ms. thermophila* TM-1^T. In addition, isolates from the tanks treated with a mixture of animal manures showed a higher affinity to acetate compared to isolates from biogas plants fed with industrial organic wastes (Mladenovska and Ahring 2000). Kern *et al.* (2016a) were able to enrich hydrogenotrophic strains from the same biogas plant, from which they isolated *Ms. flavescens* sp. nov. E03.2T. In addition, a new hydrogenotrophic species could be identified, belonging to the genus *Methanobacterium* which was named *Mb. aggregans* sp. nov. E09F.3T (Kern *et al.* 2015). This organism is characterized by forming large aggregates consisting of intertwined bundles of chains.

Methanobacterium sp. could also be isolated and characterized in other types of biogas plants. Strain *Mb. thermoformicicum* CB12, for example, was isolated from a thermophilic reactor (Zhao *et al.* 1986). The organism has characteristic properties of a thermophilic, hydrogenotrophic methanogenic strain like an optimal growth temperature of 56 °C but *Mb. thermoformicicum* CB12 is growing faster than all currently known thermophilic species belonging to hydrogenotrophic methanogens (Zhao *et al.* 1986).

Besides methanogens, which could be isolated from biogas reactors, bacterial microorganisms were enriched and pure cultures isolated. Ruan *et al.* (2014) have isolated a bacterial strain from a large-scale agricultural anaerobic digester, which is able to metabolize sugars and belongs to the genus *Kurthia.* The strain *Kurthia huakuii* LAM0618^T belongs to the phylum Firmicutes and might be involved in the hydrolytic step in a biogas reactor (Ruan *et al.* 2014). Additionally, type strains from the most prevalent of all known anaerobic, cellulolytic bacteria, *Clostridium* (*Cl.*) *thermocellum* strains, can be found in almost all biogas reactors and utilize cellulose and cellobiose (Koeck *et al.* 2014). Cellulase activities of all isolates could be measured to characterize the different strains and to get information on the hydrolytic state of the analyzed reactor (Koeck *et al.* 2014).

Enzymatic characterization of microbial communities

The isolation of bacterial and archaeal strains to characterize the microbial diversity in biogas sludge is challenging and difficult in general, especially, because many microorganisms are nonculturable and thus, cannot be grown in the laboratory. The isolation of some pure cultures gives the opportunity to characterize the metabolisms of single strains. However, it is not possible to analyze the metabolic capacity of all microorganisms involved in the four steps of anaerobic degradation (hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, methanogenesis). The metabolic capacity of a microbial community is a new parameter also referred to as Metabolic Quotient which is based on gPCR and RT-gPCR analysis (Munk et al. 2012). This quotient was introduced for the determination of methanogenic activity and as a warning system of process acidification. Thus, the metabolic capacity or the metabolic potential of a microbial community describes the metabolic activity or the overall capability to degrade substrates. A possible approach to analyze the metabolic capacity of the microorganisms involved in anaerobic degradation in biogas sludge could be the determination of enzymatic activities of each metabolic group of microorganisms. Enzyme activities of the first step of anaerobic degradation of biomass, the hydrolysis, and the second step, the acidogenesis, could already successfully be measured (Parawira et al. 2005, Kim et al. 2012, Gabris et al. 2015). In a new approach the measurement of a key enzyme of the last degradation step in biogas sludge, the methanogenesis, has also been shown (Refai et al. 2014a, Chapter 1).

Parawira and coworkers (2005) have measured the activities of several hydrolyzing enzymes such as amylases, pectinases, and proteases as well as different types of cellulases. The different enzyme activities were measured in the supernatant of centrifuged mesophilic biogas sludge samples, fed with solid potato wastes. Kim *et al.* (2012) noticed that the temperature during the anaerobic digestion process is crucial for the catalytic conversion by hydrolytic enzymes. In a thermophilic biogas reactor, the activities of amylase, protease, and lipase were significantly higher than in an equivalent process at mesophilic temperature (Kim *et al.* 2012). The hydrolysis of organic material is the first step of the anaerobic degradation process in a biogas reactor. Consequently, hydrolytic enzyme activities may also affect subsequent degradation steps (acidogenesis, acetogensis and methanogenesis).

Besides hydrolytic enzymes, acidogenic key enzymes were analyzed to evaluate the metabolic potential in this degradation step. Gabris *et al.* (2015) measured activities of the acetate kinase, the butyrate kinase and the butyryl-CoA: acetate-CoA transferase in cell-free extract from sludge samples of three different mesophilic agricultural biogas plants. While the activity of the butyrate kinase (<0.02 U mg⁻¹ protein) was low in all three reactors, significantly higher activities were measured for the acetate kinase and the butyryl-CoA: acetate-CoA transferase (0.54 U mg⁻¹ protein and 5.73 U mg⁻¹ protein) (Gabris *et al.* 2015).

Moreover, in the course of this study a new approach for determining the activity of a key enzyme of CH₄ formation in biogas sludge was published to contribute to the characterization of the metabolic potential of methanogens which are responsible for the last degradation step in biogas plants (Refai *et al.* 2014a, **Chapter 1**). The Hdr, a key enzyme in the energy metabolism of methanogenic archaea,

catalyzes the specific reduction of the terminal electron acceptor (CoM-S-S-CoB). The genes of this key enzyme are encoded in the genome of all methanogenic species described so far. Therefore, the specific CoM-S-S-CoB reduction rate can be used for the determination of the metabolic potential of the methanogenic degradation step. The measurement of the Hdr was performed in cell-free extract of mesophilic biogas sludge (Refai *et al.* 2014a, **Chapter 1**).



<u>Figure 6:</u> Scheme of heterodisulfide reductases in methanogenic archaea and their localization in the cells. a) The heterodisulfide reductase of hydrogenotrophic methanogens is localized in the cytoplasm. The enzyme complex consists of three subunits (HdrA, HdrB, HdrC) and is able to use the electrons from 2 H₂ for a bifurcation, the reduction of ferredoxin (Fd_{red}) and the heterodisulfide (CoB-S-S-CoM \rightarrow HS-CoB + HS-CoM). b) In aceticlastic methanogens the heterodisulfide reductase consists of two subunits (HdrD, HdrE) and is localized in the cytoplasmic membrane in the cell. The electrons for the reduction of the CoB-S-S-CoM originate from the conversion of actetate and are transferred from the methanophenazin (MPH₂) localized in the membrane to the catalytic center in subunit HdrD.

In the enzyme assay electrons from reduced methyl viologen, an artificial electron donor, were used for the reduction of the CoM-S-S-CoB. The analysis of Hdr activity offers the opportunity not only to define the entire metabolic potential of methanogens, but to differentiate between the two occurring metabolic types of methanogens. In hydrogenotrophic methanogens the heterodisulfide reductase HdrABC forms a complex with the hydrogenase Mvh in the cytoplasm of the cells (Fig. 6a). In aceticlastic methanogens the heterodisulfide reductase HdrDE is localized in the cytoplasmic membrane (Fig. 6b), so that activity measurements in the cytoplasm and cytoplasmic membrane fractions characterize the metabolic activity of both methanogenic pathways (Refai *et al.* 2014a, **Chapter 1**). It was found that in a mesophilic biogas plant, which was fed with maize silage, dry chicken, and cattle manure, a ratio of two third hydrogenotrophic and one third aceticlastic methanogens are present (Refai *et al.* 2014a, **Chapter 1**). So far, quantification of these organisms in such a complex community as a biogas reactor is done by sequence analysis of 16S rRNA, or other

marker genes like the gene coding for the subunit A of the methyl-CoM reductase (Bergmann *et al.* 2010b, Hanreich *et al.* 2013). The quantification of methanogenic cells via Hdr activity is specific and much faster than gene sequence analysis. Moreover, enzyme activities are highly sensitive to changes in process conditions.

Monitoring the biogas production process

Monitoring of biogas production is necessary to ensure successful operation of biogas reactors and to detect process imbalances at an early stage for the prevention of process incidents. The anaerobic digestion process itself is a highly complex system involving many interacting groups of microorganisms. Several prokaryotes are sensitive to a number of operating factors which can influence the efficiency of the production process. The physico-chemical factors affecting biogas production are mainly based on operating conditions and substrates fed into the biogas reactors (e.g. consistency, stirring power, liquid content). Operating conditions, including pH value, temperature, loading rate, and retention time, can directly influence the microbial community structure. Effects from feedstock, including overall composition, dry mass, and organic dry mass, or toxic and inhibitory compounds, can adversely affect the microbial degradation of organic matter. Sometimes, toxic compounds are not initially present in the feed but are generated in the reactor during degradation processes (e.g. H₂S or ammonia/ammonium (NH₃/NH₄⁺) concentrations).

A large number of parameters have been studied with the aim to characterize the biogas formation process and to search for early-warning systems for the detection of developing process incidents. The common indicators for monitoring the biogas production process are the quantity and composition of the feedstock, biogas yield, gas composition, fermentation temperature and pH value, volatile fatty acid (VFA) concentration, hydrogen carbonate buffer capacity, H₂, and ammonia (NH₃) concentrations as well as micronutrient concentrations (Boe *et al.* 2010, Cadena Pereda *et al.* 2010, Michaud *et al.* 2002). Hydrogen carbonate buffer capacity and VFA concentrations as well as H₂ and NH₃/NH₄⁺ concentrations can be used as warning parameters indicating process imbalances (Hawkes *et al.* 1994, Boe *et al.* 2010, Weiland 2008, Marchaim and Krause 1993). However, alternative parameters such as measurement of microbial enzyme activities and community structure can also be used to monitor biogas formation as already described in **Chapter 1** (Parawira *et al.* 2005, Kim *et al.* 2012, Gabris *et al.* 2015, Refai *et al.* 2014a).

Monitoring parameters

Monitoring the feedstock input is essential because changes in the amount of feeding and raw material composition can cause process instabilities (Drosg 2013). In agricultural biogas plants, the organic raw materials are usually quite similar in their composition (energy plant silage, poultry-, pig-, cattle- or horse manure, cereal grains). Changes in the composition of feeding can be caused by different sources of supply. For an optimal production process a balanced substrate composition is crucial. Besides the type of substrate, proportion of plant fibers, water content, nitrogen content, particle size, and gas yield of the individual substrates, as well as frequency of feeding play an important role. High frequency of feeding intervals (about 48 feeds per day) can lead to high biogas

yields and stable process conditions. This may avoid interference of stirring power and accumulation of VFA.

Biogas yield

Biogas production is probably the most common parameter used for long-term monitoring of anaerobic degradation. The amount of biogas produced provides information on the status of the overall process. However, biogas volume detection is one of the most challenging parameter in the monitoring process of biogas production because there is a great dependency on the amount of produced biogas and the substrate composition as well as retention time and organic loading rate (Angelidaki *et al.* 1999, Deublein and Steinhauser 2008, Fantozzi and Buratti 2009). Depending on the substrate more or less biogas may be produced (Fig. 1). Changes in the amount of produced biogas cannot be used as reliable parameter indicating process imbalances because any increase in volumetric loading or retention time can raise biogas production. On the other hand, a decrease in biogas production often occurs not before the process is severely inhibited or has already broken down, thus, it is not an effective early warning indicator for process imbalances (Switzenbaum *et al.* 1990, Moletta *et al.* 1994). Nevertheless, the measurement of biogas yield is very simple and widely used to monitor anaerobic degradation in biogas reactors, especially in agricultural biogas plants with constant feeding and constant process conditions.

CH₄ content

As already described, biogas mainly consists of CH₄ and CO₂. The partial pressure of these two gasses is usually constant in a reactor during stable process conditions for a given carbon substrate. Thus, biogas composition, especially the partial pressures of CO₂ and CH₄, might be useful parameters for process monitoring. However, the CH₄ content also depends on substrate composition, loading rate, temperature, and pH value (Amon *et al.* 2007, Liu 2003, Mshandete *et al.* 2006). Ahring and coworkers (1995) tested the use of the CH₄ production rate and the CH₄ yield as process indicators. They showed that the CH₄ yield can reflect process imbalances but changes in this parameter were relatively small (Ahring *et al.* 1995). Similar to biogas production, response in CH₄ production is significant only when the process imbalance is well developed (Switzenbaum *et al.* 1990). In summary, the overall anaerobic degradation process is already severely disrupted when a decrease in CH₄ yield occurs.

pH value

The pH value is another parameter simply measurable in a biogas reactor. The pH can be analyzed either manually or automatically in an online monitoring process and is mainly influenced by the hydrogen carbonate buffer capacity. Moreover, the concentration of VFA and the NH_3/NH_4^+ concentration can change the pH in a biogas reactor. In addition, the feedstock pH affects the pH value in a biogas reactor. Normally, the pH is neutral to alkaline in a biogas plant (pH 6.5 – 8.5). This is important and decisive for the microbial community and their functionality in anaerobic digestion. However, the pH response has low sensitivity in a well-buffered system like a biogas reactor and is not

recommended to indicate process imbalances (Björnsson *et al.* 2000). Angelidaki and Ahring (1994) observed different pH values within 0.5 units in biogas reactors when the process was inhibited by high NH₃ concentrations and VFA accumulation. In this case, even strong process incidents had no decisive influence on the pH value. Accordingly, measurable pH changes indicate an ongoing process instability where the degradation process is impaired and the microbial community sustainably damaged (Nielsen and Ahring 2006). Thus, the pH value cannot be used as a reliable parameter indicating process imbalances.

Hydrogen carbonate buffer capacity

The parameters described so far can characterize a biogas production to a certain extent but, due to the limitations mentioned above, they might not be suited to reliably indicate process instability at an early stage. The buffer capacity is a better alternative for displaying process imbalances (Jantsch and Mattiasson 2004). In a biogas reactor the hydrogen carbonate/carbonate buffer system is mainly responsible for the regulation of pH homeostasis with buffer capacity depending on the concentration of the corresponding bases and acids (Switzenbaum *et al.* 1990, Moosbrugger *et al.* 1993). The hydrogen carbonate/ carbonate buffer system is also the main buffer system in different types of manure and minimizes pH changes caused by VFA and NH₄⁺ ion formation in the process of anaerobic degradation.

Maintaining the pH in a biogas plant is crucial for an effective microbial degradation process. The pH optimum of fermentative bacteria involved in the first three steps of anaerobic degradation in a biogas reactor is 6.7 - 7.4 (Bryant 1979). The methanogenic archaea, responsible for last the step of CH₄ formation, grow at neutral pH values. Thus, the pH value in the anaerobic system of a biogas reactor has to be 6.5 - 8.5 for optimal growth of the microorganisms involved in the degradation process.

The proton binding effect of the buffer depends on the pH-dependent equilibrium reactions between carbonate (CO_3^{2-}) and hydrogen carbonate (HCO_3^{-}), and between hydrogen carbonate (HCO_3^{-}) and carbonic acid (H_2CO_3) (Fig. 7). The pKs values of the two reactions are 10.45 (CO_3^{2-}/HCO_3^{-}) and 6.52 (HCO_3^{-}/H_2CO_3), respectively. As the pH value is typically 6.5 – 8.5 in the anaerobic degradation system of a biogas reactor, CO_3^{2-} concentrations are insignificant (Rozzi *et al.* 1994, Fig. 7). This can be explained by the buffer index diagram. At pH 6.5 – 8.5 mainly HCO_3^{-} is present in a biogas plant (Fig. 7). The equilibrium shifts to H_2CO_3 at increasing VFA concentrations in a biogas reactor (Fig. 7). In aqueous solution H_2CO_3 dissociates to CO_2 and H_2O . According to the HCO_3^{-}/CO_3^{2-} buffer system rising amounts of NH_4^+ lead to higher HCO_3^{-}/CO_3^{2-} buffer system to a certain extent.

The HCO₃⁻ buffer capacity is measured by titration and is defined as total alkalinity of carbonate (TAC). Various titration methods exist to determine TAC (Moosbrugger *et al.* 1993, Lahav and Morgan 2004). Correlation of TAC and VFA allows calculation of the amount of VFA and NH₄⁺, which can be tolerated by the system.



<u>Figure 7:</u> **Hydrogen carbonate/ carbonate buffer system.** Double logarithmic description of the concentration ratios of the carbonate/ hydrogen carbonate buffer system as a function of pH values. Modified from Moosbrugger *et al.* 1993.

Volatile fatty acid concentration

The determination of the VFA concentrations is a useful monitoring parameter for the biogas production process (Hill and Holmberg 1988, Hickey and Switzenbaum 1991, Anderson and Yang 1992, Moosbrugger *et al.* 1993; Ahring *et al.* 1995, Björnsson *et al.* 2000, Feitkenhauer *et al.* 2002, Mechichi and Sayadi 2005, Boe 2006, Boe *et al.* 2008). Additionally, it can be used as a typical warning system for process imbalances such as overfeeding, inhibition by mycotoxins, or micronutrient deficiency. Increasing VFA concentrations in a biogas reactor directly reflect a kinetic uncoupling between microbial acid producers and consumers (Switzenbaum *et al.* 1990). The concentration of different VFA like butyric acid, propionic acid, or acetic acid is measured via gaschromatography analysis. This analysis allows the determination of each acid concentration in the biogas sludge. Another common method to determine the amount of VFA in the biogas sludge is titration. This is a quantification method to determine the concentration of total VFA which is defined as FOS value and corresponds to the acid concentration in the sludge, expressed in acetic acid equivalent.

VFA concentration, pH value, and HCO₃⁻ buffer capacity directly influence each other. Consequently, all these parameters must be considered for monitoring a production process. In a low buffered system, pH, TAC, and FOS measurements are useful for process monitoring (Murto *et al.* 2004). In highly buffered systems only VFA is reliable for indicating process imbalance because the high TAC concentration stabilizes pH. Several studies have pointed out that different VFA concentrations can act as early warning systems for process incidents (Cobb and Hill 1991, Ahring *et al.* 1995). Often

Introduction

propionic acid concentration itself can function as indicator for process imbalances. Besides propionic acid, iso-butyric, and iso-valeric acid as well as n-butyric and iso-butyric had been suggested as indicators of process imbalance (Cobb and Hill 1991, Ahring *et al.* 1995). So, VFA are excellent indicators of organic overload and of inhibitions caused by mycotoxins when acid oxidizers and methanogens are inhibited.

H₂ concentration

Another parameter useful to monitor the biogas formation process is the H_2 concentration or the H_2 partial pressure in a biogas plant. H_2 is an important intermediate and is used as an electron carrier in microbial metabolism. The H_2 partial pressure directly affects the anaerobic degradation process in the biogas sludge. Slightly increasing H_2 concentrations can be sufficient to impede degradation of VFA by syntrophic bacteria (Speece 1983). Thus, H_2 accumulation has been suggested as early indicator for process imbalances (Hickey and Switzenbaum 1991). However, in practice, accurate measurement of H_2 concentration in biogas sludge is challenging, hence, in standard agricultural biogas plants a technical implementation is not possible.

Besides all parameters already described, CO concentration, redox potential as well as the organic dry mass are useful parameters monitoring the biogas formation process. Furthermore, the analysis of the composition and quantification of the microbial community in a biogas plant can be used as stability marker for the process. Usually, the microbial community is analyzed by genomic approaches as described above. Although the microbial community structure could be theoretically used as stability marker, the determination is time consuming and expensive in practice. Therefore, this analytical method is rarely used and will not be discussed any further.

Microbial degradation potential

Besides characterization of microbial community structures based on sequence analysis, another analytic approach to characterize the microorganisms involved in the anaerobic breakdown of biomass is the quantification of the microbial degradation potential or the CH₄ production potential. The microbial degradation potential describes the metabolic ability of substrate degradation by microorganisms in a biogas reactor. The biochemical CH₄ potential is defined as the amount of CH₄ produced per 1 g of solid organic substrate (Labatut et al. 2011). In different studies, the microbial conversion of substrates with specific characteristics, e.g. protein-rich and lipid-rich, was investigated (Hatamoto et al. 2007, Palatsi et al. 2011, Wagner et al. 2013). Especially complex substrates were used for this kind of research. Labatut and coworkers (2011) published a study on biochemical analysis of the CH₄ production potential and the biodegradability of complex organic substrates. The authors measured the biodegradability of a mixture of dairy manure, renewable plant material, and food residues. The highest biochemical CH₄ potential could be detected with a lipid-rich, easilydegradable carbohydrate substrate while the lowest CH₄ potential was measured with lignocelluloserich substrate (Labatut et al. 2011). Consequently, a limitation and a potential bottleneck might be present in the hydrolytic step of anaerobic degradation of organic material. Another study was done by Wagner et al. (2013), who investigate complex organic materials (classified as protein-rich, lipid-rich, or cellulose-rich) as substrates for biogas production, to evaluate their microbial degradation potential. High CH₄ production and therefore a high microbial degradation potential was observed for proteinrich substrates; the degradation of lipid-containing and cellulose-rich substrates was problematic (Wagner *et al.* 2013). Thus, the metabolization of different substrates enables the analysis of metabolic processes in a biogas reactor.

Monitoring methods under lab-scale conditions

The biochemical analysis of the microbial metabolization of organic material fed into a biogas reactor is most frequently done in laboratory semi-continuous fermenters (Cuetos et al. 2008, Sreekrishnan et al. 2004, Pobeheim et al. 2011, Mähnert and Linke 2009). This process can be very time-consuming because long start-up phases and measuring periods are required (Sreekrishnan et al. 2004). Therefore, another system, the batch system, was introduced because it is easy to handle in the laboratory (Abouelenien et al. 2009, Mittweg et al. 2012, Llabrés-Luengo and Mata-Alvarez 1988). However, frequently, these systems turn out to be less time-efficient as shown in a batch analysis done by Wagner et al. (2013) where dilute reactor material of a thermophilic biogas plant was incubated for 55 d. One of the first attempts of time-efficient analysis was done by Schnürer et al. (1999) who established a short-term batch system where results can be obtained in less than 1 d. The set-up allowed the addition of radiolabeled acetate as an intermediate of anaerobic degradation to retrace the pathway of acetate in the biogas sludge (Schnürer et al. 1999). This batch system was an initial approach for a short-term and time-efficient analytic system in the laboratory. In summary, effective monitoring of the anaerobic process requires operational simplicity as well as time-and costeffectiveness. In addition, the determination of the metabolic potential of each degradation step would allow assigning inefficient substrate conversion to a specific microbial deficit.



Figure 8: Batch incubation system. 20 g biogas sludge incubated anaerobically in a 120 ml serum bottle.

In this study, a batch system was established which allow to differentiate the metabolic potential of the individual degradation steps in biogas sludge within 24 h (Refai *et al.* 2014b, **Chapter 2**). Only 20 g reactor material of full operating biogas plants was required to perform this approach. The starting material was incubated under anaerobic conditions in 120 ml serum bottles at a certain temperature, according to the conditions of the full-scale biogas plant (Fig. 8). The process stability of this lab-scale batch system was analyzed by CH₄ production, pH value, and acetate concentration (Refai *et al.*

2014b, **Chapter 2**). For the analysis of the metabolic potential of individual degradation steps, the biogas sludge was supplemented with intermediate substrates (butyrate, ethanol, acetate, propionate, or $H_2 + CO_2$) and CH_4 production was determined (Refai *et al.* 2014b, **Chapter 2**). The addition of the substrates acetate or $H_2 + CO_2$ directly addresses the level of methanogenesis. The amount of CH_4 produced represents the metabolic capacity of the methanogenic archaea, responsible for the last degradation step. The addition of butyrate, propionate, or ethanol gives crucial evidence on the metabolic capacity of acetogenic bacteria. This analytic system is simple, exhibits authentic conditions of the analyzed biogas plant and allows determination of the metabolic potential of the organisms in the anaerobic digestion process.

However, until now, methods have not been published for quantifying the metabolic potential of each degradation step itself and of the total degradation process. In the course of this study a system was developed, the BEAP profile, which directly evaluate the metabolic activity of acetogenesis and methanogenesis and lead to a conclusion of the metabolic activity of the entire biogas production process (Refai et al. 2016, submitted, Chapter 4). Thus, the BEAP profile is a monitoring tool for the microbial capacity in a biogas reactor (Refai et al. 2016, submitted, Chapter 4). The test system is based on the addition of butyrate (BCON), ethanol (ECON), acetate (ACON) or propionate (PCON) to biogas sludge samples and subsequent analysis of CH₄ formation in comparison to control samples without supplementation. The combination of the four values (BCON, ECON, ACON, and PCON) was referred to as BEAP profile (from the first letters of the supplemented BEAP substrates). The added substrates are intermediate products, as already described, and educts for the microorganisms involved in different digestion levels. For the analysis of the BEAP profiles all additives were adjusted to the pH values of the biogas plant. An increasing CH₄ formation based on the utilization of these external substrates represents the metabolic capacity of the microorganisms responsible for the degradation process. Unchanged CH₄ formation in the presence of additional substrates indicates that the organisms in the biogas sludge sample already reached their maximal metabolic activity. Hence, depending on the added BEAP substrate, the metabolic bottleneck in anaerobic biogas formation can be identified. In summary, the BEAP profile indicates which microbial degradation level causes the rate-limiting step in anaerobic degradation of organic matter in biogas plants (Refai et al. 2016, submitted, Chapter 4). Due to a large number of experiments, a standard BEAP profile could be determined, representing efficiently running biogas plants with stable process stages (Refai et al. 2016, submitted, Chapter 4).

Process incidents during biogas formation in biogas plants

For the analysis of the operational conditions of a biogas plant a number of various analytical methods can be employed to characterize the state of the biological process. However, due to financial as well as time reasons, many plant operators apply monitoring methods only if a decrease in biogas production or CH₄ content has already occurred. The reduction of CH₄ production indicates a possible inhibition within the anaerobic degradation process, negatively affecting the breakdown of organic matter (Switzenbaum *et al.* 1990, Moletta *et al.* 1994). However, a decrease in biogas production

Introduction

cannot be correlated with a specific process incident and cannot be used to identify process imbalances in the biogas production in detail.

As described above, biogas and CH₄ yield, FOS, TAC, VFA concentrations as well as NH₃ concentrations and the BEAP profile can be used to identify process imbalances. One additional option is the analysis of macro and trace element as well as H₂S concentrations (Demirel and Scherer 2011, Gadre 1989, Schieder *et al.* 2003). In the following section common process disturbances are described. The aim is to clarify how to recognize process incidents to identify underlying causes and potential countermeasures. It is also explained how the BEAP profile allows identification of the specific microbial community responsible for process imbalances (Refai *et al.* 2016, submitted, **Chapter 4**). Moreover, known and newly developed early warning systems for process incidents will be discussed.

Ammonia inhibition

Atmospheric nitrogen is processed or fixed by many microorganisms in a usable form to be taken up by plants. Many terrestrial animals such as cows, pigs, and horses eat that plant material at some stage of the food chain. Hence, nitrogen-containing compounds reach the biogas reactor by feeding different types of plants as well as different types of animal excrements such as cattle, pig, horse, dairy, or poultry manure. The degradation of nitrogen-containing substrates in a biogas reactor is important since nitrogen is required for cell growth and represents an essential nutrient for microorganisms. Bacteria convert organic nitrogen into NH₃, in a process called ammonification. However, high NH₃ concentrations can lead to process imbalances in biogas plants. In aqueous solution, NH₃ is protonated and forms NH₄⁺. The pH-dependent equilibrium between NH₄⁺ and NH₃ (pK_a value 9.25 (NH₃/ NH₄⁺)) shifts with decreasing pH to the side of NH₄⁺. In contrast, an increase in pH gives rise to unprotonated NH₃ which is responsible for the inhibitory effect during the biogas production.

Especially methanogenic cells are adversely affected by high NH₃ concentrations, often leading to a decrease in CH₄ production (Karakashev *et al.* 2005; Angelidaki and Ahring 1993; Nettmann *et al.* 2010). This is caused by NH₃ intrusion into archaeal cells resulting in a dissipation of the transmembrane pH gradient in an alkaline medium (Sprott *et al.* 1984). This has a negative effect on the membrane potential of methanogenic cells. A breakdown of the electrochemical ion gradient, which is the driving force for ATP synthesis, inhibits energy conservation in the cells. Aceticlastic methanogens such as *Ms. barkeri* are more sensitive to high NH₃ concentrations than hydrogenotrophic species (Sprott and Patel 1986). In aceticlastic methanogens an electrochemical transmembrane Na⁺/H⁺ gradient is the driving force for ATP synthesis (Schlegel and Müller 2011, Schlegel *et al.* 2012). Changes in the membrane potential and in the redox driven proton translocation is sensitively affected by NH₃. The electrochemical Na⁺ ion gradient is less influenced by the dissipation of the transmembrane pH gradient. In hydrogenotrophic methanogens the electrochemical ion gradient is formed in the course of Na⁺ ion translocation and is responsible for energy conservation in hydrogenotrophic methanogens is less affected by high NH₃ concentrations. However,

hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is inhibited if the NH₃ concentration exceeds a certain threshold (~ 400 mM) in the reactor (Sprott and Patel 1986). Therefore, H₂ can no longer be degraded and accumulates in the biogas plant. Rising H₂ partial pressures negatively affect acetogenesis leading to VFA accumulation in the biogas sludge.

A wide range of NH4⁺ concentrations have been determined in agricultural biogas plants (0.15 - 6 g NH₄⁺ l⁻¹), thus tolerable NH₄⁺ concentrations cannot be generally identified (Resch et al. 2006, Angelidaki and Ahring 1994, McCarty and McKinney 1961). The range of nitrogen concentrations found in different biogas plants indicate that prokaryotes can adapt to various NH3 concentrations (Angelidaki and Ahring 1993). Furthermore, the inhibitory concentration of NH₃ is process specific. For the calculation of the NH3 concentrations in the biogas sludge and for the estimation of the toxicity potential an analysis of the NH4⁺ content should always be accompanied by determination of the pH and reactor temperature. However, the identification of process conditions by measuring the NH4⁺ concentration is difficult because of various tolerable NH4⁺ concentrations in different biogas reactors. In contrast, the BEAP profile, described above, represent a method to determine inhibitory NH4⁺ concentrations for the microorganisms involved in anaerobic degradation in biogas sludge. In contrast to the standard BEAP profile which indicates an optimal anaerobic degradation process in biogas plants, the BEAP profile of beginning NH₃ inhibition shows a substantially decreasing metabolic potential of methanogens (Refai et al. 2016, submitted, Chapter 4). This finding clearly demonstrates the inhibition of the methanogenic metabolism by high NH₃ concentrations (Refai et al. 2016, submitted, Chapter 4).

Inefficient hydrolysis

Inefficient hydrolysis is another common process incident in the biogas production process (Busch 2013). The enzymatic degradation of complex organic substrates is catalyzed by hydrolases like glycosidases, lipases, and peptidases. Especially lignocellulose, the main constituent of many plant materials, is highly complex and enzymatic break down is extensively difficult (Glass *et al.* 2013). Due to the presence of lignocellulose in a variety of plant silages, inefficient hydrolysis could constitute the bottleneck in the overall process.

The hydrolytic step depends on many different parameters such as substrate particle size, production of enzymes, pH, and temperature (Weiland 2010). However, enzymatic pretreatment of the substrates can prevent the hydrolytic step being the bottleneck of the whole system (Zheng *et al.* 2014, Mendes *et al.* 2006, Taherzadeh and Karimi 2008, Climent *et al.* 2007, Bruni *et al.* 2010, Carrere *et al.* 2016). Due to the complexity and variability of biomass, the optimal pretreatment methods and conditions depend on the types of lignocellulose present. Several structural and compositional properties were found to have impacts on the biodegradability of lignocellulosic biomass, including cellulose crystallinity, accessible surface area, the degree of cellulose polymerization, the presence of lignin and hemicellulose, and the degree of hemicellulose acetylation (Kim and Holtzapple 2005, 2006). The goal of substrate pretreatment is to alter such properties to improve biomass amenity to enzymes and microbes.

However, currently it is difficult to precisely monitor the hydrolytic process with standard analytical parameters. In contrast to the methods mentioned above, the BEAP profile is well suited to demonstrate an inefficient hydrolysis (Refai *et al.* 2016, submitted, **Chapter 4**). A limitation in the first degradation step leads to low intermediate substrate availability in the following digestion levels. Thus, the addition of intermediate substances such as butyrate, ethanol, acetate, or propionate results in sharp increases in CH₄ production indicated by the corresponding enhanced BEAP values (Refai *et al.* 2016, submitted, **Chapter 4**). Consequently, the BEAP profile demonstrates the additional metabolic capacity of syntrophic bacteria and methanogens in case of insufficient hydrolysis.

Acidification

Decreasing pH values in a biogas reactor can sustainably affect biogas formation. This process incident, called acidification, is caused by high concentrations of VFA produced in the course of acidogenesis. An accumulation of VFA occurs if the following degradation step, the acetogenesis, is inhibited. Acidogenesis is associated with a high net production of ATP, resulting in fast growth of the microorganisms involved. Thus, acidogenesis is never rate limiting in the biogas formation process (Gottschalk 1978). In contrast, the subsequent step, the acetogenesis, is an endergonic process under standard conditions (P_{H2} 1 atm, substrate and product concentrations 1 M, temperature 298 K, pH 7.0 (Thauer *et al.* 1977)). Hence, this process can only take place in a biogas reactor because of the syntrophic interaction of acid oxidizing bacteria and hydrogenotrophic methanogens as described in the chapter "*Microbial degradation processes in a mesophilic agricultural biogas reactor*". However, a process imbalance can disrupt this relationship. Consequently, VFA produced in acidogenesis accumulate in the biogas reactor, depleting HCO₃⁻ buffering capacity and resulting in a drop in pH and a metabolic breakdown of the overall process.

In the beginning of an acidification in a biogas reactor the BEAP profile is characterized by highly increased BCON values as well as slightly increased PCON values (Refai *et al.* 2016, submitted, **Chapter 4**). Enhanced BCON values point to a large metabolic potential for the oxidation of butyrate to acetate and H₂. This indicates an accumulation of butyrate oxidizers in the biogas sludge. A hypothesis could be that the reactors already suffer from an increased flux of butyrate from increasing acidogenesis, resulting in an enrichment of butyrate oxidizers and an increased metabolic capacity for butyrate oxidation. The same could be true for propionate oxidizers combined with an increase of the PCON value. Once the flow of butyrate and propionate exceeds a certain threshold, the metabolic capacity of syntrophic acid oxidizers becomes rate-limiting and butyrate and propionate accumulates in the biogas sludge leading to an acidification of the overall process. Potential countermeasures can be the reduction of the organic loading rate or TAC replenishment by the addition of buffering compounds.

Inhibitors

Most process incidents during biogas formation require high technical and financial efforts to be resolved. These incidents include process inhibitions by retardants such as antibiotics, disinfectants, mycotoxins, or a variety of heavy metals (such as chromium, copper, nickel, and zinc). The inhibitors

are added to the reactor by poor quality substrates and can severely damage the biogas production process.

Antibiotics are toxic to bacterial cells and can inhibit microbial catalyzed degradation to the point of total process breakdown. The highest amounts of antibiotics are added by different types of dairy manure into the reactor. Mastitis, a common udder disease, is routinely treated with antibiotics. On excretion, antibiotics are mixed with manure and thus enter the biogas plant. The most common mastitis pathogens are *Streptococcus* species; the applied antibiotics affect primarily gram-positive bacteria (Raemy *et al.* 2013).

In addition, mycotoxins are very effective inhibitors of biogas production. These inhibitors often reach the reactor in mouldy silage, especially, by grain silages infected with *Fusarium* spp. (Goertz *et al.* 2010). Based on the BEAP profile it was possible to determine that CH₄ formation from acetate is limited in a biogas plant stressed with mycotoxins (Refai *et al.* 2016, submitted, **Chapter 4**). The accumulation of acetate in biogas reactors suffering from a mycotoxin inhibition has been found on several occasions (personal communication Dr. Melanie Hecht). Accordingly, this process incident can be caused by inhibition of acetate degradation by aceticlastic methanogens. In the course of this study metabolization of ethanol in a mycotoxin stressed reactor was analyzed and it was found that free acetate was not formed during ethanol degradation (Refai *et al.* 2016, submitted, **Chapter 4**).

So far, a number of mycotoxins have been identified (e.g. alfa toxins, fumonisins, kojic acid, and moniliformin) (Battilani *et al.* 2009). These mycotoxins may exert different effects on eukaryotic cells, for example, inhibition of membrane, protein, or sphingolipid biosynthesis, inhibition of pyruvate oxidation, or act as a chelating agent for binding of iron, copper, or zinc ions. So far, the precise mycotoxin effects on bacterial and archaeal cells have not yet been clarified.

Micronutrient deficiency

Another process failure often discussed is the lack of micronutrients. Micronutrients, also called trace elements, are catalytically effective transition metals bound to microbial cofactors and enzymes. Trace elements such as iron, nickel, and molybdenum ions are essential components of methanogenic enzymes such as the F_{420} -reducing hydrogenase, the Ech hydrogenase, and the formyl-methanofuran dehydrogenase (Deppenmeier 2002). Iron deficiency has a serious impact on a number of key enzymes involved in methanogenesis and the methanogenic respiratory chain, e.g. all hydrogenases which contain iron-sulfur centers, essential for electron transfer (Deppenmeier 2002, Deppenmeier *et al.* 2002). When iron is deficient, these enzymes cannot catalyze H_2 oxidation any longer.

Moreover, the deficiency of elements like nickel, iron, cobalt, molybdenum, copper, and selenium are assumed to have negative effects in biogas formation (Schattauer *et al.* 2011). However, it is very difficult to induce a deficiency of these elements under anaerobic conditions in a biogas reactor because bacteria have efficient systems to bind metal ions such as iron from their surrounding media and subsequently, to take the trace element up into the cells (Dumas *et al.* 2013, Krewulak *et al.* 2008).

Nevertheless, if iron is deficient in a biogas plant, a process inhibition can be the consequence. A decreasing iron concentration can originate from the presence of H_2S . H_2S is produced by sulfur-

Introduction

reducing or sulfate-reducing bacteria in their dissimilatory metabolism, e.g. *Desulfuromonas*, *Desulfovibrio*, or *Desulfobacter* (Rabus *et al.* 2015, Barton *et al.* 2014). In addition, fermentative bacteria release H₂S from organic substances with sulfhydryl groups (-SH) such as methionine and cysteine present in protein-rich substrates. H₂S, produced by sulfur-reducing and sulfate-reducing bacteria as well as by fermentative bacteria, is released into the headspace and accumulates in the gas storage as part of the biogas. Depending on the pH value more or less H₂S is dissolved in the sludge (the lower the pH, the more H₂S dissolved). H₂S and iron ions form water-insoluble complexes (Preissler *et al.* 2010). Thus, a possible way of controlling this process inhibition is the addition of iron salts into the biogas plant, the so-called air desulphurization. Thereby H₂S is oxidized to elemental sulfur or sulfate by sulfur-oxidizing bacteria in the presence of O₂ (Nishimura and Yoda 1997, Kantachote 2008). However, elemental sulfur which is deposited in the fermenter space and in the gas space can lead to corrosion problems and lasting damages of the technical system in a biogas plant.

Monitoring- and early warning systems for process incidents

In the previous sections different monitoring parameters were described, which are used to analyze the biogas production process. As already indicated single parameters are not suitable for monitoring the biogas production process because they do not detect upcoming process imbalances at an early stage. Parameter variability and fluctuation can be differing between biogas plants making a determination of threshold values difficult for each single parameter (Resch *et al.* 2006, Angelidaki and Ahring 1994, McCarty and McKinney 1961). Therefore, the recognition of a process incident is often delayed to the point of process damage. In addition, a definite identification of process imbalances is difficult because many disorders start with the same 'symptoms' (for example, drop in CH₄ content and increase of VFA concentration) (Preissler 2010). An early warning system is required not only to indicate but also to diagnose a specific type of process incident.

Since a reduction of CH₄ production and an increase of VFA concentration only occurs after a process is sustainably damaged, these parameters are unsuitable to indicate a process incident at an early stage. A more significant and rapid early warning system could be the ratio of FOS and TAC (Rieger and Weiland 2006). In agricultural biogas plants fed with renewable raw materials, stable process conditions are present at a FOS/TAC ratio of \leq 0.6. Accordingly, a process incident can only be determined if the ratio is higher than 0.6 or if the FOS/TAC ratio is constantly monitored and changes occur (Rieger and Weiland 2006). This ratio can detect process incidents earlier than variation in pH. Besides this, the ratio of VFA and calcium ions or phosphate can also function as an early warning system of a process failure (Kleyböcker *et al.* 2012).

Thus, the determination of upcoming process incidents at an early stage is possible only by the use of at least two monitoring parameters. In contrast, the BEAP profile can be used solely to detect a process incident without long-term observation and to specifically identify rate limiting steps during biomethanisation (Refai *et al.* 2016, submitted, **Chapter 4**). In addition, the BEAP profile indicates

ammonia inhibition at an early stage and thus, it can act as an effective early warning system (Refai *et al.* 2016, submitted, **Chapter 4**).

Improvement of process efficiency in biogas production

For a biogas plant's economic success mechanical as well as biological optimization and high efficiency is crucial. Therefore, it is necessary to develop strategies for efficient maximization of gas yields, CH₄ content, and full-load operational time of the power units. A first option is to ensure optimal feedstock balances in terms of energy and protein content, costs and handling. A second option is the optimization of microbial processes within the digester, avoiding substrate overload, or process disturbances.

Several strategies have been developed to improve process efficiency in biogas production such as increasing substrate availability and application of mechanical, thermal, chemical, or biological pretreatment of substrates.

Mechanical pretreatment

Reduced particle sizes and multiplying surface areas for enhanced substrate utilization can be achieved by various pretreatment methods such as mechanical pretreatment. This method does not cause odor generation, is easy to implement, and results in better dewaterability of the final anaerobic residue with only moderate energy consumption (Toreci *et al.* 2009a, 2009b, Pérez-Elvira *et al.* 2006). Izumi *et al.* (2010) studied the effect of particle size on biomethanisation. Increase of the surface using a beads mill resulted in 28 % higher biogas production yield. Sonication is another mechanical pretreatment method to crush the substrates and to increase their availability for microbial degradation. Sonication pretreatment, generated by a vibrating probe, mechanically disrupts the cell structure and floc matrix of organic material, thus increasing substrate availability for microbial cells (Elliott and Mahmood 2007). Hansen *et al.* (2007) found that screw press pretreatment results in a smaller substrate particle size, while a shredder with magnetic separation yield a higher CH₄ production (5.6 - 13.8 %) compared to the other methods (Jain *et al.* 2015). In contrast, Bernstad *et al.* (2013) reported that screw press pretreatment resulted in a loss of biodegradable material and nutrients, even though it enhanced biogas production in general. In summary, crushing of substrates increases the surface area and consequently ensures enhanced bioavailability.

Thermal pretreatment

Thermal pretreatment of substrates used in a biogas plant is one of the most studied pretreatment methods and has been successfully established in industrial scale (Carrère *et al.* 2010, Carlsson *et al.* 2012). The main effect of thermal pretreatment is the disruption of cell membranes, resulting in the release of organic compounds (Ferrer *et al.* 2008). Additionally, thermal pretreatment results in solubilization of proteins and increased biodegradability of lignocellulosic biomass. Thermal pretreatment methods lead to the breakup of cellulose crystallinity, increasing accessible surface area, reduction of the degree of cellulose polymerization or of the degree of hemicellulose acetylation (Neyens and Baeyens 2003, Kim and Holtzapple 2005, 2006). Moreover, thermal pretreatment of
sludge even at lower temperature (70 °C) has a decisive positive effect on pathogen removal (Skiadas *et al.* 2005).

The effects of thermal pretreatment depend on the substrate type and temperature range. Rafique *et al.* (2010) achieved a maximal biogas production of 178 % with 60 % CH₄ content by pretreatment of lignocellulose at 70 °C. The authors also studied pretreatment of pig manure at temperatures higher than 110 °C (Rafique *et al.* 2010). They observed hardening and darkening of manure, which resulted in a low biogas yield. Nevertheless, pig manure thermal pretreatment was investigated in different studies to maximize CH₄ production. Ma *et al.* (2011) determined an increase in CH₄ production of 24 % by pretreatment of the substrate at a temperature of 120 °C. The CH₄ potential of pig manure increased with temperature of thermal treatments higher than 135 °C (Carrerè *et al.* 2010). However, high temperatures were necessary to improve the CH₄ potential of the total fraction and the best results were obtained with the highest temperature (190 °C) (Carrerè *et al.* 2010). Obviously, different temperatures have to be used for pretreating different substrates to increase the biogas yield significantly.

Chemical pretreatment

Chemical pretreatments were implemented successfully to improve biogas production of lignocellulosic biomass. In a biogas plant enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulose is usually ineffective because of the stability of the polymers. Hence, extensive research has been done to develop effective pretreatment techniques for different types of lignocellulosic biomass feedstocks, but none have been commercialized due to high cost. However, alkaline and acidic pretreatment of lignocellulosic feedstocks showed positive effects on biogas formation. For alkaline pretreatment 1 - 10 % of NaOH, Ca(OH)₂, CaO, KOH or NH₃ x H₂O are added to the substrate. The mixture is incubated at -15 - 170 °C for 1 h to 10 d. In most cases these pretreatments of agricultural and forest residuals as well as grass plants lead to a 2-3 fold increase of CH₄ yield (Liew *et al.* 2011, Mirahmadi *et al.* 2010, Chandra *et al.* 2012a, 2012b). Besides alkaline pretreatment, acids can be used to make the substrates more accessible for microbial utilization. Chemicals like H₂SO₄, HCI, HNO₃, H₃PO₄, acetic acid, and maleic acid are used to render lignocellulosic biomass more degradable to microorganisms. This type of pretreatment is performed at temperatures between 24 - 170 °C and in a time frame of a few minutes to hours. The positive effect of pretreatment with acids results in an increase of CH₄ formation by 20 - 200 % (Xiao and Clarkson 1997, Monlau *et al.* 2013).

Furthermore, treatment of the sludge with diluted NaOH (e.g. 1.6 g l^{-1}) at room temperature (25 °C) is able to improve the volatile solid removal by 40 - 90 % (Lin *et al.* 1999, Heo *et al.* 2003). Thus, chemical pretreatment can be very effective and useful in enhancing biogas production, especially with indigestible plant materials.

Biological pretreatment

The aim of biological pretreatment is to increase the ability of raw material utilization and to cause an acceleration of the degradation process. Another goal is to increase in the gas yield of the individual substrates. The hydrolysis of organic material in the first degradation steps often represents the

Introduction

bottleneck of the overall biogas production process. Therefore, the biological pretreatment by increasing the efficiency of hydrolysis is useful in order to raise effectiveness in full-operating biogas plants and to enable metabolization of persistent plant and animal materials. One option is the addition of preparations enriched with bacteria or fungi to biogas sludge to improve anaerobic degradation, especially with respect to the breakdown of lignocellulose, cellulose, and hemicellulose materials (Hendriks and Zeeman 2009, Taherzadeh and Karimi 2008, Sun and Chen 2002). Kurakake et al. (2007) studied the biological pretreatment of office paper with two bacterial strains, Sphingomonas paucimobilis and Bacillus circulans, for enzymatic hydrolysis. The authors could show that biological pretreatment with those strains improved the enzymatic hydrolysis of office paper from municipal wastes. Under optimum conditions, the sugar recovery for subsequent acidogenesis was enhanced up to 94 %. Other examples are the application of mushrooms, such as Pleurotus sajorcaju, and Pleurotus florida which are cultivated on a variety of agricultural residues. These fungi possess the capacity to degrade cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin components (Bisaria et al. 1983; Müller and Trösch 1986). After addition of the organisms biogas can be produced from the hydrolyzed agricultural wastes. In fact, the influence of enriched microorganisms on biogas production is widely discussed, but has very rarely been proven to be effective in practice.

The addition of hydrolytic enzymes is the most common strategy to increase the ability of polysaccharide degradation in biogas plants (Parawira 2012). Hydrolytic enzymes can be added to a one-step or to a multi-step fermentation process in a biogas plant. In addition, enzymes can be used in a separate pretreatment process of plant material. The enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocelluloses without chemical or physical pretreatment is often ineffective because of high resilience of the materials to enzymatic attacks, due to the tight association between lignin, cellulose, and hemicelluloses. The crystallinity of cellulose, its accessible surface area, protection by lignin and hemicelluloses, degree of cellulose polymerization, and acetylation of hemicelluloses are the main factors affecting the rate of enzymatic pretreatment of lignocelluloses (Parawira 2012). In this respect an enzymatic pretreatment study was done by Sonakya *et al.* (2001). Wheat grains were treated with trizyme, a mixture of different hydrolytic enzymes such as cellulase, α -amylase, and protease. The substrate pretreatment resulted in a 7 – 14 % increase in CH₄ production. Thus, enzymatic pretreatment methods are available which can enhance biogas formation.

Besides polysaccharides such as lignocellulose, animal excrements as well as waste from food industry are widely used for biogas production in agricultural biogas plants. Therefore, pretreatment of lipid-rich substrate such as waste from food industry with hydrolytic enzymes is of great importance. Mendes *et al.* (2006) used a lipase preparation from an animal source to perform an enzymatic hydrolysis of lipid-rich wastewater from dairy industry which resulted in increased levels of biogas production. The main advantages of biological pretreatment are the low energy demand and the nontoxic effect of the preparation for the microbial community in the biogas reactor. However, the increase in CH₄ production is very low in most biological pretreatment processes (Sun and Cheng 2002).

38

Application of ethanol to increase biogas formation

As shown in this work the addition of ethanol to biogas sludge is a different approach to increase biogas yield and CH₄ content in biogas production (Refai et al. 2014c, Chapter 3). Ethanol is an intermediate in the anaerobic digestion process. In the course of this study it was found that the addition of ethanol circumvents the butyrate/propionate-degradation bottleneck and allows getting around the rate-limiting step in many biogas plants. Ethanol is converted to acetate and H₂, which function as methanogenic substrates to produce CH₄. Hence, the great advantage of supplementation with ethanol is the fact that the compound is directly channeled into methanogenesis so that volatile fatty acids cannot be formed. The total biogas yield as well as the CH₄ content can be increased by the addition of ethanol because 1.5 mol CH₄ are formed per 1 mol ethanol. This advantage is crucial compared to other process improvements because currently, the CH₄ content in biogas has to be concentrated before it is fed into the natural gas grid (Hagen et al. 2001, Persson et al. 2006). However, this treatment would not be necessary when ethanol is applied. In the course of this study it was found that the addition of ethanol resulted in an increasing biogas formation on a short-term and over a longer period (Refai et al. 2014c, Chapter 3). Thus, the addition of ethanol can be integrated to improve long-term performance of biogas plants. Since biogas formation increases directly after the addition of ethanol, it is also possible to adjust CH₄ production to ensure power supply in times of daily or seasonal peak loads. However, due to high costs, addition of pure ethanol would not be economical, but a pre-fermenter with an alcoholic fermentation process could be used instead. Fermentation of maize silage by yeasts results in ethanol production and the pre-fermenter content can be fed stepwise into the main fermenter as needed to increase biogas production (Refai et al. 2014c, Chapter 3). Furthermore, it was shown that the addition of ethanol does not cause any lasting damage to the microbial degradation process in biogas plants. Thus, ethanol appears to be the ideal processing additive to increase the biogas production.

II. Aims of the thesis

The production of biogas is based on the fermentation of organic matter in an oxygen-free environment and is a central element for renewable energy production. It is crucial to understand the production process in detail in order to obtain the maximum CH₄ yield. Complex microbial consortia are involved in biogas production in a temperature-controlled, gas-tight reactor. The microbial formation of biogas proceeds in four interdependent steps referred to as hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis. A complete identification and quantification of the microorganisms involved in biomethanisation is required to improve the understanding of the biogas production process. Currently, efforts for the analysis of the bacterial community in biogas plants are mainly based on 16S rRNA-analysis and metagenome sequencing. However, these methods do not allow a quantification of metabolic activities or capacities of the microorganisms involved in the different steps of the anaerobic degradation of organic matter. In fact, the analysis of metabolic activities could serve to monitor microbial processes, to detect process imbalances, and to locate the rate-limiting step during methanogenesis from organic raw materials.

The methods usually used for monitoring are based on engineering parameters which only allow a statement about the entire process of biogas production. Differential analysis of the individual steps of anaerobic degradation is not yet possible. However, detailed monitoring based on microbial performance parameters could contribute to the early detection of biochemical bottlenecks in the production of biogas and thus, prevent the biogas formation from process incidents. The important and controversial discussed issue which reaction or which degradation level represents the bottleneck or the rate-limiting step in the production of biogas has not been fully elucidated. However, the prevention or circumvention of metabolic bottlenecks could provide potential to increase the biochemical conversion of the organic substrates. This strategy could lead to an improvement of the quantity and the quality of biogas.

Therefore, the aims of this thesis are:

- the development of a rapid and simple test system for the quantification of microorganisms involved in anaerobic biogas formation by activity measurements of key enzymes. The activity tests should focus on a key enzyme of methanogenic archaea responsible for the CH₄ formation as most important step in anaerobic degradation of organic matter.

- the establishment of time- and cost-effective methods for the analysis of biogas sludge in the laboratory that mirror operating conditions of a full-scale biogas plant and enable to analyze influences of substrates or inhibitors on biogas formation within 24 h.

- the design of a semi-continuous small-scale test system for long-term analysis (maximal 14 d) of biogas sludge. This test system would allow the investigation of the development of process incidents and other long-term influences on the microbial community.

- the development of a detection system for the quantification of the metabolic potential in each individual microbial step of biogas production. This system could then be used for the improvement of strategies to identify bottlenecks in metabolic processes in biogas plants and to establish an early warning system for process incidents.

- the generation of a new, economic approach to increase the efficiency of the microbial degradation process and to obtain a significant rise in biogas yield.

III. Publications included in this thesis

- **<u>Refai S.</u>**, Berger S., Wassmann K., Deppenmeier U. (**2014a**) Quantification of methanogenic heterodisulfide reductase activity in biogas sludge. *J Biotechnol* **180**: 66-69.
- <u>Refai S.</u>, Wassmann K., Deppenmeier U. (**2014b**) Short-term effect of acetate and ethanol on methane formation in biogas sludge. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **98**: 7271-7280.
- <u>Refai S.</u>, Wassmann K., van Helmont S., Berger S., Deppenmeier U. (2014c) Increase of methane formation by ethanol addition during continuous fermentation of biogas sludge. *J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol* 41: 1763-1772.
- <u>Refai S.</u>, Berger S., Wassmann K., Hecht M., Dickhaus T., Deppenmeier U. (2017) BEAP profiles as rapid test system for status analysis and early detection of process incidents in biogas plants. *J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol,* accepted.

Chapter 1 - Quantification of methanogenic heterodisulfide reductase activity in biogas sludge

The fermentation of organic matter during biogas production is performed by a variety of microorganisms. The identification and quantification of prokaryotes involved in the decomposition of organic material is crucial to understand the entire degradation process in detail. So far, quantification of microorganisms is mainly conducted by sequence analysis of 16S rDNA genes or other marker genes, or is performed by metagenomic sequencing. In contrast, the quantification of the activity of metabolic pathways in complex microbial consortia is extremely challenging. So, a detailed biochemical and enzymatic characterization of the biopolymer conversion by measuring activities of key enzymes is important for a complete understanding of the complexity of the microbial community.

The present study describes a new approach to quantify methanogenic archaea by analyzing a specific enzymatic reaction. The enzyme targeted in this approach is the heterodisulfide reductase (Hdr). The Hdr is a key enzyme of the methanogenic metabolism and catalyzes the reduction of the heterodisulfide CoM-S-S-CoB to HS-CoM and HS-CoB (Thauer *et al.* 2008, Heiden *et al.* 1993, Heiden *et al.* 1994, Smith and Ingram-Smith 2007). The reduction of the heterodisulfide is the key reaction for the process of energy conservation in all methanogenic archaea. Since the enzyme has high specificity for CoM-S-S-CoB as substrate no side activities can influence the measurement (Hedderich and Thauer 1988). Thus, the Hdr activity can be used for the quantification of methanogenic archaea.

Different groups of methanogens in a biogas plant possess Hdr enzymes, which are located at different sites within the cells. In hydrogenotrophic methanogens the Hdr forms a complex with a hydrogenase and is localized in the cytoplasm (Thauer *et al.* 2008). In aceticlastic methanogens the Hdr is tightly bound to the cytoplasmic membrane via a membrane-integral subunit and functions as the terminal reductase of an energy conserving respiratory chain (Heiden *et al.* 1993, Heiden *et al.* 1994, Smith and Ingram-Smith 2007). These different localizations of the Hdr enable to test the metabolic activity of hydrogenotrophic and aceticlastic methanogens separately by the analysis of the Hdr activity in the cytoplasm or the cytoplasmic membrane fraction.

A rapid test system for the quantification of the Hdr activity in biogas sludge was established. The assay is based on the preparation of cell-free extract from biogas sludge followed by the separation of cytoplasmic- and membrane fractions. In the assay reduced viologen derivatives were used as electron donor and the heterodisulfide as specific electron acceptor, respectively. 26 % of the total Hdr activity was found in the membrane fraction representing aceticlastic methanogens whereas the cytoplasmic fraction contained 74 % of the total Hdr activity that derived from hydrogenotrophic methanogens.

Journal of Biotechnology 180 (2014) 66-69



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jbiotec



Short communication

Quantification of methanogenic heterodisulfide reductase activity in biogas sludge



Sarah Refai, Stefanie Berger, Kati Wassmann, Uwe Deppenmeier*

Institute of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 168 Meckenheimer Allee, 53115 Bonn, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 4 February 2014 Received in revised form 28 March 2014 Accepted 1 April 2014 Available online 8 April 2014

Keywords: Biogas plant Fermentation Methane Methanogenesis Methanogenic archaea

ABSTRACT

Methanogenic archaea are essential for the production of methane in biogas plants. Here we present enzymatic test systems for the analysis of the metabolic activity of methanogens based on the heterodisulfide reductase reaction. The first rapid test shows that heterodisulfide reductase can be detected in 1g of biogas sludge after sonication and centrifugation. The resulting cell lysate used reduced methylviologen for heterodisulfide reduction, a reaction that is specifically catalyzed by methanogenic heterodisulfide reductase. In the second test cell lysate from 60g of biogas sludge was separated by ultracentrifugation. Both, cytoplasmic membrane and cytoplasmic fractions revealed heterodisulfide reductase activity, indicating the presence of hydrogenotrophic and aceticlastic methanogens, respectively.

© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Biogas is a clean and renewable form of energy and is composed mainly of methane (CH₄; 48-65%) and carbon dioxide (CO₂; 36-41%) (Rasi et al., 2007). The production of biogas is based on the fermentation of organic matter in an oxygen-free environment and is performed in biogas plants that generate electric power and heat. Complex microbial consortia are involved in the decomposition of organic material and the formation of biogas. Microbial activity includes cleavage of complex organic polymers and the degradation of the monomers to organic acids (mainly butyric acid, propionic acid and acetic acid) and to a lesser extent to alcohols (ethanol, propanol). Subsequently, syntrophic bacteria convert these compounds to acetic acid, hydrogen and carbon dioxide, which are used to form CH₄ via the CO₂-reducing (hydrogenotrophic) or the acetate-utilizing (aceticlastic) pathway of methanogenesis. Methane forming microorganisms belong to the domain Archaea and are one of the key players for biogas production. They produce methane as their major metabolic end product and combine the pathway of methanogenesis with a unique energy conserving

E-mail address: udeppen@uni-bonn.de (U. Deppenmeier).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2014.04.001 0168-1656/© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved system for ATP synthesis and growth (Welte and Deppenmeier, 2013).

Methanogenesis finally results in the oxidation of two thiolcontaining cofactors (HS-CoM and HS-CoB), leading to the formation of the heterodisulfide (CoM-S-S-CoB) that contains an intermolecular disulfide bridge. The enzyme that reduces this compound is referred to as heterodisulfide reductase (HDR) (Hedderich et al., 1989) and is one of the key enzymes in all methanogenic pathways. In aceticlastic methanogens that use acetate as substrate HDR is tightly bound to the cytoplasmic membrane via a membrane integral cytochrome b subunit and functions as the terminal reductase of an energy conserving respiratory chain. In hydrogenotrophic methanogens that use $H_2 + CO_2$ as substrates the enzyme is found in the cytoplasm and forms a complex with a hydrogenase. In the course of H2-dependent CoM-S-S-CoB reduction reduced ferredoxin is formed in hydrogenotrophic methanogens as a powerful reducing agent for CO₂ fixation (Thauer et al., 2008). Hence, the HDR is a central enzyme in all methanogens and is essential for the energy metabolism of methanogenic archaea. The enzyme is very specific for CoM-S-S-CoB as substrate; no other disulfides (cystin, oxidized glutathione etc.) are reduced by the enzyme (Hedderich and Thauer, 1988). HDR-like proteins are also found in many Archaea and Bacteria. However, these enzymes do not react with CoM-S-S-CoB (Grein et al., 2013; Venceslau et al., 2014). Hence, the methanogenic HDR in combination with its substrate CoM-S-S-CoB is an ideal candidate for quantification of the metabolic activity of methanogens in complex microbial communities.

Abbreviations: BV, benzylviologen; BV_{red}, reduced BV; CoM-S-S-CoB, disulfide from HS-CoM and HS-CoB; HDR, heterodisulfide reductase; HS-CoB, N-7mercaptoheptanoyl-L-threonine phosphate; HS-CoM, 2-mercaptoethanesulfonate; MV, methylviologen; MV_{red}, reduced MV.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 228 735590; fax: +49 228 737576.

To our knowledge HDR activity has not been studied in biogas sludge. In general, the development of novel sensors in biogas plants is desirable to quantify the activities of key enzymes by simple detection systems. Sludge used for this work was obtained from a full-scale biogas plant near Cologne (Germany). The plant operated at 40 °C and was fed primarily with maize silage, cattle manure and poultry dry manure producing a constant power of 540–580 kWh. Important physico-chemical parameters of the full scale biogas plant were analyzed every two weeks during the sampling period indicating average values for pH (8.0), total inorganic carbonate (22 g CaCO₃/l), volatile organic acids (4.5 g HAc_{eq}/l), and acetic acid (0.8 g/l). Samples were collected in sealed plastic bottles and stored at 4 °C until use. The method for the preparation of cell extract from biogas sludge is described in the legend of Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Dependency of protein content and CoM-S-S-CoB reduction in cell free extract prepared from biogas sludge. Solid squares: assays containing CoM-S-S-CoB; open squares: assays containing H_2O instead of CoM-S-S-CoB. Inset: Time course of HDR activity in cell free extract: (1) 0 µg protein, (2) 10 µg protein, (3) $20\,\mu g$ protein, (4) $30\,\mu g$ protein, (5) $40\,\mu g$ protein. All preparation steps were performed in an anaerobic chamber filled with N₂/H₂ (98/2%; Coy Laboratory Products, Michigan, USA). 1 g of biogas sludge was mixed with 1 ml anaerobic carbonate $buffer\,(3\,mM\,KH_2PO_4,11.5\,mM\,K_2HPO_4,126\,mM\,NH_4HCO_3,1.3\,mM\,MgCl_2\times 6\,H_2O,$ $12\,mM$ NaHCO_3, $0.1\,mM$ CaCO_3, $40\,mM\,K_2CO_3,\,5\,mM$ dithioerythritol, $1\,ml/L$ trace element solution (SL6, Pfennig and Lippert, 1966), 1 ml/L vitamin solution (et al., 1964), 1 μ g/ml resazurin, pH 8.0) and cells were disrupted on ice using an ultrasonic homogenizer (Sonoplus HD 2070; Bandelin, Germany) with an operating cycle of 5 min. The generator was running and resting in intervals of 0.5 s. Subsequently the sonicated extract was centrifuged at $14,500 \times g$ for 5 min and the supernatant was transferred to a 3 ml glass vial and sealed with a rubber stopper. HDR activity was assayed under N2 at 40 °C in 1 ml of 40 mM potassium-phosphate buffer (K-phosphate buffer) containing 5 mM dithioerythritol pH 7.0, in 1.6 ml glass cuvettes closed with rubber stoppers and preflushed with $N_2.$ After addition of 20 μl 100 mM MV, 1 µl of 90 mM titanium(III) citrate (Hedderich and Thauer, 1988) was added to form MV_{red} (0.15 mM). Subsequently 2.5–20 μl of the extract was added and the cuvettes were incubated for additional 5 min until a stable baseline was reached. The reaction was started by the addition of CoM-S-S-CoB to a final concentration of 280 $\mu M.$ Change of absorbance was monitored photometrically at 604 nm (ε_{MV} = 13.6 mM⁻¹ × cm⁻¹). According to Fry et al. (1982) the concentration of MV_{red} (0.15 mM) and MV (26.7 mM) in our test system resulted in a redox potential of -0.30 V. This calculation is in accordance with the finding that the production of H₂ from MV_{red} was not observed during CoM-S-S-CoB reduction (not shown). CoM-S-S-CoB was synthesized according to Welte and Deppenmeier (2011). Protein content was determined by the method of Bradford (1976) using the Bio-Rad microassay.1 U enzyme activity refers to the reduction of 1 μ mol CoM-S-S-CoB per min. The values presented in Fig. 1 represent the average activities of preparations from five different samples of the full-scale biogas plant (samples taken between Nov. 2013 and Jan. 2014). Standard deviation is indicated by error bars.

2. Rapid test for quantification of HDR in biogas sludge

In aqueous solutions, methylviologen (MV) accepts electrons from titanium(III) citrate in a reversible reaction and turns to an intensive blue color. When CoM-S-S-CoB was added to the reaction mixture containing cell extract the blue colored reduced methylviologen (MV_{red}) was oxidized by HDR to the colorless form. In this test system MV_{red} replaces the natural electron donors of HDR, namely H₂ in hydrogenotrophic methanogens and reduced ferredoxin in aceticlastic methanogens. Electrons from MV_{red} are probably directly transferred to the active site of the HDR and are used to reductively cleave the disulfide bond in CoM-S-S-CoB. The time course of CoM-S-S-CoB reduction as catalyzed by the cell free extract obtained from sonicated biogas sludge is shown in Fig. 1 (inset). The HDR showed constant activity over 500 s as evident from the decrease of absorbance at 604 nm due to oxidation of $\mathrm{MV}_{\mathrm{red}}$ and CoM-S-S-CoM reduction. The specific activity was $64 \pm 17 \text{ mU} \times \text{mg protein}^{-1}$ (1 U = 1 μ mol CoM-S-S-CoB reduced per min). Total activity from 1 g of sludge was 0.40 \pm 0.08 U. No reaction was observed when CoB-S-S-CoM was replaced by H₂O or when titanium(III) citrate, MV or extract were omitted from the assay. It was also evident that an increase of the amount of extract between 10 and 80 µg protein/assay led to a linear increase in HDR activity (Fig. 1) indicating a direct relationship between enzyme activity and protein concentration.

3. Detection of aceticlastic methanogens

As mentioned above the HDR of hydrogenotrophic and aceticlastic methanogens are located in the cytoplasm and the cytoplasmic membrane, respectively. The different localization within the cells allows to separate the proteins from the sludge into the two cellular fractions and to test whether metabolic activity of hydrogenotrophic and aceticlastic methanogens can be differentiated by the analysis of the enzymatic activity of HDR. For this purpose 60g biogas sludge was used for anaerobic preparation of cytoplasmic membranes and cytoplasmic fractions as described in the legend of Fig. 2. Using MV_{red} as electron donor $84\pm14\,m\text{U/g}$ sludge or 26% of total HDR activity was found in the membrane preparation representing aceticlastic methanogenesis that depends on the activity of the membrane bound HDR. The cytoplasmic fraction contained $237 \pm 40 \text{ mU/g}$ sludge or 74% of total activity representing the soluble HDR of hydrogenotrophic methanogens. The specific activities were 0.37 ± 0.12 and $0.23\pm0.11\,U\times mg\,protein^{-1}$ in the membrane and cytoplasmic fraction, respectively. The total activities of the membrane and the cytoplasmic fraction sum up to 0.32 U/g sludge and were in the same range compared to the total HDR activity found in the cell free lysate (0.4U/g sludge, see above). Hence, there was almost no loss or deactivation of HDR in the course of the steps for the preparation of membrane and cytoplasmic fractions. The relative amount of archaea (representing all methanogens) and aceticlastic methanogens (genera Methanosarcina and Methanosaeta) was also tested by the technique of qPCR using total DNA isolated from biogas sludge (Suppl. Table 1). It was found that 13-24% of all archaeal organisms belong to the genus Methanosarcina, Methanosaeta sp. were not detected. Hence, 76-87% of all archaea can be classified as hydrogenotrophic methanogens. The values are in agreement to the relative amount of HDR activities involved in aceticlastic methanogenesis (membrane-bound HDR) and hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (cytoplasmic HDR) as described above.

Up to now the activity of purified HDR or HDR found in subcellular preparations was measured using reduced benzylviologen (BV_{red}) and CoM-S-S-CoB (Welte and Deppenmeier, 2011).



68

Fig. 2. Quantification of HDR activity in cytoplasmic membranes and soluble cytoplasmic fractions. Gray squares: HDR activity of cytoplasmic membranes; dashed squares: HDR activity of cytoplasmic fraction. The electron donor used for CoM-S-S-CoB reduction is indicated. The results represent the average HDR-activities of preparations from six different samples of the full-scale biogas plant (samples taken between Nov. 2013 and Jan. 2014). Standard deviation is indicated by error bars. Preparation of cytoplasm and washed membranes: All preparation steps were performed in an anaerobic chamber (98% N2/2% H2). 60 g of biogas sludge was intensively mixed with 50 ml anaerobic carbonate buffer. The liquid was pressed through a microstrainer with a pore diameter of 0.1 mm. The remaining solid material on top of the microstrainer was applied to a cotton cloth to press out remaining liquid, which was then also filtered through the microstrainer. The filtered preparation were combined and analyzed for methane production in comparison to untreated biogas sludge. It was found that about 85% of the total CH4 forming activity remained in the filtered preparation indicating that the vast majority of methanogenic archaea was collected by this procedure. Subsequently, the filtered preparation was sonicated for 20 min as described in the legend of Fig. 1. The lysate was applied onto a 70% w/v sucrose cushion and ultracentrifuged ($120,000 \times g$, 45 min, 4 ° C). The cytoplasmic supernatant was separated and stored on ice. The membrane pellet on top of the sucrose cushion was carefully transferred to another centrifugation bottle and was washed with K-phosphate buffer by ultracentrifugation (120,000 \times g, 45 min, 4°C). The supernatants of both ultracentrifugation steps were combined and an aliquot was checked by GC-MS for the presence of phospholipids (Derichs et al. 2014) as indicator for remaining cytoplasmic membranes. The experiments showed that the concentration of phospholipids in the cytoplasm was below the detection limit. The resulting pellet of the second ultracentrifugation step was suspended in 1 ml K-phosphate buffer and referred to as cytoplasmic membranes. The preparations were transferred to serum bottles, sealed with a rubber stopper and stored on ice until use. Cytoplasmic and membrane fraction were analyzed with regard to the presence of soluble proteins using a NADH dependent test system for the detection of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) that reduced pyruvate to lactate. It became evident that the membrane fraction was essentially free of LDH activity (>1 mU/g sludge) whereas the cytoplasmic fraction revealed a total LDH activity of 29 ± 9 mU/g sludge. MV_{red} dependent CoM-S-S-CoB reduction was assayed as described in the legend of Fig. 1. For the detection of BV_{red} dependent HDR activity 25 μl 25 mM BV was added to the reaction mixture, BV was reduced by 1 µl of 80 mM titanium(III) citrate leading to a final absorbance of about 2 (ε_{BV} = 8.6 cm⁻¹ × mM⁻¹) at 578 nm

Therefore, the presence of HDR in our test system was also measured with BV_{red} as electron donor instead of MV_{red} . However, the sensitivity with BV_{red} was about 4 to 5-fold lower indicated by total HDR activities of $21 \pm 6 \text{ mU/g}$ sludge in the membrane fraction and $50 \pm 18 \text{ mU/g}$ sludge in the cytoplasmic preparation, respectively.

The importance of aceticlastic methanogens during biogas production is evident from the comparison of HDR activities in pure methanogenic cultures and biogas sludge. We found that the specific BV_{red} dependent CoM-S-S-CoB reduction was $0.14 \pm 0.04 \,\mu$ mol × min⁻¹ mg protein⁻¹ when membrane preparations from biogas sludge microbial communities were analyzed. Taking into account the specific activity of the purified HDR of 24–38 U/mg protein from the aceticlastic methanogen *Ms. barkeri* the relative amount of HDR can be estimated to be 0.4–0.6% of all membrane bound proteins in biogas sludge. (Heiden et al., 1993, 1994). Until now the quantification of aceticlastic methanogens was mainly conducted by sequence analysis of microbial 16S rRNA

S. Refai et al. / Journal of Biotechnology 180 (2014) 66-69

and other marker genes or by metagenomic approaches (Bergmann et al., 2010; Hanreich et al., 2013). Here we show that the measurement of enzymatic activity of HDR leads to direct evidence that aceticlastic methanogenesis plays an important role in acetate conversion in the selected biogas plant.

Currently the biogas production process is controlled by the detection of several physico-chemical parameters. These parameters (e.g. dry matter, volatile solids, pH, buffer capacity, volatile fatty acids, trace elements, NH_3/NH_4^+) have been the subject of numerous research projects and enable the operator of a biogas plant to analyze the fermentation process. However, a detailed biochemical and enzymatic characterization of the biopolymer conversion to CH_4 and CO_2 in biogas plants by measuring activities of key enzymes is still missing. Here we show that the direct analysis of HDR activity in biogas sludge is possible. The test system may be suitable to detect changes of metabolic activity of methanogens as a consequence of disorders of the biogas production process. Thus, it might be possible to take early action before it comes to serious process failures of the entire system.

Acknowledgements

We thank Elisabeth Schwab for technical assistance and Cornelia Welte for critical reading of the manuscript. This work was supported by funds from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (Grant De488/10-1) and from Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF, project no. 03SF0421A).

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary material related to this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2014.04.001.

References

- Bergmann, I., Mundt, K., Sontag, M., Baumstark, I., Nettmann, E., Klocke, M., 2010. Influence of DNA isolation on Q-PCR-based quantification of methanogenic Archaea in biogas. Systematic and. Appl. Microbiol. 33, 78–84.
- Bradford, M.M., 1976. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal. Biochem. 72, 248–254.
- Derichs, J., Kämpfer, P., Lipski, A., 2014. Pedobacter nutrimenti sp. nov., isolated from chilled food. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., http://dx.doi.org/10.1099/ ijs.0.058677-0 (in press).
- Fry, I.V., Cammack, P., Hucklesby, D.P., Hewitt, E.J., 1982. Kinetics of leaf nitrite reductase with methyl viologen and ferredoxin under controlled redox conditions. Biochem, J. 205, 235–238.
- Grein, F., Ramos, A.R., Venceslau, S.S., Pereira, I.A.C., 2013. Unifying concepts in anaerobic respiration: insights from dissimilatory sulfur metabolism. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1827, 145–160.
- Hanreich, A., Schimpf, U., Zakrzewskic, M., Schlüter, A., Benndorf, D., Heyerd, R., Rappe, E., Pühler, A., Reichl, U., Klocke, M., 2013. Metagenome and metaproteome analyses of microbial communities in mesophilic biogas-producing anaerobic batch fermentations indicate concerted plant carbohydrate degradation. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 36, 330–338.
- Hedderich, R., Thauer, R.K., 1988. Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum contains a soluble enzyme system that specifically catalyzes the reduction of the heterodisulfide of coenzyme M and 7-mercaptoheptanoylthreonine phosphate with H₂. FEBS Lett. 234, 223–227.
- Hedderich, R., Berkessel, A., Thauer, R.K., 1989. Catalytic properties of the heterodisulfide reductase involved in the final step of methanogenesis. FEBS Lett. 255, 67–71.
- Heiden, S., Hedderich, R., Setzke, E., Thauer, R.K., 1993. Purification of a cytochrome b containing H₂: heterodisulfide oxidoreductase complex from membranes of *Methanosarcina barkeri*. Eur. J. Biochem. 213, 529–535.
- Heiden, S., Hedderich, R., Setzke, E., Thauer, R.K., 1994. Purification of a two-subunit cytochrome-b-containing heterodisulfide reductase from methanol-grown *Methanosarcina barkeri*. Eur. J. Biochem. 221, 855–861.
- Methanosarcina barkeri. Eur. J. Biochem. 221, 855–861.
 Pfennig, N., Lippert, K.D., 1966. Über das Vitamin B12-Bedürfnis phototropher Schwefelbakterien. Arch. Microbiol. 55, 245–256.
- Rasi, S., Veijanen, A., Rintala, J., 2007. Trace compounds of biogas from different biogas production plants. Energy 32, 1375–1380.
- Thauer, R.K., Kaster, A.K., Seedorf, H., Buckel, W., Hedderich, R., 2008. Methanogenic archaea: ecologically relevant differences in energy conservation. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 6, 579–591.

S. Refai et al. / Journal of Biotechnology 180 (2014) 66-69

- Venceslau, S.S., Stockdreher, Y., Dahl, C., Pereira, I.A., 2014. The "bacterial het-erodisulfide" DsrC is a key protein in dissimilatory sulfur metabolism. Biochim. Biophys. Acta (Epub ahead of print) http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/24662917
- Welte, C., Deppenmeier, U., 2013. Bioenergetics and anaerobic respiratory chains of aceticlastic methanogens. Biochim. Biophys. Acta (Epub ahead of print) http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24333786
- Welte, C., Deppenmeier, U., 2011. Proton translocation in methanogens. In: Rosen-zweig, A., Ragsdale, S. (Eds.), Methods in Methane Metabolism. Meth. Enzymol. 494, 257–280.
 Wolin, E.A., Wolfe, R.S., Wolin, M.J., 1964. Viologen dye inhibition of methane formation by *Methanobacillus omelianskii*. J. Biotechnol. 87, 993–998.

Sludge ^{a)}	Primer	Ct	Ratio	Ms.	
			(Archaea/Ms.)	(%)	
Apr. 2013	Methanosarcina	31.5 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.6	21.9 ± 2.5	
	Archaea	29.3 ± 0.2			
Oct. 2013	Methanosarcina	30.6 ± 0.8	7.1 ± 1.5	14.6 ± 3.0	
	Archaea	27.8 ± 1.1			
Nov. 2013	Methanosarcina	21.8 ± 1.0	4.4 ± 1.2	24.0 ± 6.6	
	Archaea	19.7 ± 0.6			
Jan. 2014	Methanosarcina	22.5 ± 0.6	8.2 ± 2.9	13.6 ± 2.9	
	Archaea	19.6 ± 0.3			

<u>Supplementary Tab. 1:</u> Determination of the relative amount of archaeal organisms versus members of the genus *Methanosarcina* in biogas sludge

a) Sludge was obtained from the model biogas plant as described in materials and methods

DNA was extracted from 0.3 g biogas sludge with the NucleoSpin® Soil DNA purification kit (Macherey-Nagel GmbH & Co. KG, Düren, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions (with buffer SL1). The relative amount of methanogenic archaea and members of the genus Methanosarcina was quantified with specific primer pairs for the amplification of genes encoding the 16S rRNA (archaea for: GYGCASCAGKCGMGAAW, archaea rev: TTACCGCGGCKGCTG al., ms for CGTGCCCACTGTTACCAGC, (Glöckner et 2012). ms rev: CCCTTTTCAGGGGAGGAC). Methanosaeta sp. were not detected. For relative quantification by qPCR, the FastStart Universal SYBR Green Master mix (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions with reaction volumes of 25 µL and primer concentrations of 0.2 pmol/µL. Different dilutions of the sludge DNA preparations were used. qPCR was performed with the iCycler Thermal Cycler (BioRad, Munich, Germany) with an initial denaturation at 95 °C for 15 minutes (activation of FastStart Tag DNA Polymerase) and 40 cycles of DNA denaturation (95 °C, 15 s), Primer annealing (55 °C, 30 s) and DNA elongation (72 °C, 30 s).

Chapter 2 - Short-term effect of acetate and ethanol on methane formation in biogas sludge

The complex process of biogas production is catalyzed by an anaerobic microbial degradation chain. It has been shown that the degradation of organic material in many agricultural biogas plants does not run at its maximum capacity. This leads to an inefficient use of resources and to financial losses for plant operators. Consequently, it is important to perform biogas production more efficient. Many different factors for process optimization have been studied such as temperature, pH value, particle size of the substrate, the addition of trace elements as well as the recirculation of sludge material (Izumi *et al.* 2010, Elliott and Mahmood 2007, Carrère *et al.* 2010, Carlsson *et al.* 2012, Sharma *et al.* 1988, Jain and Mattiasson 1998, Umetsu *et al.* 1992, Lettinga et al. 1980, Wilkie and Colleran 1986, Sanders and Bloodgood 1965). However, all these factors did not significantly contribute to an increase in efficiency of biogas production. For a more precise and targeted optimization of biogas formation, it was crucial to understand the biological processes during anaerobic degradation of organic material.

For full understanding of the microbial degradation process in a biogas reactor, fast and efficient analytic methods are required. Moreover, the set-up of lab-scale reactors used for these methods had to mirror the conditions of a full-operating biogas plant. Therefore, biogas sludge was incubated in batch reactors and rapid analyzation methods were established. The reactors displayed stable biogas production rates, CH₄ concentrations, pH values, and acetate concentrations within 24 h and allowed the analysis of various factors influencing the biogas production process.

The addition of different intermediates of the anaerobic degradation chain enabled the identification of the metabolic capacity of each group of microorganisms involved in biogas formation. CH₄ formation was measured after supplementation with propionate, butyrate, or ethanol as substrates and was compared to control reactor without the addition of external substrates. Metabolic functionality of methanogens was determined by supplementation with acetate, as well as H₂ + CO₂. The results demonstrated significantly increased CH₄ formation when biogas plants were supplemented with acetate or ethanol. In contrast, all other analyzed fermentation products such as propionate, butyrate, or H₂ led only to slightly increased CH₄ formation rates.

These results indicate that aceticlastic methanogenic archaea and ethanol-oxidizing syntrophic bacteria do not constitute metabolic bottlenecks during biogas formation, respectively. In contrast, aceticlastic methanogenesis and syntrophic ethanol oxidation enable the optimization of biogas production because of their unused metabolic capacity during normal operation of a biogas plant.

Appl Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 98:7271–7280 DOI 10.1007/s00253-014-5820-6

BIOENERGY AND BIOFUELS

Short-term effect of acetate and ethanol on methane formation in biogas sludge

Sarah Refai · Kati Wassmann · Uwe Deppenmeier

Received: 28 March 2014 / Revised: 8 May 2014 / Accepted: 9 May 2014 / Published online: 7 June 2014 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2014

Abstract Biochemical processes in biogas plants are still not fully understood. Especially, the identification of possible bottlenecks in the complex fermentation processes during biogas production might provide potential to increase the performance of biogas plants. To shed light on the question which group of organism constitutes the limiting factor in the anaerobic breakdown of organic material, biogas sludge from different mesophilic biogas plants was examined under various conditions. Therefore, biogas sludge was incubated and analyzed in anaerobic serum flasks under an atmosphere of N_2/CO_2 . The batch reactors mirrored the conditions and the performance of the full-scale biogas plants and were suitable test systems for a period of 24 h. Methane production rates were compared after supplementation with substrates for syntrophic bacteria, such as butyrate, propionate, or ethanol, as well as with acetate and H₂+CO₂ as substrates for methanogenic archaea. Methane formation rates increased significantly by 35 to 126 % when sludge from different biogas plants was supplemented with acetate or ethanol. The stability of important process parameters such as concentration of volatile fatty acids and pH indicate that ethanol and acetate increase biogas formation without affecting normally occurring fermentation processes. In contrast to ethanol or acetate, other fermentation products such as propionate, butyrate, or H₂ did not result in increased methane formation rates. These results provide evidence that aceticlastic methanogenesis and ethanol-oxidizing syntrophic bacteria are not the limiting factor during biogas formation, respectively, and that biogas plant optimization is possible with special focus on methanogenesis from acetate.

Sarah Refai and Kati Wassmann contributed equally to this work.

S. Refai • K. Wassmann • U. Deppenmeier (⊠) Institute for Microbiology and Biotechnology, University of Bonn, Meckenheimer Allee 168, 53115 Bonn, Germany e-mail: udeppen@uni-bonn.de **Keywords** Biogas plant · Aceticlastic methanogenesis · Anaerobic digestion · Biogas production · Syntrophic bacteria

Introduction

One of the most important renewable energy sources is biomass from energy crops and organic waste that can be used for the production of bioethanol or biogas. The production of biogas, which mainly consists of methane (48-65 %) and carbon dioxide (36-41 %) (Rasi et al. 2007), is based on anaerobic fermentation of organic matter and is performed in biogas plants that generate electric power and heat. Until 2012, more than 7,300 biogas plants were operating in Germany alone with an impressive output of approx. 3,200 MW (Fachverband Biogas e.V. 2012), which corresponds to the generation of energy of two to three nuclear power plants. This illustrates today's relevance of biogas as energy source and, in this regard, the need for research aiming at maximum performance of biogas plants. For their economic success, technical optimization together with an increased efficiency is crucial. The yield of every biogas plant depends on the composition and quantities of the respective substrates, which are fed to the reactor. Apart from plant silage, e.g., from maize, which is the major substrate for most biogas plants, cattle manure, dry chicken feces or other animal feces, and stillage from alcoholic fermentation of maize or other crops are often used as substrate for biogas production. Not only substrate composition but also system-dependent parameters such as volume load and the respective hydraulic retention time, pH, and temperature constitute the resulting substrate-specific methane yields.

During the last years, several attempts were made to find suitable methods for the improvement of biogas production. The optimization of process parameters such as temperature (Umetsu et al. 1992; Maurya et al. 1994; Takizawa et al.

7272

Appl Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 98:7271-7280

1994), pH (Jain and Mattiasson 1998), or particle size (Sharma et al. 1988) of the substrate was a successful approach that contributed to an increase in the efficiency of biogas plants. Improvement of the nutritional supply of prokaryotes (Lettinga et al. 1980; Wilkie and Colleran 1986) by using different additives and manipulating the feed proportions (Sanders and Bloodgood 1965; Nyns 1986) as well as recirculating digested slurry back into the reactor and modification in the design of existing biogas plants are other possibilities to enhance gas production in biogas plants. Although a multiplicity of suggestions for the increase of biomethanation has been made in literature, there is still room for improvement of methane production. For a more precise and targeted optimization, it is crucial to understand the biological processes during biogas production. Emphasis should therefore be placed on the understanding of metabolic processes of the organisms involved in biomethanation and, in this respect, in the identification of metabolic bottlenecks.

Many groups of microorganisms are involved in the formation of biogas, which proceeds in four interdependent substeps. In the first step, complex organic polymers are cleaved into monomeric compounds (hydrolysis). These products (sugars, amino acids, purines, pyrimidines, fatty acids, and glycerol) are degraded in the subsequent fermentation (acidogenesis) to organic acids (mainly butyric acid, propionic acid, and acetic acid) and, to a lesser extent, to alcohols (ethanol and propanol). Byproducts are hydrogen and carbon dioxide. In the acetic acid phase (acetogenesis), the remaining compounds are converted to acetic acid, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide. These products are finally used by methanogenic archaea to form methane and carbon dioxide (methanogenesis). Methanogenesis is conducted by two groups of archaea: Aceticlastic methanogens conserve energy by the degradation of acetate, and hydrogenotrophic methanogens convert H₂+CO₂ to methane.

The aim of this study was to see whether methanogens constitute the bottleneck in the process of biogas production. To answer this question, biogas sludge was supplemented with substrates for syntrophic bacteria, such as butyrate, propionate, or ethanol, as well as with substrates used by methanogenic archaea, and methane production rates were compared. Results indicated that there is capacity to further increase methane yields in biogas plants by adding substrates such as ethanol or acetate.

Materials and methods

If not otherwise indicated, biogas sludge used in this work was obtained from a full-scale biogas plant, which was used as a model plant to analyze the effect of ethanol and acetate on methane formation. The plant is located near Cologne (Germany) and was operated with a temperature of 40 °C.

Deringer

The main feeding substrates were maize silage, cattle manure, and poultry dry manure producing a constant power of 540– 580 kWh. Samples were collected in sealed plastic bottles and stored at 4 °C up to 2 weeks until use. For batch experiments, 20 g of original biogas plant sludge was transferred into 120-mL serum flasks in an anaerobic chamber with an atmosphere of N₂/H₂ (98/2 %) and sealed with a rubber stopper. The cultures were subsequently gassed for 10 min with N₂/ CO₂ (50/50 %, 1 atm). Subsequently, batch fermenters were supplemented with different substrates: sodium acetate/acetic acid (25–100 mM, pH 7.9), ethanol (25–100 mM), butyrate (50 mM), propionate (50 mM), or H₂/CO₂ (50/50 %, 1 atm). Biogas sludge and substrates were mixed by shaking. Equal amounts of H₂O were added to control flasks. Incubation took place in a shaking incubator at 40 °C and 200 rpm.

Additionally, beer was tested as supplement. To determine whether it shows the same effect on methane production as pure ethanol, batch cultures were mixed with beer (Hefe-Weißbier, alcohol content of 5.5 vol%) to a final ethanol concentration of 20 mM. To reveal a possible effect of beer ingredients other than alcohol on biogas production, alcohol was eliminated from the beer by lyophilization. The lyophilizate was suspended in water and added to control fermenters. Fermenters supplemented with pure ethanol served as further controls.

Methane production was determined by correlation of overpressure and concentration of CH₄ in the headspace of the serum flasks. Overpressure was analyzed with a gastight glass syringe, and the respective methane concentration was determined by analyzing 20 µL samples from the headspace by gas chromatography (GC, PerkinElmer Clarus® 480, Rascon FFAP column 25 m 0.25 micron, PerkinElmer, Waltham, USA) with a flame ionization detector (FID). Measurements were performed with a column temperature of 120 °C, an injector temperature of 150 °C, and a detector temperature of 250 °C with N₂ as carrier gas. For methane yield calculations, a 10 % methane standard (90 % argon) was analyzed before and after every series of measurements. The values were normalized to standard conditions and were used to calculate the methane formation rates which are specified as micromole of CH₄ per gram sludge (wet weight) per hour $(\mu mol g^{-1} h^{-1}).$

For determination of acetate concentrations by GC, samples were prepared as follows: 1 g biogas sludge was centrifuged for 2 min at 12,840g. Two hundred fifty microliters of the supernatant was mixed with 50 μ L Carrez solution I (300 g/L zinc sulfate heptahydrate), 50 μ L Carrez solution II (150 g/L potassium hexacyanoferrate(II) trihydrate) (Carrez 1908), 150 μ L H₂O, and 50 μ L 2N HCl. The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 10 min and subsequently centrifuged for 2 min at 12,840g. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.45 μ m nitrocellulose filter (Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany), and 1 μ L was injected to a GC (Shimadzu GC-

Appl Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 98:7271–7280

14A, Shimadzu, Duisburg, Germany with Agilent Chromosorb 101 column, Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA) with N₂ as carrier gas and a constant column temperature of 170 °C. Injector and FID detector temperatures were set to 220 °C, respectively. Calibration curves were generated with sodium acetate standard solutions, which were processed according to the sludge samples. Determination of organic dry weight (oDM), volatile fatty acids (FOS), and total inorganic carbon (TAC) was performed as described in German Standard DIN 12879 and according to Nordmann (1977), respectively.

Results

Analysis of biogas formation under laboratory conditions does not necessarily reflect conditions of full-scale reactors. To minimize this problem, we established a test system with process conditions similar to those in the full-scale biogas plant. Twenty grams of biogas sludge, which was obtained from the model full-scale biogas plant with a process temperature of 40 °C and fed by maize silage, cattle manure, and dried chicken feces as substrates, was incubated at 40 °C and analyzed over a period of 26 h in anaerobic serum flasks without adding any supplements. Methane production rates, acetate concentrations, and pH values were chosen as indicator parameters for the determination of the performance of the test system. As shown in Fig. 1, methane production rates of 1.7 $\mu mol~g^{-1}~h^{-1}$ were observed during the first 2 h of incubation. Within the following hours, methane production rates increased to $2.25\pm0.04 \ \mu mol \ g^{-1} \ h^{-1}$ and stayed constant for 24 h. After 26 h, the methane formation rate slowly decreased to 2.0 µmol g⁻¹ h⁻¹ probably because easily

fermentable substrates became limiting. The full-scale biogas plant, from which the sludge was obtained, comprised a fermenter volume of 2,800 m³ and produced approx. 140 m³ methane per hour, which corresponded to a methane production rate of 2.23 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹. The methane production rates of the small-scale batch fermenters during 24 h were therefore equal to those of the full-scale biogas plant, and lower methane yields during the first hours of incubation could be assigned to a slow warm-up of the cooled biogas sludge that was stored at 4 °C. However, not only methane production but also physicochemical parameters such as pH and the concentration of small chain organic acids are of great importance for the performance of a biogas plant. Therefore, acetate concentrations and pH values were also measured in our small-scale batch reactors (Fig. 1). While acetate concentrations varied between 2 and 20 mM in the full-scale plant, acetate concentrations of approx. 12 mM were determined in the small-scale batch fermenters in the beginning of incubation. After 15 h, acetate concentrations decreased by ~50 % to 6 mM, indicating the metabolic activity of methane-producing organisms in the sludge. The pH values of the full-scale plant between 7.8 and 8.0 also matched with the pH values measured in the small-scale batch fermenters (7.7-7.9). These results revealed that the batch reactors mirrored the conditions and the performance of the full-scale biogas plant and were suitable test systems for a period of 24 h. Further advantages of the smallscale batch fermenters were the capability to run dozens of reactors with different conditions in comparison with controls at a time. Statistical relevance of data was therefore assured by a range of technical and biological replicates.

To investigate whether it is possible to increase methane production under the given process conditions and to get an

Fig. 1 Performance of batch reactors filled with biogas sludge from a full-scale operating biogas plant. Methane production rates (*bars*) and acetate concentrations (*squares*) of 20 g biogas sludge were determined during an incubation period of 26 h by GC analyses. The experiments were conducted in triplicate and repeated at least five times using different sludge samples. The respective standard deviations are indicated by *error bars. Black triangles* indicate pH value



Springer

7274

idea about the potential bottleneck during biogas production, batch reactors containing 20 g biogas sludge were supplemented with metabolic intermediates of various groups of prokaryotes involved in anaerobic degradation of organic matter. Methane formation rates were determined after 24 h of incubation at 40 °C in serum bottles. Control cultures revealed a methane production rate of 2.2 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹, which was in the range of methane production rates reached in the full-scale biogas plant (Fig. 2). Addition of 50 mM propionate or butyrate, which were chosen as substrates for fatty acidoxidizing, fermenting bacteria (syntrophic bacteria), did not lead to significantly increased methane production rates compared to control fermenters. Hence, it is obvious that the metabolism of the fatty acid-oxidizing bacteria was already operating at full capacity so that biogas production could not be enhanced by the addition of propionate or butyrate. Similar results were obtained when H₂+CO₂ as substrates for hydrogenotrophic methanogens were added (1 atm; 80 % $H_2/20$ % CO₂). The resulting methane production rates of 2.2 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹ were similar to those of the control reactors (Fig. 2). In contrast, an almost twofold increase of methane production rate from 2.2 to 4.2 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹ was achieved after addition of 100 mM acetate as a substrate of aceticlastic methanogens. The simultaneous addition of acetate and H₂+ CO₂ resulted in no further increase in the methane formation rate compared to the increase with only acetate. Thus, in contrast to fatty acid-oxidizing bacteria and hydrogenotrophic methanogenic archaea, it is tempting to speculate that the metabolic activity of aceticlastic methanogens was not working to full capacity with the substrates naturally present in biogas sludge, and biomethanation could be enhanced with augmented feeding of acetate. A similar effect was observed by supplementation with ethanol, which is converted to acetate by ethanol-oxidizing bacteria. Addition of 100 mM ethanol enhanced methane production by nearly 120 % compared to control reactors, resulting in a methane production rate of 4.8 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (Fig. 2).

These findings implicated the necessity to further investigate the biomethanation-enhancing effects of acetate and ethanol. Therefore, the effect of different concentrations of acetate and ethanol on methane production was monitored every 2 h and compared to control reactors, which were not supplemented with any substrate. As evident from Fig. 3, elevated acetate concentrations led to increased methane yields. Differences in the amount of produced methane after addition of acetate were already evident after a short lag phase of 2 h. The formation rate of methane of control fermenters was 0.96 mL methane per hour until 18 mL methane were produced after 19 h in the test system, which corresponds to a methane production rate of 2.14 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹. This value again is in accordance with methane production rates of full-scale biogas plants. In the presence of 25, 50, and 100 mM acetate, 1.56, 1.81, and 2.08 mL methane were produced per hour, respectively. These production rates resulted in final methane volumes of 29.6, 34.4, and 39.5 mL after 19 h of incubation and correspond to methane formation rates of 3.27, 4.04, and 4.64 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹, respectively. Concentrations above 100 mM did not enhance biomethanation any further (data not shown).



Fig. 2 Influence of addition of different fermentation end products on methane formation in biogas sludge. Biogas sludge (20 g) was analyzed after 24 h incubation in batch reactors supplemented with fermentation products as indicated. *Bars* represent the average methane production rates from four independent experiments performed in triplicate. Standard deviations are indicated by *error bars*. The *numbers in parentheses*

indicated the final concentrations of the substrates. Before addition, acetate, propionate, and butyrate solutions were adjusted to pH 8. Biogas sludge samples contained between 200 and 300 mM of hydrogen carbonate buffer, and a change of pH was not observed after 24 h. The addition of 100 mM NaCl (final concentration) had no effect on methanogenesis (not shown)

Deringer





Fig. 3 Effect of acetate addition on methane formation of biogas sludge in batch reactors. The amount of methane was measured every 2 h as described in "Materials and methods" section: control without additions (*white squares*), 25 mM acetate (*black triangles*), 50 mM acetate (*white triangles*), and 100 mM acetate (*black squares*). Data of one representative experiment out of three independent experiments are shown. Average methane production and standard deviation were calculated from three repeats for each condition

Similar kinetics of methane formation as shown for acetate supplementation were observed when ethanol was added to the biogas sludge in different concentrations (data not shown). This observation prompted us to investigate the effect of a broader spectrum of ethanol concentrations on methanogenesis. Biogas sludge was supplemented with 0–250 mM ethanol, and the resulting methane production rates were calculated. As shown in Fig. 4, methane production increased by 20 ± 6 % (10 mM ethanol), 38 ± 15 % (25 mM ethanol), 60 ± 13 % (50 mM ethanol), 76 ± 16 % (75 mM ethanol), and 91 ± 38 % (100 mM ethanol), respectively. Above a concentration of 100 mM ethanol, the increase of the methane formation rate slowly dropped. However, the

addition of 250 mM ethanol still resulted in 30 % higher methane production rates compared to non-supplemented biogas sludge. GC analysis after 24 h of incubation showed that 10-20 mM ethanol was completely converted to CH₄ and CO₂. The addition of higher concentration of ethanol led not only to increased CH4 formation rates as shown above but also to an accumulation of acetate, and ethanol was not completely consumed. Hence, the overall capacity of the biogas sludge to degrade ethanol completely to methane and CO₂ was reached at a concentration of 20 mM ethanol. In summary, the gas chromatographical analysis of the key compounds ethanol, acetate, and CH₄ clearly indicated that ethanol had a strong positive effect on methanogenesis and that methane formation resulted from the degradation of natural substrates present in the biogas sludge and from syntrophic oxidation of ethanol forming the methanogenic substrates acetate and H2+CO2. All the described findings raised the question of whether the effects of acetate and ethanol were exclusive for our model full-scale biogas plant or whether the effects can be generalized to biogas plants with similar substrate composition and process conditions. Therefore, biogas sludge of three other biogas plants was analyzed, and the impact of ethanol and acetate additions on methane production was determined. As evident from Table 1, methane formation increased by 35 to 126 % in serum bottles filled with sludge from all biogas plants tested when 100 mM of acetate or ethanol was added. The experiments clearly indicated that the effect of supplementation with acetate or ethanol was similar for sludge from biogas plants operated at 35-40 °C and fed with plant silage and animal manure.

With the results shown above, it became evident that acetate and ethanol addition to biogas sludge in small-scale reactors resulted in a dramatic increase of biomethanation. To check whether supplementation with acetate and ethanol led to changes of other process parameters or whether an

Fig. 4 Effect of different ethanol concentrations on methane formation of biogas sludge. *Gray bars* represent the average activities of sludge from at least four different samples with three replicates of the full-scale biogas plant. *Error bars* indicate standard deviations. The methane formation rate of the control assays was $2.2\pm0.6 \ \mu mol \ g^{-1} \ h^{-1}$ and was set to 100 %



🖉 Springer

7276	Appl Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 98:7271-7280
Table 1 Increase of methane formation by addition of 100 mM ethanol or acetate in	n biogas sludge of different biogas plants

Biogas plant ^a	Feeding	CH_4 formation (ethanol) ^b (%) ^e	CH_4 formation (acetate) ^c (%) ^e		
1 ^d	MS/CM/PDM	195	174		
2	MS/PDM/CS	224	135		
3	MS/CM	226	161		
4	MS/GS/HM/CS	163	156		

MS maize silage, CM cattle manure, CS cattle slurry, PDM poultry dry manure, HM horse manure, GS grass silage

^a Each experiment was performed in triplicate

^b Percentage of CH₄ formation in cultures containing 100 mM ethanol in comparison to control cultures

^c Percentage of CH₄ formation in cultures containing 100 mM acetate in comparison to control cultures

^d Model biogas plant (please see "Materials and methods")

^e Methane formation rates of control assays without addition of acetate or ethanol were set to 100 %

upscale of the experimental equipment had an influence on methane formation under the given test conditions, larger fermenters were filled with biogas sludge from a mesophilic biogas plant fed with maize silage and cattle manure. After 24 h incubation of 8 L biogas sludge in 9 L fermenters, methane production rates of control fermenters were 2.05 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (Table 2). In contrast, the addition of 50 mM acetate increased methane production rates to 2.9 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹, and 50 mM ethanol led to a methane production rate of 3.55 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹, which corresponds to a 73 % increase compared to control fermenters. These findings were in line with results obtained from small-scale reactors as shown above. Evidence that supplementation with acetate or ethanol does not cause any changes in the physicochemical conditions of the biogas sludge, which would otherwise lead to problems in long-term application, was provided by the analysis of different characteristic fermentation parameters (Table 2). It became evident that pH values, TAC (total inorganic carbon) FOS, (volatile fatty acids) and oDM (organic dry weight) were comparable in all fermenters after 24 h incubation, no matter if supplemented with acetate or ethanol or not. Organic acids such as acetic acid and butyric acid represent intermediates of anaerobic degradation of organic matter in a biogas plant. Their accumulation indicates a

disturbance of the fermentation process. However, concentrations of butyric acid were stable in all reactors and the acetic acid concentration increased only slightly in the reactors with acetate and ethanol compared to the control fermenters.

To observe whether complex alcoholic solutions reveal similar effects on biomethanation as pure ethanol, biogas sludge was mixed with beer (Paulaner, unfiltered "Hefe-Weißbier," alcohol content of 5.5 % v/v) to a final ethanol concentration of 20 mM. The addition led to an increase of methane production rate by 40 % after 24 h compared to a control (Fig. 5), which is in accordance with the increase observed with the same concentration of pure ethanol. To reveal a possible effect of beer ingredients other than alcohol on biogas production, alcohol was eliminated from the beer by lyophilization. The lyophilizate was subsequently suspended in 425 μ L H₂O and mixed with biogas sludge. Resulting methane production rates were slightly increased by $\sim 10 \%$ compared to control fermenters, which can be assigned to an increased input of fermentable organic substrate (oDM of beer was 39 mg g^{-1}). In summary, the results led to the conclusion that ethanol and acetate increase the metabolic activity of aceticlastic methanogens in biogas sludge without disturbing the steps of substrate digestion, which normally occur. As a consequence, formation of methane increased significantly.

Table 2 Increased methane production of biogas sludge by the addition of ethanol or acetate in 8 L reactors

Condition ^a	$CH_4 \ (\mu mol \ g^{-1} \ h^{-1})$	рН	FOS (g HAc _{eq} /L)	TAC (g CaCO ₃ /L)	oDM ^d (g/kg)	Acetate (mM)	Butyrate (mM)
Control	2.05±0.21	7.9±0.1	4.2±1.3	14.5±1.0	58.2±3.2	5.2±1.5	<1
Acetate ^b	$2.90 {\pm} 0.07$	$8.0{\pm}0.2$	4.7 ± 1.6	13.9 ± 1.2	55.5 ± 5.6	9.7±3.8	<1
Ethanol ^c	3.55 ± 1.18	$8.0{\pm}0.1$	4.2 ± 0.8	14.1 ± 0.9	57.5 ± 3.2	$8.7{\pm}2.0$	<1

^a Data were collected after incubation of 24 h at 37 °C

^b 50 mM final concentration

^c 50 mM final concentration

^d According to DIN EN 12879

Deringer



Fig. 5 Effect of the addition of beer to biogas sludge. Batch cultures were mixed with beer (alcohol content of 5.5 % ν/ν) to a final ethanol concentration of 20 mM (425 μ L/20 g sludge). *Beer minus ethanol* indicates that alcohol was eliminated from the beer by lyophilization. The lyophilizate was suspended in 425 μ L water and was added to the fermenters. Control

assays were supplemented with 425 μ L water instead of beer and revealed a methane formation rate of 1.9 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹. This rate was set to 100 %. Batch reactors supplemented with pure ethanol served as further controls. At least three independent experiments were conducted in triplicate for each condition

Discussion

For a successfully operating biogas plant optimal process conditions such as temperature, substrate composition, NH_4^+ concentration, buffer capacity, and the resulting pH of the biogas sludge are of particular importance (Chen et al. 2008). Small changes in one of those factors might suffice to lead to a costly disturbance of the well-balanced and coordinated microbial processes. The accumulation of organic acids such as propionate, butyrate, or acetate often correlates with decreasing biogas production rates and indicates a potential imminent collapse of biogas production (Nielsen et al. 2007). In consideration of this fact, it is a fundamental task for research on biogas production to establish test systems, which simulate a full-scale biogas plant.

Here, we demonstrate that test series of small serum bottles with biogas sludge obtained from a full-operating biogas plant revealed constant pH values, methane production rates, and constant acid concentrations, shown on the basis of acetate concentrations, over a period of 24 h. All of these parameters were in the range of our model full-scale biogas plant, and the easy handling of the small batch fermenters enabled us to investigate large numbers of different culture parameters and biological replicates at the same time. With this batch system on hand, it was possible to address the question of which metabolic pathway constitutes the bottleneck during biogas production. For this purpose, the effect of different substrates on methane production was examined. Those substrates were educts for metabolic pathways of organisms involved in different digestion steps in the biogas plant.

Supplementation with butyrate and propionate, which are metabolized by fatty acid oxidizing, fermenting bacteria (acetogenic or syntrophic bacteria) (Schink 1997; Müller et al. 2010), did not lead to significantly increased methane production (Fig. 2). Pindt et al. (2003) found that the addition of 20-35 mM of the volatile fatty acids (VFA) propionate, butyrate, and acetate led to increased proportions of methane in the biogas, but since only gas quality but not quantity was considered, it cannot be concluded that methane production rates increased as well. They further showed that the period of time between addition of those VFA and an effect on methane content was extended when propionate or butyrate was applied compared to supplementation with acetate, which can directly be converted to methane by aceticlastic methanogens. Therefore, we have to consider two possible explanations for the missing effect of butyrate and propionate on biomethanation in our experiments. First of all, it is possible that the time frame of 24 h of incubation was too short to reveal a positive effect of those fatty acids on methane production, and second, it is worth considering that the metabolic activity of syntrophic bacteria was already limited within a time period of 24 h with the acids naturally produced in the tested biogas plant.

However, to uncover the "weakest link of the chain" in the process of biogas formation, thermodynamic considerations can provide further evidence and help to approach the question from a different angle: Conversion of organic matter to methane and carbon dioxide releases only 15 % of the energy that would be available in aerobic degradation (Schink 1997). As a consequence of this small energy gain, the reaction

Deringer

7278

Appl Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 98:7271-7280

product, methane, stores a major part of the energy available in aerobic biomass conversion. As a further consequence, the small amount of energy available in methanogenic conversion forces the involved microorganisms into a very efficient cooperation. The mutual dependence of bacteria and archaea with respect to energy limitation can go so far as neither partner can operate without the other and that together they exhibit a metabolic activity that neither one could accomplish on its own. The most important example of such a syntrophic interaction is the cooperation between fatty acid-oxidizing, fermenting bacteria with hydrogen-oxidizing methanogens (hydrogenotrophic methanogens) (Stams 1994; Schink 1997; McInerney et al. 2009; Sieber et al. 2012). Both partners cooperate in the conversion of fatty acids longer than two carbon atoms (mainly butyrate and propionate) or alcohols longer than one carbon atom (mainly ethanol) to acetate and methane by interspecies hydrogen transfer. Overall, breakdown reactions for fatty acids and H₂ production by syntrophic bacteria are energetically unfavorable, meaning that under standard conditions, these reactions are endergonic. Coculture systems provide favorable conditions for the decomposition only in combination with H₂-consuming methanogens. An extremely low partial pressure of H₂ is necessary for propionate and butyrate degradation under anaerobic conditions (Ahring and Westermann 1988). Such a low partial pressure can be reached with the help of hydrogenotrophic methanogens that form methane from H₂+ CO_2 (Stams and Plugge 2009). Although we could not find a positive effect of increased H₂ concentration on methane formation under the chosen experimental conditions (80 % $H_2/20$ % CO₂, 1 bar), it may be possible that a higher gas pressure facilitates the distribution of H₂ in the sludge and therefore ensures accessibility of the substrate for hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis, which, in turn, produces more methane from H₂+CO₂ than under normal conditions (Prof. M. Rother, Technical University of Dresden, Germany, personal communication). Taking all this together, we assume that degradation of fatty acids by syntrophic bacteria, rather than hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis, is the limiting factor here and that anaerobic fatty acid oxidation constitutes one bottleneck in the process of biogas formation.

However, to answer the question of whether aceticlastic methanogenesis is also involved in the limitation of methane production, acetate that is metabolized to CH_4 and CO_2 by aceticlastic methanogens was added to the reactors. As a consequence, methane production rates rose significantly. Reactors supplemented with 100 mM acetate produced 2.0 to 2.2 mmol CH_4 per day in contrast to the control reactors that formed 0.9 to 1.1 mmol CH_4 per day. In this test system, a total amount of 2 mmol of acetate was added to 20 g of sludge. Taking into account the formation of one molecule of methane from one molecule of acetate, about 50 % of the supplemented acetate was consumed in a period of 1 day.

Deringer

Accumulation of fatty acids is considered as one main disruptive factor when the feeding rate in biogas plants is increased (Nielsen et al. 2007). In contrast, the addition of acetate leads to an artificial increase of oDM without affecting the overall performance. Since acetate is directly converted by aceticlastic methanogens, the risk of accumulation of propionate or butyrate by additional feeding of substrates with high sugar or fat content is prevented. Results of our experiments are in line with indirect observations that an increase in acetate concentration, resulting from changed substrate feeding procedures, resulted in a temporary increased biogas production (Lv et al. 2013). In addition, Pindt et al. (2003) observed an increase in the methane content in biogas immediately after the addition of acetate.

As clearly shown in our experiments, the addition of ethanol to biogas sludge led to an even stronger increase of methane production compared to the addition of acetate. The observation is reasonable for the fact that one molecule of ethanol is converted to 1.5 mol CH₄ and 0.5 mol CO₂. When 2 mmol of ethanol was added per reactor, an additional amount of 1.3 mmol CH₄ was produced from 20 g biogas sludge per day. Methane production was therefore increased by ~130 % compared to the control. Since one molecule of ethanol can theoretically be converted to 1.5 molecules methane, one can conclude that about 40 % of the supplemented ethanol was consumed per day. From the economical point of view, pure ethanol as a supplement for biogas plants would be too expensive. However, a cost-efficient possibility to increase biomethanation by addition of ethanol would be the setup of a prefermenter, which would allow an alcoholic fermentation of renewable vegetable raw materials. Indications that this procedure might be successful are exemplified by the addition of beer to biogas sludge.

The phenomenon of syntrophic ethanol oxidation is long known and has originally been investigated on the basis of the *Methanobacillus omelianskii* culture (Barker 1940), which was later shown to be composed of two partner organisms, strain S (an ethanol-oxidizing bacterium) and strain M.o.H. (a methanogenic archaeon) (Bryant et al. 1967). Only in mixed culture the two strains are able to convert ethanol to acetate and methane, facilitated by interspecies hydrogen transfer.

$$CH_{3}CH_{2}OH + H_{2}O \rightarrow CH_{3}COOH + 2 H_{2}$$

$$\Delta G^{0\prime} = +9.6 \text{ kJ/mol}$$
(1)

 $CH_{3}CH_{2}CH_{2}COOH+2 \hspace{0.1in} H_{2}O {\rightarrow} 2CH_{3}COOH+2 \hspace{0.1in} H_{2}$

 $\Delta G^{0\prime} = +48 \text{ kJ/mol}$ (2)

Appl Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 98:7271-7280

CH₃CH₂COOH + 2 H₂O→CH₃COOH + CO₂ + 3 H₂
$$\Delta G^{0\prime} = +76 \text{ kJ/mol}$$
(3)

 $CH_3COOH \rightarrow CH_4 + CO_2 \quad \Delta G^{0\prime} = -36 \text{ kJ/mol}$ (4)

 $CO_2 + 4 H_2 \rightarrow CH_4 \quad \Delta G^{0\prime} = -130 \text{ kJ/mol}$ (5)

Thermodynamics reveal that propionate and butyrate oxidation is much more endergonic than ethanol oxidation under standard conditions (Eqs. 1, 2, and 3). All these oxidation processes are dependent on H₂ concentration, but the partial H₂ pressures for the oxidation of propionate and butyrate need to be in the range of 10^{-4} bar (Scholten and Conrad 2000), whereas the limited H₂ pressure for ethanol oxidation is in the range of 10^{-2} bar (Seitz et al. 1988). Hence, under the given thermodynamic constraints, the microbial oxidation of ethanol is much easier than that of propionate and butyrate. Ethanoloxidizing bacteria convert the substrate to acetate and H₂+ CO₂, which is then utilized by hydrogenotrophic and aceticlastic methanogens (Eqs. 4 and 5) to form CH₄. This demonstrates again that aceticlastic methanogenesis is not the limiting factor during biogas production and also reveals that it is possible to add substrates that are easily oxidized by syntrophic bacteria to enhance methane formation. Degradation of ethanol entails the same advantage as that of acetate: The critical step of propionate and butyrate oxidation is bypassed. Thus, the ethanol data support our hypothesis that bacterial propionate and butyrate oxidation constitutes one of the bottlenecks in the whole process.

To our knowledge, the positive effect of ethanol on biogas formation has not been described yet. However, addition of ethanol has already been suggested to enhance the synthesis yield of products other than methane. Agler et al. (2014) suggest applying ethanol and simultaneously inhibiting methanogenesis for the production of n-caproic acid, and Guo et al. (2008) found that fermentative hydrogen production was highest under elevated ethanol concentration, although there are some publications and patents which suggest a feeding of the fermentation reactor with stillage. This product remains after alcoholic fermentation from organic matter and subsequent distillation (Moestedt et al. 2013). McEniry et al. (2014) examined the effect of different silage characteristics on methane production and correlated high contents of products from heterofermentative lactic acid fermentation such as ethanol with positive effects on biogas formation. However, the direct effect of ethanol on biogas production has never been tested.

Although we have shown that the increased biogas production rates did not only occur when ethanol or acetate are added to biogas sludge of our model biogas plant but also to material from other plants, further studies are essential. Of course, one cannot draw a conclusion about long-term effects in biogas plants from the results of our 24 h batch fermentations. It will therefore be important to reveal if the addition of ethanol to biogas sludge is also practicable over longer periods of time under continuous conditions reflecting operation conditions in full-scale biogas plants. However, the fact that the addition of suitable substrates leads to enhanced methane production rates demonstrates that biogas plants might not be operating with full capacity yet and that optimization is possible with special focus on aceticlastic methanogenesis.

Acknowledgments We thank Joachim Clemens, Nadine Hörter, Stefanie Peters, Thomas Dickhaus, and Thomas Fülling from the companies Bioreact GmbH and Bonalytic GmbH, for their technical support and analysis of physicochemical parameters. We would also like to thank Elisabeth Schwab, Stefanie Berger, and Sebastian van Helmont for their technical assistance. This work was supported by funding from Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF, project no. 03SF0421A).

References

- Agler MT, Spirito CM, Usack JG, Werner JJ, Angenent LT (2014) Development of a highly specific and productive process for ncaproic acid production: applying lessons from methanogenic microbiomes. Water Sci Technol 69:62–68
- Ahring BK, Westermann P (1988) Product inhibition of butyrate metabolism by acetate and hydrogen in a thermophilic coculture. Appl Environ Microbiol 54:2393–2397
- Barker HA (1940) Studies upon the methane fermentation. IV. The isolation and culture of *Methanobacterium omelianskii*. Antonie Leeuwenhoek 6:201–220
- Bryant MP, Wolin EA, Wolin MJ, Wolfe RS (1967) Methanobacillus omelianskii, a symbiotic association of two species of bacteria. Arch Microbiol 59:20–31
- Carrez PMC (1908) Le ferrocyanure de potassium et l'acétate de zinc comme agents de défécation des urines. Annales de chimie analytique 13:97–101
- Chen Y, Cheng JJ, Creamer KS (2008) Inhibition of anaerobic digestion process: a review. Bioresour Technol 99:4044–4064
- Fachverband Biogas e.V. (2012) Branchenzahlen 2011 und Prognose der Branchenentwicklung 2012/2013. http://www.biogas.org/edcom/ webfvb.nsf/id/DE_PM-29-12/\$file/12-11-16_Biogas% 20Branchenzahlen%202011-2012-2013.pdf
- Guo WQ, Ren NQ, Wang XJ, Xiang WS, Meng ZH, Ding J, Qu YY, Zhang LS (2008) Biohydrogen production from ethanol-type fermentation of molasses in an expanded granular sludge bed (EGSB) reactor. Int J Hydrog Energy 33:4981–4988
- Jain SR, Mattiasson B (1998) Acclimatization of methanogenic consortia for low pH biomethanation process. Biotechnol Lett 20:771–775
- Lettinga G, Van Velson AFM, Hobma SW, De Zeeuw W, Klapwijk A (1980) Use of the upflow sludge blanket (USB) reactor for biological wastewater treatment, especially for anaerobic treatment. Biotechnol Bioeng 22:699–724
- Lv Z, Leite AF, Harms H, Richnow HH, Liebetrau J, Nikolausz M (2013) Influences of the substrate feeding regime on methanogenic activity in biogas reactors approached by molecular and stable isotope

Deringer

Appl Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 98:7271-7280

methods. Anaerobe. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S107599641300190X?via=ihub

Maurya MS, Singh L, Sairam M, Alam SI (1994) Production of biogas from night soil: effect of temperature and volatile solids. Indian J Microbiol 34:223–228

7280

- McEniry J, Allen E, Murphy JD, O'Kiely P (2014) Grass for biogas production: the impact of silage fermentation characteristics on methane yield in two contrasting biomethane potential test systems. Renew Energy 63:524–530
- McInerney MJ, Sieber JR, Gunsalus RP (2009) Syntrophy in anaerobic global carbon cycles. Curr Opin Biotechnol 20:623–632
- Moestedt J, Påledal SN, Anna Schnürer A, Nordell E (2013) Biogas production from thin stillage on an industrial scale—experience and optimisation. Energies 6:5642–5655
- Müller N, Worm P, Schink B, Stams AJM, Plugge CM (2010) Syntrophic butyrate and propionate oxidation processes: from genomes to reaction mechanisms. Environ Microbiol Rep 2:489–499
- Nielsen HB, Uellendahl H, Ahring BK (2007) Regulation and optimization of the biogas process: propionate as a key parameter. Biomass Bioenergy 31:820–830
- Nordmann W (1977) Die Überwachung der Schlammfaulung. Korrespondenz Abwasser 3
- Nyns EJ (1986) Biomethanation processes. In: Rehm HJ, Reeds G (eds) Biotechnology, vol 8. VCH press, Weinheim, pp 207–268
- Pindt PF, Angelidaki I, Ahring BK (2003) Dynamics of the anaerobic process: effects of volatile fatty acids. Biotechnol Bioeng 82:791–801
- Rasi S, Veijanen A, Rintala J (2007) Trace compounds of biogas from different biogas production plants. Energy 32:1375–1380

- Sanders FA, Bloodgood DE (1965) The effect of nitrogen to carbon ratios on anaerobic decomposition. J Water Pollut Control Fed 37:1741
 Schink B (1997) Energetics of syntrophic cooperation in methanogenic
- degradation. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 61:262–280
 Scholten JCM, Conrad R (2000) Energetics of syntrophic propionate oxidation in defined batch and chemostat cocultures. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:2934–2942
- Seitz HJ, Schink B, Conrad R (1988) Thermodynamics of hydrogen metabolism in methanogenic cocultures degrading ethanol or lactate. FEMS Microbiol Lett 55:119–124
- Sharma SK, Mishra IM, Sharma MP, Saini JS (1988) Effect of particle size on biogas generation from biomass residues. Biomass 17:251– 263
- Sieber JR, McInerney MJ, Gunsalus RP (2012) Genomic insights into syntrophy: the paradigm for anaerobic metabolic cooperation. Annu Rev Microbiol 66:429–452
- Stams AJM (1994) Metabolic interactions between anaerobic bacteria in methanogenic environments. Antonie Leeuwenhoek 66:271–294
- Stams AJM, Plugge CM (2009) Electron transfer in syntrophic communities of anaerobic bacteria and archaea. Nat Rev Microbiol 7:568–577
- Takizawa N, Umetsu K, Takahata H, Hoshiba H (1994) Temperature effects on continuously expending anaerobic digester with dairy manure slurry. Res Bull Obihiro Univ Nat Sci 19:31–36
- Umetsu K, Takahata H, Kawamoto T (1992) Effect of temperature on mesophilic anaerobic digestion of dairy cow slurry. Res Bull Obihiro Univ 17:401–408
- Wilkie A, Colleran E (1986) Pilot scale digestion of pig slurry supernatant using an upflow anaerobic filter. Environ Lett 7:65–76

Deringer

Chapter 3 - Increase of methane formation by ethanol addition during continuous fermentation of biogas sludge

The increase of biomethanisation plays an important role in the efficient use of renewable resources to generate electric and thermal energy. Plenty of approaches are described in literature to increase biogas formation, e.g. mechanical, thermal, chemical, or biological pretreatments of the substrates used for biogas production (Bordeleau and Droste 2011, Frąc and Ziemiński 2012, Hahn *et al.* 2014, Krishania *et al.* 2012, Krishania *et al.* 2013, Morita and Sasaki 2012, Parawira 2012, Rajagopal *et al.* 2013). Depending on the type of substrates only some pretreatment methods lead to a slight increase in biogas or CH₄ formation.

In a previous study however, a highly efficient method was described to increase the production of biogas by adding ethanol to biogas sludge (Refai *et al.* 2014b, **Chapter 2**). This ethanol addition directly intervenes in the microbial degradation process of organic material. Ethanol is oxidized to acetate and H_2 by syntrophic bacteria. The end-products of this oxidation are metabolized by methanogenic archaea resulting in an increased CH₄ formation.

The addition of ethanol increased biogas production efficiently within 24 h. However, for economical use of ethanol for process improvement, it was necessary to investigate the effect of ethanol over longer time periods. The long-term analysis of the biogas production process was performed in small-scale continuous reactors filled with 200 g biogas sludge. These reactors were fed with the same substrates as the full-scale reactor where the sludge derived from. Stability of the process was monitored by quantification of biogas, CH₄ content, pH, TS as well as oTS content and VFA concentrations. The effect of ethanol on biogas formation was analyzed in the continuous reactors during a period of 14 d. Both, the effect of pulsed addition of ethanol at certain time points and the continuous supplementation with ethanol over a longer period was investigated. A pulse of 50 - 100 mM ethanol efficiently increased biogas production by up to 50 – 150 %. Continuous addition of 10 - 20 mM ethanol led to complete metabolization of this additive within 24 h. Consequently, rapid ethanol-conversion in the biogas sludge offers the opportunity to adjust the electric output of the biogas plant to peaks in daily and seasonal energy demands.

Thus, an efficient increase in biogas formation can be obtained by the addition of ethanol. Moreover, it was possible to increase CH₄ formation significantly by the addition of ethanolic solutions with relatively low ethanol contents that derived from alcoholic fermentations, e.g. beer. This finding opens up the potential for the setup of a pre-fermenter, which allows an alcoholic fermentation of renewable raw material and a stepwise addition of this alcoholic fermented digestate into the main reactor to increase biogas formation.

J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 41:1763–1772 DOI 10.1007/s10295-014-1524-2

BIOENERGY/BIOFUELS/BIOCHEMICALS



Increase of methane formation by ethanol addition during continuous fermentation of biogas sludge

Sarah Refai · Kati Wassmann · Sebastian van Helmont · Stefanie Berger · Uwe Deppenmeier

Received: 14 July 2014 / Accepted: 10 October 2014 / Published online: 25 October 2014 © Society for Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology 2014

Abstract Very recently, it was shown that the addition of acetate or ethanol led to enhanced biogas formation rates during an observation period of 24 h. To determine if increased methane production rates due to ethanol addition can be maintained over longer time periods, continuous reactors filled with biogas sludge were developed which were fed with the same substrates as the full-scale reactor from which the sludge was derived. These reactors are well reflected conditions of a full-scale biogas plant during a period of 14 days. When the fermenters were pulsed with 50-100 mM ethanol, biomethanation increased by 50-150 %, depending on the composition of the biogas sludge. It was also possible to increase methane formation significantly when 10-20 mM pure ethanol or ethanolic solutions (e.g. beer) were added daily. In summary, the experiments revealed that "normal" methane production continued to take place, but ethanol led to production of additional methane.

Keywords Biogas plant · Aceticlastic methanogenesis · Syntrophic bacteria · Anaerobic digestion · Methane production

Introduction

Biogas, which is formed during the degradation of organic material, is one of the most important renewable energy

S. Refai and K. Wassmann authors contributed equally to this work.

S. Refai · K. Wassmann · S. van Helmont · S. Berger · U. Deppenmeier (⊠) University of Bonn, Institute for Microbiology and Biotechnology, Meckenheimer Allee 168, 53115 Bonn, Germany e-mail: udeppen@uni-bonn.de sources and is used for the generation of electric power and heat. In general, agricultural biogas plants (referred to as NawaRo biogas plants) typically use energy crops and animal manure as a fermentation substrate. In addition, anaerobic degradation also represents a suitable method for waste and wastewater treatment. The market for biogas plants and biogas production is constantly increasing because of the need to facilitate a sustainable development of energy supply and to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. More and more countries create the necessary framework conditions for a fast growth of the biogas industry. It is expected that the worldwide installed capacity will increase between 2012 and 2016 from 4,700 MWel to about 7,400 MWel [33]. Currently, more than two-thirds of the world's 10,000 operational biogas plants are located in Germany [23]. In 2012, the total installed electric capacity of these power plants was 3,352 MW and 22.84 TWh with a market value of 7.3 billion Euros were produced [9]. Because of the enormous economical importance of biogas production numerous studies have been performed to find ways for process optimization. There are plenty of approaches described in the literature to increase the biomethanation processes in biogas plants [3, 10, 12, 15, 16, 20, 25, 27].

For future perspectives of biogas production, one of the most critical issues is to understand the biological processes and to identify metabolic bottlenecks during the fermentation process. Biogas is formed in the course of anaerobic fermentation and consists mainly of methane (45–75 %) and carbon dioxide (25–55 %) [8, 26]. The decomposition of organic material during the fermentation process in a biogas plant is conducted by many groups of microorganisms. Renewable organic polymers are first degraded by enzymatic hydrolysis generating monomers such as sugars, amino acids, purines, pyrimidines, fatty acids and glycerol. In the second step, referred to as acidogenesis,

1764

J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 41:1763-1772

these intermediates are converted to the short organic acids butyric acid, propionic acid and acetic acid and to a lesser extent to ethanol and propanol. Byproducts are hydrogen and carbon dioxide. Subsequently, organic acids and alcohols are converted by syntrophic bacteria to acetic acid, carbon dioxide and hydrogen (syntrophic acetogenesis). The last step comprises the process of methane formation (methanogenesis). Two different metabolic groups of archaea are responsible for methane production. The hydrogen and carbon dioxide, whereas aceticlastic methanogens cleave acetate and form CH_4 and CO_2 .

As described above, the anaerobic digestion process is a sequential, complex biochemical process, in which organic compounds are mineralized to biogas. The slowest reaction of the overall degradation acts as the rate-limiting step and determines the overall performance of biogas plants. It has been suggested that the rate-limiting factor of biomethanation is either the activity of exoenzymes that hydrolyze large polymeric substrates [6, 35] or the process of methanogenesis [22]. A third possibility is that the conversion of propionic acid and butyric acid during syntrophic acetogenesis is the bottleneck because these volatile acids are the most important intermediates in an anaerobic digestion, and their degradation is extremely complicated because of thermodynamic restrictions [2].

Very recently, Refai et al. [28] demonstrated that aceticlastic methanogenesis is not the limiting factor during biogas production when biogas sludge is supplemented with acetate or ethanol. Since these results are only based on 24 h batch fermentations, it was not possible to draw conclusions on the long-term effects of ethanol and its effect on process stability in biogas plants. Here, we present data on the effect of ethanol on methanogenesis during continuous incubation of biogas sludge under real process conditions using a small-scale (200 g biogas sludge) and a laboratory-scale (8 L biogas sludge) system which copy the conditions of a full-operating biogas plant.

Materials and methods

Unless otherwise noted, the biogas sludge used for experiments in this work was obtained from a commercially operating full-scale biogas plant (in the following referred to as full-scale reactor), which is located near Cologne (Germany). The operation temperature of the full-scale reactor was 40 °C and maize silage, cattle manure and poultry dry manure served as substrates resulting in a constant power of 540–580 kWh. Samples were collected between September 2013 and February 2014 and were used to analyse the effects of ethanol on methane formation. Biogas sludge was stored at 4 °C up to 2 weeks in sealed plastic bottles until use. Preparation of small-scale continuous reactors

Small-scale reactors were set up in an anaerobic chamber (98 % N₂/2 % H₂) using screw top transfusion glass bottles (1,000 mL, Müller-Krempel, Bülach, Switzerland) which were filled with 200 g of original biogas plant sludge, sealed with a butyl rubber stopper and locked with an aluminium screw cap that had a round opening to allow the insertion of needles. The cultures were subsequently gassed with N₂/CO₂ (50/50 %) for 10 min. Incubation took place in a shaking incubator at 40 °C. Biogas production was measured every day by correlation of overpressure and concentration of CH₄ in the head space of the reactors. Overpressure was determined by means of water replacement in an upside down measuring cylinder and the respective methane concentration was determined by taking 30 µL samples from the head space of the reactor which were then analysed by gas chromatography (GC, Perkin Elmer Clarus® 480, Rascon FFAP column 25 m 0.25 µm, Perkin Elmer, Waltham, USA) with an FID detector. Measurements were performed with a column temperature of 120 °C, an injector temperature of 150 °C and a detector temperature of 250 °C with N₂ as carrier gas. For methane yield calculations, a 10 % methane standard (90 % argon) was analysed before and after every series of measurements. The values were normalized to standard conditions and were used to calculate the methane formation rates which are specified as μ mol CH₄ per g sludge per h (μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹).

Feeding and sampling procedures of small-scale reactors

Samples (2 g) were taken every day under N₂-aeration and served for the determination of organic dry weight (oDM), pH and fatty acid concentration. After sampling, the reactors were fed with 2.5 g premixed and shredded substrates (8.6 g/L maize silage, 2.7 g/L cattle manure and 1.4 g/L dry chicken faeces) and 0.4 mL recirculate (supernatant of centrifuged biogas plant sludge) which resulted in an organic loading rate of 4.1 g oDM $d^{-1}L^{-1}$. Feeding was the same as in the full-scale reactor from which the sludge was derived. Ethanol was added after feeding as indicated. Fermenters were kept in a preheated water bath (40 °C) during the daily feeding and measuring procedures. Finally, fermenters were gassed with N_2/CO_2 (50/50 %) for 10 min and then incubated in shaking incubators at 40 °C for 24 h before the feeding and sampling procedures were repeated. In addition, beer was tested as supplement. To determine whether beer shows the same effect on methane production as pure ethanol, small-scale reactors were fed as described above and were mixed with beer (Paulaner, unfiltered "Hefe-Weißbier", alcohol content of 5.5 % v/v) to a final ethanol concentration of 10 mM. To reveal a possible effect of beer ingredients other than alcohol on biogas production, alcohol was eliminated from the beer by lyophilisation. The lyophilisate was suspended in water and added to control fermenters. Fermenters supplemented with pure ethanol or with lyophilisate complemented with pure ethanol served as further controls.

Analysis of volatile acids and ethanol concentrations

For determination of acetate and ethanol content in smallscale reactors, 1 g biogas sludge was centrifuged for 2 min at 12,840g. 250 µL of the supernatant was mixed with 50 µL Carrez solution I (300 g/L zinc sulphate heptahydrate), 50 µL Carrez solution II (150 g/L potassium hexacyanoferrate(II) trihydrate) [7], and 150 µL H₂O and 50 µL 2 N HCl. The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 10 min and subsequently centrifuged for 2 min at 12,840g. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.45 µm nitrocellulose filter (Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) and 1 µL was injected to a GC (Shimadzu GC-14A, Shimadzu, Duisburg, Germany with Agilent Chromosorb 101 column, Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA) with N2 as carrier gas and a constant column temperature of 170 °C. Injector and FID-detector temperature was set to 220 °C, respectively. Calibration curves were generated with sodium acetate or ethanol standard solutions, which were processed according to the sludge samples. Determination of organic dry mass (oDM) was performed as described in German Standard DIN 12879.

Setup of lab-scale continuous reactors

To ensure the technical viability of enhanced biogas formation as a consequence of ethanol supplementation, upscale experiments were performed. Therefore, acryl glass vessels with a capacity of 9 L (ATB Potsdam) and stirring devices (Stirring devices: IKA RW 20, Heidolph RZR 2051, controlling device: Conrad Electronics) were used (from here on referred to as lab-scale reactors). The double walled reactors were connected to a 39 °C water bath. To eliminate loss of heat and to protect the fermenter content from light, reactors were isolated with foam plastics. The reactors were filled with 8 L of 100 % microbial active digestate from a NawaRo plant and fed with maize silage and cattle slurry every day. The amount of substrates that were fed every day was increased over 4 weeks until an organic loading rate of 3.5 $goDMd^{-1}L^{-1}$ was reached, which was then maintained during the remaining time of the experiment. Addition of substrate was carried out once a day and 200 mL of the fermenter content was removed. Generated biogas was collected in gas collection bags (Tecobag, Fa. Tesseraux Spezialverpackungen GmbH, Bürstadt, Germany). Methane content was measured as described above. Ethanol (95 %) was added up to a final concentration of 50 mM on incubation days 42–44, 53–54 and 63–65. For the determination of FOS/TAC values, which represent the proportion of volatile fatty acids (FOS or VFA) and carbonate buffer capacity in terms of total inorganic carbon (TAC), the method according to Nordmann [24] was used.

Results

Development of small-scale continuous reactors

For evaluation of the biological process within NawaRo biogas plants usually laboratory-scale continuous fermenters are used that are typically filled with several liters of effluent from existing anaerobic digester facilities. Usually, the reactors are technically complex and a start-up process is necessary to increase the organic loading rate until stable biogas production is observed. This procedure is time consuming, the number of fermenters is limited and there is the danger that the experimental conditions do not directly reflect the conditions in biogas plants. In contrast, batch fermenters are technically more easy to handle and dozens of reactors can be analysed at a time. However, batch cultures do not allow the investigation of biogas production over a longer period and the long-term effects of additives on biogas production cannot be analysed. Therefore, there is a need for simple procedures to mimic the process of methane production in full-scale biogas plants using simple and space saving continuous reactors that can be run with authentic biogas sludge over days without changing the physico-chemical parameters. Therefore, we developed a small-scale continuous reactor system that was filled with 200 g biogas sludge from the model biogas plant. The fermenters were incubated at 40 °C for 14 days, and feeding and analysis of different process parameters were conducted daily as described in materials and methods. Methane production rates, oDM and volatile acid concentration were chosen as parameters to determine the stability of the continuous test system. All three parameters stayed constant in the daily fed fermenters (Fig. 1a, b) and were in line with parameters measured in the full-scale biogas plant from which the sludge was obtained. The full-scale biogas plant comprised a fermenter volume of 2,800 m³ and produced approximately 140 m³ methane per hour. This corresponded to a methane production rate of 2.2 µmol g^{-1} h⁻¹ and was similar to the rate of 2.16 ± 0.07 µmol g^{-1} h⁻¹ observed in the small-scale continuous reactors over a period of 14 days (Fig. 1a). Interestingly, the methane formation rate stayed constant even over a period of 30 days with daily feeding of the small-scale reactors (not shown). oDM was approximately 90-100 g per kg biogas sludge in the small-scale reactors from day 1–14 and varied between 83 and 105 g kg⁻¹ in



J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 41:1763-1772



Fig. 1 Performance and stability of small-scale reactors. All reactors were daily fed with maize silage, cattle manure and dry chicken faeces as indicated in materials and methods. **a** *Black bars*, methane formation rate of reactors with daily feeding. *Dashed bars*, methane formation rate of reactors without feeding. (*filled triangle*) oDM in

the full-scale plant. Acetate concentrations of 14–30 mM were determined in the full-scale biogas plant and were 16–26 mM in the small-scale reactors (Fig. 1b). Also, propionate concentrations were similar with 1.7–2.8 mM in the full-scale plant and 2–4 mM in the small-scale reactors (not shown). Butyrate concentrations were always below detection limit. Fermenters, which were not fed, served as control and results clearly showed that feeding was necessary to maintain constant biogas formation. Without the addition of substrate, methane production rates decreased from 2.1 to 0.3 µmol g⁻¹ h⁻¹ within 14 days (Fig. 1a). From these results, it became evident that the continuous fermentation in small-scale reactors is a suitable system to observe the effect of different conditions or additives on biogas formation within a period of 14 days.

Effect of ethanol supplementation on methane formation in small-scale continuous reactors

Experiments in small batch cultures pointed to potential bottlenecks during biogas formation from organic matter [28] and it was shown that neither ethanol oxidizing bacteria nor aceticlastic methanogenic archaea are involved in the limitation of methane production. Furthermore, methane production increased as a consequence of ethanol addition without interfering with the normal digestion processes during a period of 24 h [28]. However, investigation of long-term effects of ethanol additions is indispensable before possible biotechnological applications can be taken into consideration. Therefore, the effect of ethanol supplementation in the above-mentioned small-scale continuous reactors was studied with normal feeding over a time period of 14 days. In Fig. 2, the relative change of methane production following the addition of 100 mM



7-8

10-14



Fig. 2 Increase of methane formation rate after ethanol pulses in small-scale reactors. *Bars* represent the average methane production rates from three independent experiments performed in triplicates. Standard deviations are indicated by *error bars*. *Black bars*, fermenters with ethanol pulses (100 mM final concentration). *White bars*, control fermenters. *Black arrows* indicate addition of ethanol. All reactors were daily fed as indicated in materials and methods

ethanol in the small-scale reactors after 1 day and 7 days is shown, respectively. Already 24 h after the first ethanol pulse, the methane production rate reached its maximum and was enhanced by approximately 50 % in comparison to the control. During the following days, methane production slowly decreased until the rate of the control fermenter was reached again. When a second 100 mM ethanol pulse was applied after 168 h, methane formation increased again by about 50 % and slowly aligned to that of control fermenters after a few days. Furthermore, the basic methane formation rate of 100 % in the control fermenters was determined to an average of $1.93 \pm 0.22 \ \mu mol g^{-1} h^{-1}$ over

J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 41:1763-1772

14 days and was similar to the full-scale operating biogas plant productivity with an average of 2.2 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹. The maximum methane production rate in ethanol fermenters was 2.83 \pm 0.27 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹ and pH, acetate concentration and oDM were constant and comparable to control fermenters during the time of fermentation (not shown).

Effect of ethanol supplementation on methane formation in 9-L continuous lab-scale fermenters

To investigate whether the ethanol effect was also prominent in lab-scale reactors for a time period which is similar to the hydraulic retention time of full-scale biogas plants, 9 L acryl glass reactors were filled with 8 L of microbial active digestate from a NawaRo biogas plant and were fed with increasing amounts of maize silage and cattle manure every day. After 4 weeks, an organic loading rate of 3.5 g oDM d⁻¹ L⁻¹ was reached and maintained. Ethanol was added up to a final concentration of 50 mM on incubation days 42-44, 53-54 and 63-65. The impact on methane formation is depicted in Fig. 3a. Every ethanol pulse resulted in an immediate increase in methane production by nearly 150 % compared to control fermenters. In each case, maximum values were reached 2-3 days after supplementation. Subsequently, methane production of ethanol fermenters progressively aligned with that of control fermenters until they almost matched after 8-10 days. The additional production of methane after ethanol supplementation was directly linked to the activity of ethanol oxidizing bacteria, which is well reflected in slightly enhanced acetate concentrations after each ethanol pulse. Acetate concentrations increased from initially 5 to 10-20 mM within 2 days after the addition of ethanol and decreased to the initial concentration during the following 4 days (Fig. 3b). However, determination of pH values revealed that the buffer capacity of the biogas sludge was high enough to countervail acidification as a consequence of slightly increased acetate concentrations. The pH values of control and ethanol fermenters equalled each other during the whole time of incubation and averaged between 7.7 and 8.0 (Fig. 3c). Moreover, the oDM values of control and ethanol fermenters were similar and ranged from 55 to 68 g kg⁻¹. The FOS/TAC value represents the proportion of volatile fatty acids (FOS or VFA) and carbonate buffer capacity in terms of total inorganic carbon (TAC). This proportion is an important stability parameter during the anaerobic digestion in biogas plants. FOS/TAC is mainly depending on substrate composition and values between 0.2 and 0.4 have proven to be optimal [14]. As shown in Fig. 3e, FOS/TAC varied between 0.21 and 0.4 in the large-scale continuous fermenters (with a VFA of 3-5 HAceq L⁻¹ and a TAC of 13-16 g CaCO₃ L⁻¹) and was therefore in accordance with the recommended value for full-scale plants. With these results, it became evident that ethanol does not only enhance biogas formation in small scale during a short observation period in batch fermenters

1767

scale during a short observation period in batch fermenters but also when realistic conditions of full-scale biogas plants are imitated. Since this effect could be observed in both, the small-scale and the lab-scale continuous fermentation, these test systems can be regarded as comparably suitable to study long-term effects of ethanol on biogas formation. Hence, in terms of saving time, space and costs, further investigations were conducted in the more convenient small-scale reactors.

Influence of daily addition of ethanol on methanogenesis in biogas sludge

Besides the addition of pure ethanol every 7 days (pulsed supplementation) as shown above, the effect of a continuous supplementation with diluted ethanolic solutions was of great interest with regard to possible future biotechnological applications. Therefore, small-scale continuous reactors were fed as described in materials and methods and supplemented with 10 and 20 mM ethanol every 24 h, respectively. Methane formation rates of control fermenters without addition of ethanol were set to 100 % corresponding to methane formation rates of $2.0 \pm 0.3 \ \mu mol \ g^{-1} \ h^{-1}$. When the ethanol concentration was adjusted to 20 mM once a day, methane production increased in average by 30 % after 1 day and 60 % after 6 days, respectively, and revealed a constant rate of $3.2 \pm 0.3 \ \mu mol \ CH_4 \ g^{-1} \ h^{-1} \ till$ the end of the experiment. The addition of 10 mM ethanol per day enhanced methane production by 30 % compared to control reactors and reached a methane formation rate of 2.6 \pm 0.3 µmol g⁻¹ h⁻¹. The values are in agreement with the theoretically expected increase of methane formation. The final concentration of 10 mM ethanol for example corresponded to 2 mmol of ethanol that was consumed every 24 h in the fermenters with a sludge content of 200 g (equals about 200 mL). Keeping in mind that 3 mmol of methane is formed from 2 mmol of ethanol, the amount of methane produced from ethanol should have been in the range of 0.6 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹. The rate of the ethanol-supplemented fermenter was 2.6 μ mol CH₄ g⁻¹ h⁻¹ indicating that 2.0 μ mol CH₄ g⁻¹ h⁻¹ was generated from normal feeding (as in the control fermenters) and 0.6 μ mol CH₄ g⁻¹ h⁻¹ from ethanol. Important physico-chemical parameters such as pH values, oDM and acetate concentration stayed constant over the whole period of incubation and no ethanol remained when 10 or 20 mM was added daily. Hence, ethanol was completely metabolized to methane in a range of 10-20 mM within 24 h. Therefore, the continuous addition of ethanol did not disturb processes, which normally occur in the biogas plant. The "normal" methane formation from digestion of the daily fed substrates continued to take place, indicating the possibility to constantly increase biogas formation by ethanol supplementation.

🖉 Springer

J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 41:1763-1772

Fig. 3 Effect of ethanol on CH₄-formation in 8 L labscale reactors. Feeding of the reactors was performed daily as described in materials and methods. Arrows indicate ethanol (95 %) addition to a final concentration of 50 mM each on incubation days 42-44, 53-54 and 63-65. a Methane formation rate. Black bars, fermenters with ethanol pulses. White bars, control fermenters. b Acetate concentration (open square) control fermenters, (filled square) fermenters with ethanol pulses. c pH values, (open square) control fermenters, (filled square) fermenters with ethanol pulses. d oDM, (open square) control fermenters, (filled square) fermenters with ethanol pulses. e FOS/TAC value, (open square) control fermenters, (filled square) fermenters with ethanol pulses

1768



Deringer

66





Fig. 4 Effect of beer on methane formation in continuous smallscale reactors. All reactors were daily fed with maize silage, cattle slurry and dry chicken faeces as indicated in materials and methods. The methane formation rate of control fermenters was $1.8 \pm 0.3 \,\mu\text{mol g}^{-1} \,\text{h}^{-1}$ (open square) and was set to 100 %, (filled square) daily addition of beer to a final ethanol concentration of 10 mM ethanol, (open triangle) daily addition of ethanol-free beer. Data of one representative experiment out of three independent experiments are shown. Average methane production was calculated from two repeats for each condition

However, with respect to economic issues, the use of ethanolic solution produced by alcoholic fermentation of organic material instead of pure ethanol is preferable. In this work, beer served as an example for such alcoholic fermented substrates. With an ethanol content of 5.5 %, beer reasonably represents a diluted complex ethanol containing solution. To investigate the potential of beer to increase methane formation, small-scale continuous reactors were supplemented with 2 mL beer (Paulaner, unfiltered "Hefe-Weißbier", alcohol content of 5.5 % v/v) per day to a final ethanol concentration of 10 mM in addition to the normal feeding. This resulted in a constant increase in methane formation by approx. 35 % (Fig. 4). Similar to fermenters, which were supplemented with pure ethanol, no ethanol could be determined after 24 h of incubation. With an oDM of beer of ~40 g kg⁻¹, the additional input of fermentable organic substrates was slightly increased by ~0.4 g kg⁻¹ per day in fermenters supplemented with beer, which corresponds to an increase of total oDM in the fermenter by ~5 %. Therefore, methane production rates resulting from supplementation with beer were naturally slightly higher than those observed with pure ethanol (Fig. 5). This was also in accordance with methane production of control fermenters, which were supplemented with beer without ethanol. Methane production rates were approximately 5 % higher than those of non-supplemented control fermenters. From these results, it can be calculated that the use of beer with a lower percentage of ethanol would lead to



Fig. 5 Effect of daily addition of ethanol on methane formation. A substrate mixture of maize silage, cattle slurry and dry chicken faeces was fed to all reactors daily as indicated in materials and methods. The methane formation rate of control fermenters was $2.0 \pm 0.3 \,\mu\text{mol g}^{-1} \,h^{-1}$ (open square) and was set to 100 %, (filled square) daily addition of 10 mM ethanol (final concentration), Data represent the average activities of sludge from three different samples with two replicates of the full-scale biogas plant. *Error bars* indicate standard deviations

a lower increase in methane production. But even a beer with an oDM of ~40 g kg⁻¹ and an ethanol content of 1 % (corresponds to 1.8 mM final concentration of ethanol in the 200 mL fermenters) would theoretically lead to an enhanced methane production of about 11 % in our small-scale continuous fermenters when 2 mL of beer is fed every day. In summary, not only pure ethanol but also reasonably priced complex alcoholic fermented substrates with low alcohol content are suitable to raise methane production. This finding supported the biotechnological relevance and practicability of the addition of ethanol to enhance biogas formation.

Discussion

Recently, a test system for the analysis of the performance of biogas sludge using small-scale batch fermenters was established which facilitated the investigation of effects of ethanol and acetate supplementation on methane formation during 24 h incubation. The convenience to receive statistically firm data within a short period of time due to the potential to run a multitude of small-scale batch fermenters simultaneously was one advantage of the batch experiments. However, batch cultures did not necessarily reflect conditions of full-scale reactors. To determine if increased methane production rates due to ethanol addition can be maintained over a longer time period, it was necessary to establish a reliable and convenient test system that allowed

1770

J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 41:1763-1772

a continuous and stable biogas production. We demonstrated that conditions of the full-scale biogas plant were well reflected during 14 days of observation in our smallscale continuous reactors. Hence, it can be concluded that the experimental setup allowed the simulation of realistic operation conditions of biogas plants. It is worth to mention that the application of small-scale continuous fermenters for analysis of full-scale biogas plants has a number of advantages. There is no need for a time-consuming startup phase which is characterized by a gradually increase of oDM before steady state conditions are reached [4]. Our system allows a direct use of active biogas sludge from a running system and steady state conditions are already reached after a few hours [28]. The small size of the reactors enables handling in an anaerobic hood preventing possible inhibitory effects of oxygen during inoculation or feeding.

When small-scale or lab-scale continuous fermenters were pulsed with 50-100 mM ethanol, biomethanation increased by 50-150 %, depending on the consistency and composition of the biogas sludge. It was also possible to increase methane formation by 30-60 % in the small-scale reactors when pure ethanol or ethanolic solution (e.g. beer) was added daily to a final ethanol concentration of 10-20 mM. Furthermore, different important process parameters such as FOS/TAC, organic dry mass (oDM), acetate concentration and pH in the control and ethanol-supplemented fermenters were in the range of the model biogas plant. In summary, the experiments revealed that methane production, which normally proceeds in a biogas plant, is not inhibited by the addition of ethanol. This means that basic methane production continues to take place (100 % efficiency), but ethanol leads to the production of additional methane in the biogas plant. In principal, an increase in organic loading rate was achieved without influencing normal fermentation processes.

Multiple renewable organic materials can be applied to 'NawaRo'-biogas plants; however, most often maize is the dominant substrate, which is usually combined with grass silage and cattle or pig manure [8]. Depending on the type of substrate, a wide range of values can be obtained for the substrate-specific methane yield. In addition, systemdependent parameters such as volume load or hydraulic retention time play a role for the resulting substrate-specific methane yields [13]. It was observed that increased loading rates often led to acidification and to a breakdown of the methanation process [17]. Therefore, an improvement of efficiency of biogas plants by increased feeding is obviously very difficult or even impossible. The synthesis of methane depends on a variety of microorganisms and includes a huge number of biochemical reactions that form a reaction chain for the conversion of biopolymers into CH₄. However, the "weakest link of the chain" determines the performance and the speed of the overall system.

Previous experiments and thermodynamic considerations already gave a clue about this "weakest link of the chain": it was assumed that anaerobic fatty acid oxidation constitutes one bottleneck in the process of biogas formation [28]. This hypothesis is based on the fact that many bacteria grow in obligate syntrophy with methanogens on substrates that are not fermentable under standard conditions. In these cases, methanogens are essential to reduce the concentrations of hydrogen to make the reaction sufficiently exergonic to support energy conservation, cell maintenance and growth. In fact, hydrogen partial pressures below ca. 10^{-4} and 10^{-3} atm are necessary for degradation of propionate and butyrate (Eqs. 1, 2), respectively [1, 5, 31]. Such low hydrogen partial pressures in methanogenic systems are achieved by interspecies transfer of molecular hydrogen or formate from syntrophic bacteria to hydrogen-oxidizing methanogens [19, 21, 30, 32].

Propionic acid + 2 H₂O
$$\rightarrow$$
 Acetic acid + CO₂
+ 3 H₂ Δ G^{o'} = + 76 kJ/mol (1)

Butyric acid + 2 H₂O
$$\rightarrow$$
 2 Acetic acid + 2 H₂
 $\Delta G^{o'} = + 48 \text{ kJ/mol}$
(2)

Ethanol + H₂O
$$\rightarrow$$
 Acetic acid + 2 H₂
 $\Delta G^{o'} = +9.6 \text{ kJ/mol}$
(3)

$$CO_2 + 4 H_2 \rightarrow CH_4 \Delta G^{o'} = -130 \text{ kJ/mol}$$
 (4)

In this respect it is to note that biogas sludge is not a homogenous material and consists of particles, granules, cell aggregates and biofilms with different composition and diameters, which can be defined as micro-scale habitats or microenvironments. It is tempting to speculate that the actual H₂ pressure is not always the same in these microenvironments because of mass transfer imbalances and different physico-chemical conditions (e.g. pH, substrate and product concentration). Hence, only a part of the microenvironments may possess the proper thermodynamic conditions to allow fatty acid oxidation by syntrophic bacteria. The consequence would be a fluctuation of active and inactive microenvironments depending on the mass transfer and activity of hydrogenotrophic methanogens. Therefore, the overall performance of a biogas plant might depend on the number of active microenvironments that are able to perform butyrate and propionate oxidation to form acetate. The average of active microenvironments in turn depends on the overall H₂ pressure, which varies between 10 and 1,000 ppm in a normally operating biogas plant [18]. The lower the overall hydrogen concentration the more microenvironments can degrade butyrate and propionate and the higher the H₂ concentration the less microenvironments are active in short fatty acids oxidation to acetate. However, ethanol oxidation (Eq. 3) already turns to an exergonic reaction at a

J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 41:1763-1772

 H_2 pressure of about 10^{-2} atm. That means the H_2 concentration in ethanol oxidation can be much higher compared to butyrate/propionate oxidation. Taking together these facts, the oxidation of ethanol to acetate can be performed by the majority of microenvironments found in the biogas plant. It can also take place in those microenvironments that are temporally inactive with respect to propionate and butyrate oxidation. Thus, our hypothesis is that the addition of ethanol circumvents the butyrate/propionate bottleneck and leads to an increase in the velocity of methane production. Furthermore, it allows getting around the rate-limiting step in biogas production leading to an optimized methane formation and an increase of the overall throughput and the electricity yield per time. In this way, the entire capacity and the full potential of the biogas plant can be exploited. Therefore, the great advantage of supplementation with ethanol is the fact that ethanol added to the fermenter is directly channelled into methanogenesis so that volatile fatty acids such as propionate or butyrate cannot be formed from ethanol. Thus, the risk to head toward acidification after ethanol addition in biogas plants is eliminated.

With this knowledge, ethanol seems to be suitable to be applied to full-scale reactors to enhance biogas formation without disturbing normally occurring fermentation processes. The following factors are important for possible technical applications of ethanol with respect to increase in biogas formation:

(i) Cost-efficient production of ethanolic solutions: despite the fact that the addition of pure ethanol to a full-scale biogas plant will presumably enhance methane formation similarly to the effects we observed in our laboratory-scale fermenters, economic relevance is not given due to high ethanol costs. A cost-efficient alternative to increase biomethanation by the addition of ethanol is the application of diluted ethanol, whereas its origin can be diverse. To test whether complex diluted ethanolic substrates generally affect biomethanation positively, biogas sludge was supplemented with beer to a final ethanol concentration of 10 mM in addition to the usual daily feeding and methane formation was determined over 14 days. Methane production rates were increased by approximately 35 % which is in line with results of continuous fermentations with 10 mM pure ethanol and theoretical values. To reach an ethanol concentration of 10 mM in the fermenters, ~2 mL beer was added daily. With an oDM of beer of $\sim 40 \text{ g kg}^{-1}$, the input of additional oDM per day was very low so that a continuation of normal feeding was possible. From these results, one can conclude that complex substrates with relatively low ethanol contents deriving from alcoholic fermentations are just as well applicable to improve biogas formation as pure ethanol. This opens up potential for biotechnological application. The addition of not saleable alcoholic drinks, e.g. because of exceeding expiration dates, is one possibility to increase cost effectiveness. A further industrially practicable opportunity is the setup of a pre fermenter, which allows an alcoholic fermentation of renewable vegetable raw material. The alcoholic fermented digestate of the pre fermenter could be added stepwise to the main fermentation vessel. Considering a final ethanol content of 10 % v/v in the pre fermenter, its volume could amount to only 10 % of the main fermentation vessel, but production of methane would be enhanced to a considerable degree. However, the principle idea of setting up a pre fermenter for alcoholic fermentation of organic material is not new [34]. But in contrast to other inventions, ethanol is not meant to be removed before the digestate is transferred to the main fermenter.

- (ii) Adjustment of methane production to fluctuant power demands: biogas formation increases directly after the addition of ethanol. As shown in previous experiments in small-scale batch fermenters, a significant increase in methane production already occurs within 2 h after supplementation with ethanol [28]. In case of a future industrial application, this outstanding feature facilitates the adjustment of methane production to fluctuant demands and to secure power supply at any time. Addition of ethanol to the biogas plant can be used to ensure power supply in times of peak loads or temporary occurring maximum demands in the electric supply network arising from time of the day or season.
- (iii) Increased methane concentration: Though the increase in biogas formation is not the only advantage, ethanol addition entails. Before biogas is fed into the natural gas grid, it has to be upgraded to concentrate methane in the gas mixture [11, 26, 29]. With the conversion of ethanol to methane, the methane content in the biogas is increased compared to "normal" biogas formation. A higher methane content involves a higher quality of the biogas and alleviates the gas reprocessing to natural gas quality.

Acknowledgments We thank Joachim Clemens, Nadine Hörter, Stefanie Peters, Thomas Dickhaus and Thomas Fülling from the companies Bioreact GmbH and Bonalytic GmbH for technical support and analysis of physico-chemical parameters. We would also like to thank Elisabeth Schwab, Julia Feldhues and Lisa Nauroth for technical assistance. This work was supported by funds from Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF, project no. 03SF0421A).

References

 Ahring BK, Westermann P (1988) Product inhibition of butyrate metabolism by acetate and hydrogen in a thermophilic coculture. Appl Environ Microbiol 54:2393–2397

J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol (2014) 41:1763-1772

 Amani T, Nosrati M, Mousavi SM, Kermanshahi RK (2010) Study of syntrophic anaerobic digestion of volatile fatty acids using enriched cultures at mesophilic conditions. IJEST 8:83–96

1772

- Bordeleau ÉL, Droste RL (2011) Comprehensive review and compilation of pretreatments for mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic digestion. Water Sci Technol 63:291–296
- Brambilla M, Araldi F, Marchesi M, Bertazzoni B, Zagni M, Navarotto P (2012) Monitoring of the startup phase of one continuous anaerobic digester at pilot scale level. Biomass Bioenergy 36:439–446
- Bryant MP, Wolin EA, Wolin MJ, Wolfe RS (1967) *Methanobacillus omelianskii*, a symbiotic association of two species of bacteria. Arch Microbiol 59:20–31
- Busch G (2013) Biogas technology. In: Yang ST, Enshasy HE, Thongchul N (eds) Bioprocessing technologies. Wiley, New York, pp 279–292
- Carrez PMC (1908) Le ferrocyanure de potassium et l'acétate de zinc comme agents de défécation des urines. Annales de chimie analytique 13:97–101
- 8. Deublein D, Steinhauser A (2008) Biogas from waste and renewable resources: an introduction. Wiley, Weinheim
- Fachverband Biogas e.V. (2012) Branchenzahlen 2011 und Prognose der Branchenentwicklung 2012/2013. http://www. biogas.org/edcom/webfvb.nsf/id/DE_PM-29-12/\$file/12-11-16_ Biogas%20Branchenzahlen%202011-2012-2013.pdf Accessed 10 Jul 2014
- Frac M, Ziemiňski K (2012) Methane fermentation process for utilization of organic waste. Int Agrophy 26:317–330
- Hagen M, Polman E, Jensen J, Myken A, Jönsson O, Dahl A (2001) Adding gas from biomass to the gas grid. Swedish Gas Center, Malmö
- Hahn H, Krautkremer B, Hartmann K (2014) Review of concepts for a demand-driven biogas supply for flexible power generation. Renew Sust Energ Rev 29:383–393
- Hashimoto AG (1982) Methane from cattle waste: effect of temperature, hydraulic retention time, and influent substrate concentration on kinetic parameter. Biotechnol Bioeng 14:2039–2052
- Hölker U (2013) Eine ständig aktualisierte und erweiterte Beschreibung von über 1.600 Biogasanlagen. http://www. biogaswissen.de. Accessed 10 Jul 2014
- Krishania M, Kumar V, Vijay VK (2013) Analysis of different techniques used for improvement of biomethanation process. Fuel 106:1–9
- Krishania M, Kumar V, Vijay VK (2012) Opportunities for improvement of process technology for biomethanation processes. Green process Synt 1:49–59
- Lerm S, Kleyböcker A, Miethling-Graff R, Alawi M, Kasina M, Liebrich M, Würdemann H (2012) Archaeal community composition affects the function of anaerobic co-digesters in response to organic overload. Waste Manag 32:389–399
- McInerney MJ and Bryant MP (1981) In: Wise DL (ed) Fuel gas production from biomass. Chemical Rubber Co. Press Inc. West Palm Beach, pp 26–40

- McInerney MJ, Sieber JR, Gunsalus RP (2009) Syntrophy in anaerobic global carbon cycles. Curr Opin Biotechnol 20:623–632
- Morita M, Sasaki K (2012) Factors influencing the degradation of garbage in methanogenic bioreactors and impacts on biogas formation. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 94:575–582
- Müller N, Worm P, Schink B, Stams AJM, Plugge CM (2010) Syntrophic butyrate and propionate oxidation processes: from genomes to reaction mechanisms. Environ Microbiol Rep 2:489–499
- Munk B, Bauer C, Gronauer A, Lebuhn M (2012) A metabolic quotient for methanogenic Archaea. Water Sci Technol 66:2311–2317
- Munk B, Lebuhn M (2014) Process diagnosis using methanogenic Archaea in maize-fed, trace element depleted fermenters. Anaerobe. doi:10.1016/j.anaerobe.2014.04.002
- Nordmann W (1977) Die Überwachung der Schlammfaulung. Korrespondenz Abwasser 3
- Parawira W (2012) Enzyme research and applications in biotechnological intensification of biogas production. Crit Rev Biotechnol 32:173–186
- Persson M, Jönsson O, Wellinger A (2006) Biogas upgrading to vehicle fuel standards and grid injection. Brochure of IEA Task 37 "Energy from Biogas and Landfill Gas"
- Rajagopal R, Masse D, Singh G (2013) A critical review on inhibition of anaerobic digestion process by excess ammonia. Bioresour Technol 143:632–641
- Refai S, Wassmann K, Deppenmeier U (2014) Short term effect of acetate and ethanol on methane formation in biogas sludge. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98:7271–7280
- Ryckebosch E, Drouillon M, Vervaeren H (2011) Techniques for Transformation of Biogas to Biomethane. Biomass Bioenergy 35:1633–1645
- Schink B (1997) Energetics of syntrophic cooperation in methanogenic degradation. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 61:262–280
- Schmidt JE, Ahring (1993) Effects of hydrogen and formate on the degradation of propionate and butyrate in thermophilic granules from an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor. Appl Environ Microbiol 59:2546–2551
- Sieber JR, McInerney MJ, Gunsalus RP (2012) Genomic insights into syntrophy: the paradigm for anaerobic metabolic cooperation. Annu Rev Microbiol 66:429–452
- Whitlock R (2012) German biogas market slumps in contrast to Europe http://www.renewableenergymagazine.com/
- Wilkie AC, Riedesel KJ, Owens JM (2000) Stillage characterization and anaerobic treatment of ethanol stillage from conventional and cellulosic feedstock. Biomass Bioenergy 19:63–102
- Wirth R, Kovács E, Maróti G, Bagi Z, Rákhely G, Kovács KL (2012) Characterization of a biogas-producing microbial community by short-read next generation DNA sequencing. Biotechnol Biofuels 5:41

Deringer

Chapter 4 - BEAP profiles as rapid test system for status analysis and early detection of process incidents in biogas plants

The decomposition of organic material in a biogas plant is performed by a complex microbial community. There are four key metabolic processes (hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis) degrading the substrates mainly to CO₂ and CH₄.

To monitor this degradation process and the biogas production it is crucial to ensure optimal performances in a biogas reactor. The biogas quantity and quality as well as the efficiency of the microbial conversion of organic material depend on the composition and the amount of substrates fed into a biogas reactor. Additionally, system-dependent physico-chemical parameters play a crucial role on biogas formation. The most common physico-chemical parameters for monitoring the process are the production of biogas, CH₄ content, pH, temperature, the NH₄⁺-N concentration, FOS and TAC values, and the concentration of individual VFA. These parameters are routinely used to check the anaerobic degradation of organic matter. However, the metabolic capacities of the individual microorganisms catalyzing the anaerobic conversion of biopolymers into CH₄ represent the most important factor of the overall performance of the entire system. A test system for the quantification of the metabolic capacity and thus, the performance of the microorganisms involved in the different digestion levels in biogas plants was not available. Consequently, it was difficult to determine the metabolic pathway constituting the bottleneck during biogas production and to identify specific reasons for imbalances in the microbial degradation process.

In the present study, a system is described allowing for the first time to quantify the performance of microorganisms involved in different digestion levels in biogas plants. The test system (<u>BEAP</u> profile) was based on the addition of intermediates of the anaerobic degradation process, butyrate (<u>B</u>CON), ethanol (<u>E</u>CON), acetate (<u>A</u>CON), or propionate (<u>P</u>CON), to biogas sludge samples and subsequent analysis of CH₄ formation in comparison to control samples without supplementation within 24 h. The study showed that the BEAP profile enables to monitor the metabolic capacity or metabolic potential of each of the four main microbial degradation levels. Thus, with the help of the BEAP profile it is possible to identify the rate-limiting step in biogas formation. Furthermore, a targeted optimization of biogas production during process incidents is now possible.

The analysis of agricultural biogas plants showing different process incidents allowed to distinguish between specific BEAP profiles. The beginning of NH₄⁺-N intoxication, the start of acidification, insufficient hydrolysis, and potential mycotoxin effects were determined by BEAP profiles. The BEAP profiles also function as a warning system to predict critical NH₄⁺-N concentration thresholds leading to a drop of CH₄ formation and a sustainable process failure. Thus, the BEAP profiles enable to identify process limitations with respect to microbial degradation level and to avoid process incidents in biogas plants.

BEAP profiles as rapid test system for status analysis and early detection of process incidents in biogas plants

Sarah Refai¹, Stefanie Berger¹, Kati Wassmann¹, Melanie Hecht², Thomas Dickhaus³, Uwe Deppenmeier^{1*}

¹Universität Bonn, Institut für Mikrobiologie und Biotechnologie, Meckenheimer Allee 168, 53115 Bonn, Germany

²Schaumann BioEnergy GmbH, An der Mühlenau 4, 25421 Pinneberg, Germany

³Bioreact GmbH, Gierlichsstraße 6, 53840 Troisdorf, Germany

*Corresponding author: Tel.: +49 228 735590; fax: +49 228 737576. e-mail: udeppen@uni-bonn.de

Key Words

Biogas, methane, renewable energy, renewable raw material, process failure, early warning system

<u>Abstract</u>

A method was developed to quantify the performance of microorganisms involved in different digestion levels in biogas plants. The test system was based on the addition of butyrate (BCON), ethanol (ECON), acetate (ACON) or propionate (PCON) to biogas sludge samples and the subsequent analysis of CH₄ formation in comparison to control samples. The combination of the four values was referred to as BEAP profile. Determination of BEAP profiles enabled rapid testing of a biogas plant's metabolic state within 24 h and an accurate mapping of all degradation levels in a lab-scale experimental setup. Furthermore, it was possible to distinguish between specific BEAP profiles for standard biogas plants and for biogas reactors with process incidents (beginning of NH₄⁺-N inhibition, start of acidification, insufficient hydrolysis and potential mycotoxin effects). Finally, BEAP profiles also functioned as a warning system for the early prediction of critical NH₄⁺-N concentrations leading to a drop of CH₄ formation.
Introduction

Biogas is one of the most important renewable energy sources and is produced from biomass of energy crops and organic waste. Most biogas plants in Germany are operated on silaged material from renewable energy crops, such as maize, grass and cereal (whole-crop silage) as well as solid and liquid manure [21, 28, 41]. Additionally, waste from the food industry, paper production, as well as biologically degradable packing material and fat can be used as substrates in a biogas plant [6, 10, 23, 46, 55, 64].

Biogas from organic matter is generated during an anaerobic, fermentative degradation process and consists mainly of methane (CH_4) and carbon dioxide (CO_2) . The anaerobic degradation taking place in a biogas reactor can be divided into a four step process. In the first step, referred to as hydrolysis, polysaccharides, lipids and proteins are converted into sugars, amino acids and fatty acids. In the following step, a process called acidogenesis, fermentative bacteria convert these substrates to volatile fatty acids (VFA; e.g. butyrate, propionate and acetate) and to a minor extent to alcohols (ethanol and propanol). Byproducts are hydrogen (H_2) and CO₂. Subsequently, acetate, H₂ and CO₂ are produced from VFA and alcohols during the acetogenic metabolism of syntrophic bacteria. In the last step methanogenic organisms produce CH_4 from H_2 and CO_2 (hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis) or CH₄ from and CO_2 acetate (aceticlastic methanogenesis).

Biogas quantity, quality and the efficiency of anaerobic conversion differ depending on the composition and the amount of substrates [4, 9, 21, 22, 64]. In addition, system-dependent physico-chemical parameters such as pH, carbonate buffer capacity (TAC; total alkalinity of carbonates) and nitrogen content as well as operating procedures such as organic loading rate or hydraulic retention time play key roles in the resulting substrate-specific CH₄ yields [62]. However, the most important factor for the biogas production process is the activity of the microorganisms catalyzing the biochemical reactions for the conversion of biopolymers into CH₄. It is evident that the weakest link in this biological chain determines the overall performance of the entire system. Unfortunately, methods do not exist to quantify the performance of microorganisms involved in the different digestion levels in biogas plants to address the question which metabolic pathway constitutes the bottleneck during biogas production. Moreover, it is difficult to determine a specific reason for incidents in the microbial degradation process. However, recently a new parameter referred to as Metabolic Quotient was introduced for the determination of methanogenic activity and as a warning system of process acidification, which is based on qPCR and RT-qPCR methods [43].

In general, three common incidents contribute to the reduction of biogas: the reduction of the hydrolytic potential, high ammonium/ ammonia concentrations or high VFA concentrations. Firstly, the efficiency of the hydrolytic breakdown depends on the availability of hydrolytic exo-enzymes (e.g. glycosyl hydrolases). These enzymes cleave large polysaccharides into oligo-, di- and monosaccharides that can then be transported into the cells for further degradation. Consequently, the presence of a large number of enzymatically active proteins is essential to facilitate the conversion of the original feedstocks into biogas [8, 16, 25, 50, 59]. Secondly, a high concentration of ammonium ions (referred to as ammonium nitrogen, NH_4^+ -N) in equilibrium with ammonia (NH₃) can also lead to reduced biogas production [27, 47, 51, 52]. Finally, increasing concentrations of VFA can lead to process disruption [1, 3, 31, 48]. VFA accumulation can be caused by various factors: e.g. high organic loading rates, fat-rich substrates [26, 30], trace element deficiency and toxic substances. In summary, a successful degradation of complex organic

polymers depends on the substrates themselves and the fermentative potential of the corresponding microorganisms. This leads to the conclusion that any incident involving a reduced biogas production results from insufficient metabolic activities by one or more groups of microorganisms in biogas plants. The aim of this study was to develop a test system that allows the quantitation of the performance of biogas sludge samples. The system is based on the application of metabolic intermediates formed naturally during anaerobic degradation of organic matter. Additionally, these intermediates are educts for metabolic pathways involved in different digestion levels. The test system can be used to map the biogas formation process on each level of anaerobic degradation. Furthermore, it can be employed as a warning system to identify upcoming process failures in a biogas plant.

Material and methods

Setup of small-scale batch reactors to determine BEAP values

The biogas sludge samples used in this study were obtained from 53 mesophilic and two thermophilic biogas plants operated with temperatures of $38 - 47 \degree C$ and $50 - 55 \degree C$, respectively (Table S1). The main input substrates of the biogas plants were maize silage, green rye silage, wheat grains, sugar beets, cattle/ horse/ swine manure, and poultry dry manure. Samples from full-scale reactors were collected in sealed plastic bottles and stored at 4 °C till use. Batch experiments were performed according to Refai et al. [53]. Briefly, 20 g of original biogas sludge were transferred into 120 mL serum flasks under anaerobic conditions, sealed with a rubber stopper and purged with N₂/CO₂ (50/50 %, 1 atm) for 10 min. For the analysis of the BEAP profiles, butyrate/ butyric acid, acetate/ acetic acid, ethanol or propionate/ propionic acid solutions were adjusted to pH 8 and added to a final concentration of 50 mM. Equal amounts of H₂O were added to control flasks. The small batch fermenters were incubated at 40 °C for 24 h and 200 rpm. After 24 h the amount of CH₄ was measured according to Refai et al. [53] and was indicated as umol CH₄ formed per 1 g sludge per day (μ mol CH₄ g⁻¹ d⁻¹). The overpressure within the serum flasks was quantified with a gastight glass syringe. The CH₄ content was determined by injecting 20 µl from the gas phase into a gas chromatograph model Clarus® 480 (PerkinElmer, Waltham, USA) equipped with a flame ionisation detector and a Rascon FFAP column (25 m 0.25 micron, PerkinElmer, Waltham, USA. The temperatures of injector, detector, and column oven were set to 150 °C, 250 °C and 120 °C, respectively. A gas mixture of 10 % CH₄ and 90 % argon (Air Liquid, Düsseldorf, Germany) was used as standard.

<u>CH₄ formation in semi-continuous lab-scale</u> reactors

For the determination of the CH₄ production and the ECON- and ACON values, samples were taken from the reactors and incubated for 24 h at 40 °C as indicated above [53]. Biogas bv semi-continuous produced lab-scale fermenters was collected in gas collection bags (Tecobag, Fa. Tesseraux Spezialverpackungen GmbH, Bürstadt, Germany) and the gas volume was determined by a drum gas meter (Fa. Ritter, Bochum, Germany). CH₄ and CO₂ concentrations were detected by a biogas analysis unit (VISIT 03, Messtechnik EHEIM GmbH, Germany). Calibration of the instrument was carried out daily (Messer, Industriegase GmbH, Germany).

Calculation of the theoretical CH4 yield

Amon *et al.* published mean values for biogas and CH₄ yields from various energy crops and livestock manures [5]. These values are based on batch fermentation experiments according to the methods of VDLUFA [61]. Using these data, we calculated the theoretical CH₄ yield of all biogas plants analyzed in this study. The calculation was based on the size of the fermentation reactor and the composition and

quantities of the substrates fed to each biogas plant. E.g. a full-scale biogas plant with a fermentation reactor of 1,500 m³ is fed with 2 t fresh mass (FM) of maize silage and 8 t FM of cattle manure every day. Maize silage yields 202 m³ biogas t [FM]⁻¹ with a CH₄ content of 53 %. 48 m³ biogas t [FM]⁻¹ is produced from cattle manure containing 55 % CH₄ [5]. Hence, under steady state conditions 425.3 m³ CH₄ or 18975 mol CH₄ is produced per day. Taking into account the volume of the reactor and the density of the biogas sludge (1.05-g-L^{-1}) 12.1 µmol CH₄ d⁻¹ mL⁻¹ should be produced in the biogas plant. This value is then compared to the CH₄ yield obtained from small-scale batch reactors within 24 h.

Set up of semi-continuous lab-scale reactors

To analyze the effect of increasing NH₄⁺-N concentrations on biogas formation acryl glass vessels with a capacity of 9 L (ATB Potsdam) and stirring devices (Stirring devices: IKA RW 20, Heidolph RZR 2051, controlling device: Conrad Electronics) were used [54]. The double walled and plastic foam isolated labscale reactors were connected to a 39 °C water bath. The reactors were filled with diluted biogas sludge from a mesophilic biogas plant and fed with maize silage. During the startup phase the amount of substrate was increased over 2.5 weeks until an organic loading rate of $3 \text{ g oDM } d^{-1} L^{-1}$ was reached (day 1 of the experiment), which was then maintained until the end of the experiment. The OLR of 3 g oDM d⁻¹ L⁻¹ corresponded the biogas plant, where the inoculum came from. The stirring period of the lab-scale reactors was 15 min followed by a break of stirring for 60 min. Once a day 300 mL of the fermenter content was removed. Maize silage as substrate was diluted in 200 mL fermenter content and was added to the fermenters. The remaining 100 mL samples from the lab-scale reactors were collected in sealed plastic bottles and stored at 4 °C till analyzing the BEAP values in small scale batch fermenters as described above. After 5 days of steady state

with NH_4^+ fermentation constant concentrations, BEAP values and CH_4 the NH4⁺-N production (day 1-5). concentration in the test fermenters was increased by adding 3.6 g urea L⁻¹ biogas sludge. To further increase the NH4+-N concentration 0.23 g urea L⁻¹ biogas sludge was added on days 7, 8, 9 and 13.

Determination of physico-chemical parameters

butyric-, and propionic Acetic-, acid concentrations were determined by gas chromatography as described by Refai et al. [54] with sample preparation following the Carrez method [19]. The volatile fatty acid content (VFA) and the carbonate buffer capacity (TAC) were analyzed according to Nordmann [49]. Briefly, a sample of biogas sludge is titrated with 0.1 N H₂SO₄ up to pH 5.0 to calculate the TAC value, expressed in mg L⁻¹ of CaCO₃ (TAC= A* 250 [mg $CaCO_3 L^{-1}$ – with A = consumption of H₂SO₄ in mL). The FOS value is obtained after a second titration step between pH 5.0 and pH 4.4 and is expressed in mg L⁻¹ of acetic acid (FOS = $((B * 1.66) - 0.15)* 500 \text{ [mg L}^{-1}$ HAc] – with B = consumption of H_2SO_4 in mL). The NH₄-N concentration was measured by a gas-sensitive NH₃-Elektrode [60]. The determination of organic dry mass (oDM) was performed as described in German Standard DIN 12879. Briefly 2 g of biogas sludge was incubated at 150 °C for 2 h to measure the dry weight (DM). The resulting material was then heated to 550 °C for 75 min to determine the oDM.

Results

Definition of BEAP profiles

The entire reaction chain from biopolymers to CH_4 can be described by four interdependent steps referred to as hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis. In general, the weakest link of this chain limits the performance of the overall process. However, there is no analytic method available to

quantify the performance of each degradation step in one experimental setup. Therefore, we developed a test system to analyze the efficiency and the catalytic capacity of various groups of prokaryotes involved in anaerobic degradation of organic matter. In the test system, authentic biogas sludge samples were supplemented with the metabolic intermediates butyrate and propionate as substrates of syntrophic bacteria, respectively, or with acetate as substrate for aceticlastic methanogens. The forth substrate was ethanol, which is converted to acetate and H₂ by ethanol-oxidizing bacteria and further on to CH₄ and CO₂ by aceticlastic methanogens. H₂, in turn, is used as reductant in the process of CH₄ formation from CO₂ catalyzed by hydrogenotrophic methanogens. To investigate the effect of these additives on CH₄ formation, batch reactors containing 20 g biogas sludge were used which reflect process conditions similar to those in the full-scale biogas plant [53]. From percental differences between CH₄ formation of supplemented and nonsupplemented biogas sludge, so called BEAP profiles were generated. The respective experimental setup was referred to as BCON (addition of 50 mM butyrate in comparison to the control), ECON (addition of 50 mM ethanol in comparison to the control), ACON (addition of 50 mM acetate in comparison to the control) and PCON (addition of 50 mM propionate in comparison to the control). The corresponding values indicate CH₄ formation (%) in comparison to control reactors (set to 100%). The term "BEAP" derives from the first letters of the additives.

BEAP profiles of efficiently running biogas plants

BEAP profiles of more than 50 samples from different German agricultural biogas plants were determined in this study (Table S1). 16 of these biogas plant operated very well and did not reveal process failures or a decrease in performance in the three months before sampling, indicating a stabile microbial degradation of organic matter. Biogas sludge samples of these plants showed an extensive increase in CH₄ formation after addition of ethanol or acetate. In contrast, the addition of propionate or butyrate did not result in significantly increased CH₄ yields. These criteria were used to group these reactors in biogas plant cluster 1. The selected plants were operated with different amounts of renewable organic materials (maize silage, wheat grain, rye grain, grass silage and animal feces, e.g. cattle- or horse manure, chicken litter). CH₄ production, acetic-, butyric- and propionic acid concentrations, pH values, NH4+-N content and VFA- and TAC values were analyzed to monitor the status of the biogas plants and to determine correlations between these parameters and specific BEAP profiles (Table S1). The operating temperature of the plants was between 39 °C and 55 °C. The pH value was 7.9 ± 0.1 . Each plant exhibited different NH_4^+ -N-contents (1.5 - 4.5 g L⁻¹) and acid concentrations (e.g. 1.0 - 18.8 mM acetate and < 0.4 - 5.5 mM propionate) (Table S1). of Biogas sludge these plants was supplemented with the BEAP substrates and was incubated for 24 h in serum bottles. CH₄formation was measured and calculated as indicated in materials and methods. The average CH₄ production of the small-scale batch fermenters without any supplementation was $57.4 \pm 10.8 \ \mu mol \ g^{-1} \ d^{-1}$ and was slightly higher than the theoretically calculated CH₄ formation in the full-scale biogas plants. Strongly increased CH₄ production was observed after addition of acetate or ethanol. indicated by ECON and ACON values of 190 - 254 % and 163 - 209 %, respectively (CH₄ production of control fermenters was set to 100%) (Table S1). In contrast, CH₄ formation was only 111 ± 8 % after butyrate addition and 102 ± 10 % after propionate supplementation (Fig. 1). From these data the BEAP profile for a cluster 1 biogas plant was BCON < 120 %, defined as ECON 190 - 260 %, ACON 160 - 210 % and PCON ≤115 %.

The use of BEAP profiles for the identification of process incidents in biogas plants

As shown above cluster 1 biogas plants are characterized by a specific BEAP profile with high ECON and ACON values and low BCON and PCON values. So the question arose whether process failures can be detected by deviant BEAP profiles and whether BEAP values allow to distinguish between various process incidents (Table S1). Besides cluster 1 biogas plants, four other clusters could be identified each with a characteristic BEAP profile. Biogas plants of cluster 2 revealed increased NH4⁺-N concentrations $(4.8 \pm 0.8 \text{ g L}^{-1})$ in comparison to cluster 1 reactors $(2.9 \pm 0.7 \text{ g L}^{-1})$. Ammonium is a product of urea hydrolysis or anaerobic protein degradation in biogas sludge. It is essential for bacterial growth, but high concentrations may lead to a decrease or even a failure of CH4 production due to toxicity caused by NH₃ Interestingly, increased formation [20]. NH₄⁺-N contents in biogas plants resulted in a specific BEAP profile, characterized by the reduction of all BEAP values (BCON \leq 120 %, ECON 140 - 160 %, ACON 105 - 150 % and PCON \leq 100 %; CH₄ production of control fermenters was set to 100 %) (Fig. 2a). In contrast, CH₄ yields were still > 100 % of the calculated CH₄ yield. pH and TAC values were slightly increased. Total VFA concentrations as well as acetate, butyrate and propionate concentrations were in the same range as in cluster 1 biogas plants (Table S1).

Cluster 3 comprises malfunctioning biogas plants with biogas production of < 100 % (average of 75 %) of the calculated CH₄ yield (Fig. 2b). NH₄⁺-N concentrations, VFA/TAC ratios and acid concentrations were within normal range [32] and therefore, no evidence for process failures could be observed based on parameters (Table S1). But interestingly, all BEAP values were strongly increased. This process limitation could be detected in seven biogas sludge samples and a typical range of each BEAP value could be

77

defined: BCON 180 - 300 %, ECON 240 - 350 %, ACON 190 - 260 %, PCON 140 - 270 % (CH₄ production of control fermenters was set to 100 %) (Fig. 2b).

Cluster 4 biogas plants were characterized by increased BCON- and PCON values (Fig. 2c). ACON- and ECON values did not differ from those of cluster 1 biogas plants. Additionally, the CH₄ yield was ≥ 100 % compared to the theoretical calculated values (Fig. 2c). The BEAP profile of this cluster of could defined facilities be as BCON 150 - 250 %, ECON 190 – 260 %, ACON 160 - 210 % and PCON 120 - 170 %. Besides strongly increased BCON values, slightly reduced pH (7.8 ± 0.3) and TAC $(14.8 \pm 6.6 \text{ g CaCO}_3)$ values could be detected in comparison to those of cluster 1 (Table S1).

One biogas plant belongs to cluster 5, which was accidentally fed with mildew permeated maize silage and it was suggested that this reactor suffered from mycotoxin intoxication. The biogas plant had a reduced CH₄ yield of 52 % and a slightly increased VFA/TAC ratio $(0.3 \text{ g HAceq g}^{-1}\text{CaCO}_3)$ as well as an elevated concentration of acetate (43 mM). In contrast, pH value, NH4⁺-N content, and the concentrations of butyrate and propionate were within normal range [32]. However, the BEAP profile was uniquely characterized by a very low ACON of 112 % and a normal ECON value of 205 %. BCON (136%) and PCON (116%) were slightly increased. This was the only example for a biogas plant revealing divergent ECON and ACON values.

In summary, all four clusters with nonstandard BEAP profiles could be mapped to dysfunctions in the digestion levels during the anaerobic breakdown of renewable organic material. This context is explained in detail in the discussion. As indicated above many biogas plants could be grouped into the five BEAP profiles. However, it is important to note that not all biogas plants fit into these clusters. This was especially true for biogas plants with severe process incidences and CH₄ yields < 50% of the theoretical value (Table S1). Most of these reactors suffered NH4⁺-N from severe intoxication or acidification. A few biogas plants revealed normal physico-chemical parameters but showed reduced BEAP profiles and CH4 yields. Possible reasons could be other process limitations (e.g. trace elements limitation, abrupt substrate change, access of air) [11] which were not analyzed in this project. A third group of biogas plants showed BEAP profiles that indicated a transient state between two clusters. These findings suggested that the microbiome in the biogas sludge is not static but is subject to change depending on the overall process management. The five clusters presented here represent snap shots of the metabolic status of biogas plants. It is also possible to analyze the time course of the metabolic capacity of the microbial community in biogas plants by regular probing and BEAP profile analysis as shown below.

BEAP profiles for the early detection of NH₄⁺-N induced process failure

As mentioned above, NH₄⁺ is essential for the growth of prokaryotes, but an excess of these ions can inhibit biogas formation [38]. However, the inhibitory threshold concentration of NH4⁺-N is different for each biogas plant and cannot be predicted by standard parameters measuring or by theoretical considerations. Therefore, we used semi-continuous laboratory-scale reactors to simulate a process failure due to high NH₄⁺-N concentrations and to analyze the development of BEAP profiles in the course of NH4+-N intoxication. Six acryl glass reactors were filled with 8 L of diluted biogas sludge from a mesophilic biogas plant operated on renewable energy crops and manure. Feeding of the fermenters was slowly raised by adding increasing amounts of maize silage until an OLR of 3 g oDM $d^{-1} L^{-1}$ was reached (Phase 1, Fig. 3). This OLR was identical to the OLR of the biogas plant which was used to inoculate

the fermenters. The OLR was maintained throughout the entire experiment.

In phase 1 of the experiment the fermenters were kept under non-stress conditions for 5 days. All physico-chemical parameters and the BEAP values were stabile during that period (Fig. 3; Phase 1; Table S2). The NH₄⁺-N concentration of the reactors at this time point was 2.6 ± 0.04 g L⁻¹ and was set to 100 %. At the beginning of the second phase 28.6 g of urea was added to the stress fermenters followed by the addition of 1.8 g urea on days 7, 8 and 13. The additions led to a continuous increase of NH4⁺-N up to 183 % in the stress reactors compared to the control reactors (Fig. 3, Phase 2; Table S2). During that time period the CH₄ production in all stress reactors did not differ from the rate of biomethanization in the control reactors. In contrast to the CH₄ formation, the ECON- and the ACON values in the stress reactors already decreased significantly by 38 % and 50 %, respectively when the NH4+-N concentration reached 120 % at day 8 (Fig. 3, Phase 2). Also, the BCON value was reduced by more than 30%, while the PCON value revealed ambiguous results (data not shown). In contrast to the BEAP values, VFA and TAC values increased by less than 10 %, which is within the range of the normal fluctuation in a biogas plant. Thus, ECON- and ACON values can function as an effective warning system that detects a NH₄⁺-N induced process inhibition earlier than common performance parameters.

The inhibitory effect of elevated NH_4^+ -N concentrations in Phase 2 reached its maximum on day 13 with a reduction of ECON and ACON values by 65 % and 60 %, respectively. VFA and TAC values increased dramatically at this point to 150 % and 130 % indicating an imminent malfunction in the stress reactors. Interestingly, CH₄ formation was constant in Phase 2 and started to drop not before day 15 (Fig. 3, Phase 3; Table S2). In parallel, ECON and ACON values further decreased by 65 % and 60 % compared to the ECON and ACON values of the control

fermenters, respectively. Obviously, the microbiome of the biogas sludge could cope with an increased NH4+-N concentration up to a certain threshold (Fig. 3, Phase 2, Table S2). Above this threshold the entire system was inhibited, indicated by a reduced CH₄ yield (Phase 3). Hence, it is evident that the ACON and ECON values are sensitive parameters to predict critical NH4⁺-N thresholds that lead to reduced biomethanization. After 35 days, CH₄ production in the stressed reactors was 89 ± 9 % compared to the control reactors (Fig. 3, Phase 4; Table S2). This recovery was due to the decrease of the NH4+-N concentration to 143 % compared to control fermenters. However, ACON and ECON values were still reduced by 56 % and 52 % compared to the control indicating that the original metabolic capacity for ethanol and acetate degradation had not been regained completely.

Monitoring an ammonia induced incident in a full-scale commercial biogas plant

ECON and ACON values as a warning system were also tested in a mesophilic full-scale biogas plant, which was fed with maize silage, cattle manure and poultry litter. The process of biogas production was observed for 13 months. Biogas sludge samples of the biogas plant were taken monthly and analyzed in lab-scale batch reactors to investigate CH₄ production, ECON and ACON values. Additionally, physicochemical parameters such as pH, NH4⁺-N concentration, acid concentrations and the VFA and TAC values were determined. Daily substrate input records and standard gas yields were used to calculate the theoretical CH4 formation (Material and methods) [5]. The experiments revealed that the CH₄ production of sludge samples remained at a constant level of $51.7 \pm 0.4 \,\mu\text{mol g}^{-1} \,d^{-1}$ during the first five months of monitoring and was > 100 % of the theoretical production rate (Fig. 4; Phase 1). In addition, the BEAP profile fit the criteria of a cluster 1 biogas plant (BCON $116 \pm 7 \%$, ECON 219 ± 8 %, ACON 180 ± 15 % and PCON 107 ± 2 %). After five months, the

Phase 2 the amount of poultry litter was increased from 4.2 to 6.1 t fresh mass d⁻¹. Consequently, the NH₄⁺-N concentration raised from 3 g L^{-1} to 4.4 g L^{-1} but no significant changes could be observed in terms of biomethanization (Fig. 4, Phase 2). In contrast, ECON and ACON values decreased by 52.8 % and 44.1 %, respectively. During the following months, the NH₄⁺-N concentration further increased and the CH₄ formation slightly dropped by 14 % (Fig. 4, Phase 3). After 11 months, NH4⁺-N concentration peaked at 5.8 g L⁻¹ and ECON and ACON values decreased by 111 % and 78 %, respectively, compared to the values at the end of Phase 1. In parallel, the VFA value increased by 125 % and the TAC value by 65 %. In Phase 4, poultry litter input was reduced with the NH₄⁺-N concentration subsequently decreasing to 4.6 g L^{-1} . Consequently, the CH₄ vield recovered until reaching the plant's initial CH₄ formation $(51.7 \pm 0.4 \mu \text{mol g}^{-1} \text{ d}^{-1})$. However, ECON and ACON values were still low at 142.8 % and 132.4 %, respectively. The results indicate that methanogenic archaea and syntrophic ethanol-oxidizing bacteria had not completely recovered from the NH4⁺-N intoxication of the biogas reactor.

composition of substrate input changed. In

To shed light on the question whether BEAP values can be used as an effective warning system for NH₄⁺-N intoxication, it is necessary to have a closer look at the transition from Phase 1 to Phase 2. As mentioned above, CH₄ formation was not influenced by the early increase in NH₄⁺-N concentration in Phase 2. In contrast, ECON and the ACON values severely dropped from 227 % to 185 % and from 192% to 155%, respectively, at the transition from Phase 1 to Phase 2. Interestingly, the VFA and TAC values only marginally increased and were still in range of cluster 1 biogas plants (Table S1). For this reason, it is difficult to evaluate whether inhibition of biogas production is imminent or whether the parameters are still in a tolerable range. However, the ECON and ACON values

clearly indicated reduced metabolic capacity of the biogas plant at an early stage before the CH₄ formation dropped. Taking together all results, the BEAP values can clearly be used as a sensitive warning system to determine an upcoming process failure because of high NH_4^+ -N concentrations.

Discussion

The breakdown of organic matter in commercial biogas plant involves many interacting groups of microorganisms, which degrade complex organic polymers into biogas [39]. Because of the complexity of the system, small changes in any process parameters can lead to increasing or decreasing CH₄ production and a shift of the delicate equilibrium within the microbial community. Usually the whole biological process is monitored by biogas formation, CH₄ content, pH value, temperature, NH4⁺-N concentration, TAC- and VFA values and the concentrations of acetic-, butyric- and propionic acid [1, 12, 14, 15, 33, 37]. Thus, each parameter reflects the total biogas formation process. In contrast, test systems to analyze individual steps of the whole process are scarce [39]. In general, the entire degradation process in a biogas plant can be described as a chain of reactions where the slowest reaction defines the overall rate of biomethanization. The BEAP profiles presented in this study allow for the first time to monitor the metabolic functionality of each of the four main microbial degradation levels and to identify the rate-limiting step of the process. Each BEAP value indicates the change of the CH₄ formation after feeding the BEAP substrate butyrate, corresponding ethanol, acetate or propionate (Fig. 5). In case of increasing CH₄ formation it is evident that the organisms responsible for the degradation possess additional capacity for the utilization of external substrates which are degraded in addition to the substrates normally formed in the biogas sludge. Hence, with this test system, it was possible to answer the question which

80

degradation level causes the bottleneck during CH₄ formation.

The metabolic intermediates butyrate (BCON) and propionate (PCON) are substrates of syntrophic bacteria and the degradation of these compounds represent the most important pathways during acetogenesis [56]. The ACON value gives information on the conversion of acetate by aceticlastic methanogens [65]. Control experiments revealed that ACON values are not influenced by high H₂ concentrations in the headspace [53]. Moreover, it was shown that the addition of H₂ significantly increases the rate of CH₄ formation if mass transfer from the gas phase to the sludge was improved [36]. These results showed that the process of acetate conversion does not depend on syntrophic acetate oxidation. which is thermodynamically unfavorable under this condition [58]. Supplementation with ethanol results in the formation of acetate which is converted to CH₄ and CO₂ (aceticlastic methanogens) and H₂ which is metabolized to CH₄ by CO₂ reduction (hydrogenotrophic methanogens). Hence, the ECON value determines the metabolic potential of ethanol-oxidizing bacteria and methanogenic archaea. Furthermore, the comparison of the ACON and the ECON values allows an estimation of the performance of hydrogenotrophic methanogens (Fig. 5). In summary, the BEAP values directly reveal the potential capacity of acetogenesis and methanogenesis in biogas plants. Acidogenesis describes the primary fermentation of cleavage products from biopolymers (especially polysaccharides) and is not considered as ratelimiting step in biogas plants. This statement is proven by the fact that the addition of monosaccharides or disaccharides always led to an acidification of the biogas sludge samples used in this study. This pH drop resulted from a rapid degradation of sugars by fermentative bacteria and a strong increase of the VCA concentrations (data not shown). Hence, the formation rate of butyrate and propionate was faster than their degradation rate. In full scale

biogas plants it was also observed that an increased feeding with eupeptic polysaccharides can lead to acidification and to a breakdown of biomethanization [34]. The estimation of the performance of hydrolysis as the first digestive level is possible by comparing the BEAP values and the determination of the rate-limiting step. In case all BEAP values show a significant higher level than the values of cluster 1, the hydrolytic step is rate-limiting (see below).

As shown above it is possible to define different clusters of biogas plants differing with respect to their BEAP profiles. Cluster 1 comprises efficiently running biogas plants with stable process stages that were characterized by high ECON (190-260%) and ACON (160-210%) values. As evident from these values, the addition of ethanol to biogas sludge can cause a stronger increase of CH₄ formation compared to the addition of acetate. The observation is explained by the fact that 1 mol of ethanol is converted to 1.5 mol CH₄ and 0.5 mol CO₂ by the catalytic activity of ethanol-oxidizing bacteria. aceticlastic methanogens and hydrogenotrophic methanogens. In contrast, acetate is converted to 1 mol CH₄ and 1 mol CO₂. Hence, the expected ratio of ECON/ACON should be 1.5. Cluster 1 biogas plants also displayed a slightly increased biomethanization after supplementation with butyrate (BCON \leq 120 %) and propionate (PCON < 115 %). The data indicate that the biogas plants would produce about 20% and 15 % more CH₄ if additional butyrate and propionate would be fed to the fermenter, However, with respect to respectively. economic and technical issues, the supplementation with VFA is not feasible. Furthermore, it is evident that the capacity of ethanol-oxidizing bacteria and methanogenic archaea is largely unused. It was already suggested that the addition of ethanol produced by alcoholic fermentation could lead to an increased CH₄ production in biogas plants

without disturbing the normal flux of metabolites [54].

The second cluster of biogas plants is characterized by reduced ECON- and ACON values and increased NH4⁺-N concentrations indicating the beginning of NH₄⁺-N inhibition. It is known that high NH₄⁺-N concentrations can be responsible for reduced biogas production in biogas reactors [27, 47, 51, 52]. Furthermore, it has been suggested that methanogenic especially organisms are negatively affected by high NH4⁺-N concentrations, leading to a drop in CH₄ production [7, 35, 45]. These observations fit the decreased ACON- and ECON values of cluster 2 biogas plants.

In cluster 3 biogas plants all four BEAP values were strongly increased and the CH₄ yield was below 100 % of the theoretical calculated CH₄ values. The data indicate that the degradation levels of acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis possessed an excess of metabolic capacity. Hence, it is tempting to speculate that the rate-limiting step was located at the level of hydrolysis. Many studies have been conducted to circumvent this potential bottleneck by increasing the hydrolytic potential e.g. by the addition of hydrolytic enzymes and pretreatment of biopolymers for improved biodegradability [18, 44]. In summary, cluster 3 comprises biogas plants suffering from insufficient hydrolysis.

Cluster 4 biogas plants were characterized by a CH_4 yield of > 100 % and highly increased BCON values as well as slightly increased PCON values. ACON- and ECON values did not differ from those of a standard biogas plant. Enhanced BCON values point to а large potential of the microorganisms in the biogas sludge to oxidize butyrate to acetate and H_2 , indicating an accumulation of butyrate oxidizers. Hence, it is tempting to speculate that cluster 4 biogas plants are in the beginning of acidification which is one of the most common incidences

in biogas formation [13]. The hypothesis is that the reactors already suffer from an increased flux of butyrate from acidogenesis. This scenario could result in an accelerated proliferation of butyrate oxidizers and an increased metabolic capacity for butyrate oxidation leading to an elevated BCON value. The same could be true for propionate oxidizers accompanied by an increase of the PCON value. Once the flow of butyrate and propionate exceeds a certain threshold, the metabolic capacity of syntrophic acid oxidizers becomes rate-limiting and butyrate and propionate concentrations begin to rise. In this respect it is to mention that acetogenesis is a delicate life style because fatty acid oxidation coupled to H_2 (or formate) production by syntrophic bacteria is a highly endergonic process under standard conditions [42, 56]. In fact, an extremely low partial pressure of H₂ is necessary to allow propionate and butyrate degradation under anaerobic conditions [2, 17, 57]. Consequently, syntrophic bacteria can only grow in close association with H₂oxidizing methanogenic organisms that form CH₄ by the H₂-dependent reduction of CO₂ [41]. The depletion of acetate as product of butyrate oxidation by aceticlastic methanogens also important. Fortunately, is the methanogenic processes are not rate-limiting as ECON- and ACON values are high in Cluster 4 biogas plants.

The cluster 5 biogas plant, predicted to suffer from mycotoxin inhibition, revealed an unusual BEAP profile where the ECON value was much higher than the ACON value. This was the only biogas plant with divergent ECON- and ACON values that differed significantly from the expected ratio ECON/ACON of 1.5. Obviously, ethanol oxidation and methanogenesis from H₂ and CO₂ were highly effective but CH₄ formation from acetate was limited. Therefore, we suggest that acetate is not a free intermediate of ethanol conversion in this special biogas plant. Hence, acetyl-CoA formed from ethanol is not converted to acetate for substrate-level phosphorylation but is oxidized to H_2 and CO_2 in a process that resembles the metabolism of syntrophic acetate-oxidizing bacteria [28, 66]. Another possible explanation is that a special group of aceticlastic methanogens may be able to utilize ethanol as substrate thereby forming H_2 and acetyl-CoA which is converted to CH_4 and CO_2 intracellularly without acetate as intermediate. However, such a group of aceticlastic methanogens has not been discovered yet.

The use of the BEAP profile enables a rapid testing of the metabolic state of biogas plants within 24 h and an accurate mapping of all levels of anaerobic biopolymer degradation in a lab-scale experimental setup. In addition, it became evident that the BEAP profile can be used as a warning system to detect upcoming process failures during biogas formation e.g. caused by increased NH4⁺-N concentrations. Many reports about the NH4+-N content in anaerobic digesters are available and it is known that the main component causing NH4⁺-N intoxication is free NH₃ which is formed from NH₄⁺ depending on temperature and pH value [20]. However, conflicting results about inhibiting concentrations were obtained toxic NH₄⁺ concentrations because for anaerobic processes range from 2.8 to 8 g kg⁻¹ biogas sludge [24]. Furthermore, the inhibitory concentration depends on long-term adaptation of the microbiome [7, 63]. Especially, methanogenic archaea, responsible for the last degradation step, are sensitively affected by high NH_4^+ -N concentrations [7, 35, 45]. However, as shown in this publication the NH₄⁺-N concentration in full operating biogas plants can rise to a certain threshold with no significant changes in biomethanization. Only after exceeding this critical concentration a drop in CH₄ formation was observed. Furthermore, it is evident that the inhibitory threshold NH4⁺-N concentration varies between different biogas plants and unfortunately cannot be predicted from current analytic parameters. However, ACON- and ECON values are suitable parameters to determine the metabolic capacity of methanogenic archaea and to predict the critical NH₄⁺-N threshold that leads to a drop in biogas formation.

The knowledge about degradation processes in biogas reactors is currently still limited. However, to understand CH₄ production in detail and to demonstrate opportunities to optimize the process or to avoid incidents, a test system monitoring single levels of the biogas formation process is essential. Besides analyzing physico-chemical parameters, a microbial monitoring of the production process is crucial. Therefore, we developed the BEAP profile presented in this study. The BEAP profile allows an analysis of the performance and metabolic limitations of each step in the anaerobic breakdown of organic matter. Additionally, a classification of biogas plants with respect to process incidences (e.g. NH₄⁺-N intoxication, acidification or insufficient hydrolysis) is possible. Finally, when applied as a regular monitoring analysis, BEAP profiles can function as warning systems for NH₃-induced process disruption, thus preventing а commercial biogas plant from reduced biogas production and the ensuing financial losses.

Acknowledgement

We thank Yvonne Dills (Bioreact GmbH) for technical support and the analysis of physicochemical parameters. We would also like to thank Elisabeth Schwab, Lisa Nauroth and Maria Meyer for technical assistance.

Compliance with Ethical Standards

The authors affirm that the said publication complies with obligations and norms of the ethical standards of research.

Funding

This work was supported by funds from Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF, project no. 03SF0421A).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Ethical approval

This article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors.

References

- Ahring BK, Sandberg M, Angelidaki I (1995) Volatile fatty acids as indicators of process imbalance in anaerobic digestors. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 43: 559-565.
- Ahring BK, Westermann P (1988) Product inhibition of butyrate metabolism by acetate and hydrogen in a thermophilic coculture. Appl Environ Microbiol 54: 2393-2397.
- Alves MM, Pereira MA, Sousa DZ, Cavaleiro AJ, Picavet M, Smidt H, Stams AJ (2009) Waste lipids to energy: how to optimize methane production from long-chain fatty acids (LCFA). Microbial Biotechnol 2: 538-550.
- Amon T, Amon B, Kryvoruchko V, Zollitsch W, Mayer K, Gruber L (2007) Biogas production from maize and dairy cattle manure—influence of biomass composition on the methane yield. Agri Ecosyst Environ 118: 173-182.
- Amon T, Bischhoff M, Clemens J, Heuwinkel H, Keymer U, Meißauer G, Oechsner H, Reinhold G, Schelle H, Weiland P, Welsch W, Zerr W (2015) Gasausbeuten in landwirtschaftlichen Biogasanlagen. 3. Aufl., Heft 107. Kuratorium für Technik und Bauwesen in der Landwirtschaft e.V. Darmstadt, Germany. ISBN 978-3-945088-03-6.

- Angelidaki I, Ahring BK (1992) Effects of free long-chain fatty acids on thermophilic anaerobic digestion. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 37: 808-812.
- Angelidaki I, Ahring BK (1993) Thermophilic anaerobic digestion of livestock waste: the effect of ammonia. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 38: 560-564.
- Angelidaki I, Ahring BK (2000) Methods for increasing the biogas potential from the recalcitrant organic matter contained in manure. Water Sci Technol 41: 189-194.
- Angelidaki I, Ellegaard L, Ahring BK (1999) A comprehensive model of anaerobic bioconversion of complex substrates to biogas. Biotechnol Bioeng 63: 363-372.
- Avella M, Bonadies E, Martuscelli E, Rimedio R (2001) European current standardization for plastic packaging recoverable through composting and biodegradation. Polymer testing 20: 517-521.
- 11. Biogasforum Bayern -Prozessbiologische Störungen in NawaRo- und Gülleanlagen. https://www.biogas-forumbayern.de/publikationen/Prozessbiolog ische_Storungen_in_ NawaRo-Anlagen.pdf. Accessed 06 May 2016.
- 12. Björnsson L (2000) Intensification of the biogas process by improved process monitoring and biomass retention. Lund University.
- Blume F, Bergmann I, Nettmann E, Schelle H, Rehde G, Mundt K, Klocke M (2010) Methanogenic population dynamics during semi-continuous biogas fermentation and acidification

by overloading. J Appl Microbiol 109: 441-450.

- Boe K, Batstone DJ, Steyer JP, Angelidaki I (2010) State indicators for monitoring the anaerobic digestion process. Water Res 44: 5973-5980.
- 15. Boe K, Steyer JP, Angelidaki I (2008) Monitoring and control of the biogas process based on propionate concentration using online VFA measurement. Water Sci Technol 57: 661-666.
- 16. Bruni E, Jensen AP, Angelidaki I (2010) Comparative study of mechanical, hydrothermal, chemical and enzymatic treatments of digested biofibers to improve biogas production. Bioresour Technol 101: 8713-8717.
- Bryant MP, Wolin EA, Wolin MJ, Wolfe RS (1967) *Methanobacillus omelianskii*, a symbiotic association of two species of bacteria. Arch Mikrobiol 59: 20-31.
- Carrere H, Antonopoulou G, Affes R, Passos F, Battimelli A, Lyberatos G, Ferrer I (2016) Review of feedstock pretreatment strategies for improved anaerobic digestion: From lab-scale research to full-scale application. Bioresour Technol 199: 386-397.
- 19. Carrez MC (1908) Le ferrocyanure de potassium et l'acétate de zinc comme agents de défécation des urines. Ann Chim Anal 13: 97-101.
- Chen Y, Cheng JJ, Creamer KS (2008) Inhibition of anaerobic digestion process: a review. Bioresour Technol 99: 4044–4064.
- 21. Deublein D and Steinhauser A (2008) Substrates. In: Biogas from Waste and

RenewableResources:AnIntroduction.Wiley-VCHVerlagGmbH& Co.KGaA,Weinheim,Germany.pp 57-77.57-77.

- 22. Fantozzi F, Buratti C (2009) Biogas production from different substrates in an experimental continuously stirred tank reactor anaerobic digester. Bioresour Technol 100: 5783-5789.
- 23. Feng XM, Karlsson A, Svensson BH, Bertilsson S (2010) Impact of trace element addition on biogas production from food industrial waste–linking process to microbial communities. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 74: 226-240.
- 24. Gallert C, Winter J (1997) Mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic digestion of source-sorted organic wastes: effect of ammonia on glucose degradation and methane production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 48: 405-410.
- 25. Gerhardt M, Pelenc V, Bäuml M (2007) Application of hydrolytic enzymes in the agricultural biogas production: Results from practical applications in Germany. Biotechnol J 2: 1481-1484.
- 26. Goux X, Calusinska M, Lemaigre S, Marynowska M. Klocke M. Udelhoven T, Benizri E, Delfosse P (2015)Microbial community dynamics in replicate anaerobic sequentially digesters exposed to increasing organic loading rate, process acidosis. and recovery. Biotechnol Biofuels 8: 122.
- Hansen KH, Angelidaki I, Ahring BK (1998) Anaerobic digestion of swine manure: inhibition by ammonia. Water Res 32: 5-12.
- 28. Hashimoto G, Varel VH, Chen YR (1981) Ultimate methane yield from

beef cattle manure: Effect of temperature, ration conctituents, antibiotics and manure age. Agric Wastes 3: 241-256.

- 29. Hattori S (2008) Syntrophic acetateoxidizing microbes in methanogenic environments. Microbes Environ 23: 118-127.
- Hecht C, Bieler S, Griehl C (2005) Liquid chromatographic–mass spectrometric—analyses of anaerobe protein degradation products. J Chrom A 1088: 121-125.
- Hecht C, Griehl C (2009) Investigation of the accumulation of aromatic compounds during biogas production from kitchen waste. Bioresour Technol 100: 654-658.
- 32. IEA Bioenergy Process monitoring in biogas plants. http://www.nachhaltigwirtschaften. at/iea_pdf/reports/iea_bioenergy_task3
 7_brochure_biogas_process_montorin g.pdf. Accessed 04 May 2016.
- 33. Jantsch TG, Mattiasson B (2004) An automated spectrophotometric system for monitoring buffer capacity in anaerobic digestion processes. Water Res 38: 3645-3650.
- 34. Kampmann K, Ratering S, Geißler-Plaum R, Schmidt M, Zerr W, Schnell S (2014) Changes of the microbial population structure in an overloaded fed-batch biogas reactor digesting maize silage. Bioresour Technol 174: 108-117.
- 35. Karakashev D. Batstone DJ. Angelidaki I (2005) Influence of environmental conditions on methanogenic compositions in anaerobic biogas reactors. Appl Environ Microbiol 71: 331-338.

- 36. Kern T, Theiss J, Röske K, Rother M (2016). Assessment of hydrogen metabolism in commercial anaerobic digesters. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 100: 4699-4710.
- 37. Kim IS, Hwang MH, Jang NJ, Hyun SH, Lee ST (2004) Effect of low pH on the activity of hydrogen utilizing methanogen in bio-hydrogen process. Int J Hydrogen Energ 29: 1133-1140.
- 38. Krylova NI, Khabiboulline RE, Naumova RP, Nagel MA (1997) The influence of ammonium and methods for removal during the anaerobic treatment of poultry manure. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 70: 99-105.
- Lebhun M, Weiß S, Munk B, Guebitz GM (2015) Microbiology and Molecular Biology Tools for Biogas Process Analysis, Diagnosis and Control. Biogas Sci Technol 151, 1-40.
- McInerney MJ, Sieber JR, Gunsalus RP (2009) Syntrophy in anaerobic global carbon cycles. Curr Opin Biotechnol 20: 623-632.
- Møller HB, Sommer SG, Ahring BK (2004) Methane productivity of manure, straw and solid fractions of manure. Biomass Bioenergy 26: 485-495.
- 42. Müller N, Worm P, Schink B, Stams AJ, Plugge CM (2010) Syntrophic butyrate and propionate oxidation processes: from genomes to reaction mechanisms. Environ Microbiol Rep 2: 489-499.
- 43. Munk B, Bauer C, Gronauer A, Lebuhn M (2012) A metabolic quotient for methanogenic Archaea. Water Sci Technol 66: 2311.

- 44. Mutschlechner M, Illmer P, Wagner AO (2015) Biological pre-treatment: Enhancing biogas production using the highly cellulolytic fungus *Trichoderma viride*. Waste Manag 43: 98-107.
- 45. Nettmann E, Bergmann I, Pramschüfer S, Mundt K, Plogsties V, Herrmann C, Klocke M (2010) Polyphasic analyses of methanogenic archaeal communities in agricultural biogas plants. Appl Environ Microbiol 76: 2540-2548.
- Neves L, Oliveira R, Alves MM (2009) Co-digestion of cow manure, food waste and intermittent input of fat. Bioresour Technol 100: 1957-1962.
- 47. Nielsen HB, Angelidaki I (2008) Strategies for optimizing recovery of the biogas process following ammonia inhibition. Bioresour Technol 99: 7995-8001.
- Nielsen HB, Uellendahl H, Ahring BK (2007) Regulation and optimization of the biogas process: propionate as a key parameter. Biomass Bioenergy 31: 820-830.
- 49. Nordmann W (1977) Die Überwachung der Schlammfaulung.
 KA-Informationen für das Betriebspersonal, Beilage zur Korrespondenz Abwasser, 3/77.
- 50. Petersson A, Thomsen MH, Hauggaard-Nielsen H, Thomsen AB (2007) Potential bioethanol and biogas production using lignocellulosic biomass from winter rye, oilseed rape and faba bean. Biomass Bioenergy 31: 812-819.
- 51. Procházka J, Dolejš P, Máca J, Dohányos M (2012) Stability and inhibition of anaerobic processes

caused by insufficiency or excess of ammonia nitrogen. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93: 439-447.

- 52. Rajagopal R, Massé DI, Singh G (2013) A critical review on inhibition of anaerobic digestion process by excess ammonia. Bioresour Technol 143: 632-641.
- Sefai S, Wassmann K, Deppenmeier U (2014a) Short-term effect of acetate and ethanol on methane formation in biogas sludge. Appl Microbiology Biotechnol 98: 7271-7280.
- 54. Refai S, Wassmann K, van Helmont S, Berger S, Deppenmeier U (2014b) Increase of methane formation by ethanol addition during continuous fermentation of biogas sludge. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 41: 1763-1772.
- 55. Sage M, Daufin G, Gesan-Guiziou G (1999) Effect of prehydrolysis of milk fat on its conversion to biogas. J Dairy Sci 91: 4062-4074.
- 56. Schink B (1997) Energetics of syntrophic cooperation in methanogenic degradation. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 61: 262-280.
- 57. Schmidt JE, Ahring BK (1993) Effects of hydrogen and formate on the degradation of propionate and butyrate in thermophilic granules from an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor. Appl Environ Microbial 59: 2546-2551.
- 58. Stams AJ (1994) Metabolic interactions between anaerobic bacteria in methanogenic environments. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 66: 271-294.
- 59. Taherzadeh MJ, Karimi K (2008) Pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes

to improve ethanol and biogas production: a review. Int J Mol Sci 9: 1621-1651.

- 60. VDLUFA-Methodenbuch (1995) Bestimmungen von Ammonium-Stickstoff. Band II.1. Die Untersuchung von Düngemitteln. 4. Aufl., Darmstadt, Germany. ISBN 978-3-941273-15.
- 61. VDLUFA-Methodenbuch (2011) Bestimmung der Biogas- und Methanausbeute in Gärtests. Band VII. Umweltanalytik, 4. Aufl. Darmstadt, Germany. ISBN 978-3-941273-10-8.
- 62. Ward AJ, Hobbs PJ, Holliman PJ, Jones DL (2008) Optimisation of the anaerobic digestion of agricultural resources. Bioresour Technol 99: 7928-7940.
- 63. Webb AR, Hawkes FR (1985) The anaerobic digestion of poultry manure: variation of gas yield with influent concentration and ammonium-nitrogen levels. Agric Wastes 14: 135-156.
- 64. Weiland P (2006) Biomass digestion in agriculture: a successful pathway for the energy production and waste treatment in Germany. Eng Life Sci 6: 302-309.
- 65. Welte C, Deppenmeier U (2014) Bioenergetics and anaerobic respiratory chains of aceticlastic methanogens. Biochim Biophys Acta 1837: 1130-1147.
- 66. Westerholm M, Levén L, Schnürer A (2012) Bioaugmentation of syntrophic acetate-oxidizing culture in biogas reactors exposed to increasing levels of ammonia. Appl Environ Microbial 78: 7619-7625.

Figure legends

Figure 1: BEAP profile of standard biogas plants. CH₄ production of the control was $57.4 \pm 10.8 \,\mu\text{mol g}^{-1} \,\text{d}^{-1}$. BEAP values correspond to increase in CH₄ formation (in percentage) in comparison to the control. BCON, CH₄ production after adding butyrate and incubation for 24 h as indicated in materials and methods. ECON, CH₄ production after supplementation with ethanol. ACON, CH₄ production after addition of acetate. PCON, CH₄ production after addition of propionate. Each supplement was added at a final concentration of 50 mM. All experiments were conducted at least three times using 16 different biogas sludge samples. Standard deviations are indicated by *error bars*.

Figure 2: BEAP profiles of different biogas plant clusters. Butyrate (BCON), ethanol (ECON), acetate (ACON) and propionate (PCON) were added to small lab-scale batch reactors and CH₄ formation was measured after 24 h and compared to controls without supplementation. Each supplement was added at a final concentration of 50 mM. All experiments were conducted at least three times using different biogas sludge samples. The respective standard deviations are indicated by *error bars*. a) Cluster 2 (10 samples); b) Cluster 3 (seven samples) c) Cluster 4 (nine samples); d) Cluster 5 (one biogas plant). The CH₄ formation rate of the control was set at 100 % in each class. The increase [%] of the CH₄ formation rate in comparison to the control is indicated. *White boxes* in the background indicate BEAP values of standard biogas plants (Cluster 1).

Figure 3: Effect of increasing NH₄⁺-N concentrations on the performance of lab-scale reactors. *Bars*, NH₄⁺-N concentrations compared to the control reactors [%]. *Black diamonds*, CH₄ production compared to control reactors [%]. *White squares*, CH₄ production after addition of ethanol in stress reactors compared to ethanol supplemented control reactors [ECON %]. *Black squares*, CH₄ production after addition of acetate in stress fermenters compared to acetate supplemented control fermenters [ACON %]. *Black circles*, comparison of TAC values in control and stress fermenters [%]. *White circles*, comparison of VFA values in control and stress fermenters [%]. The values derive from three control and two stress reactors, respectively. CH₄ formation and ACON and ECON values were analyzed in triplicates as described in materials and methods. The respective standard deviations are indicated by *error bars*. Urea was added on day 5 (3.6 g L⁻¹ biogas sludge) and on days 7, 8, 9 and 13 (0.23 g L⁻¹ biogas sludge) to the reactors.

Figure 4: ECON and ACON value as warning system in a full-scale biogas plant. *Black diamonds*, CH₄ production $[\mu mol g^{-1} d^{-1}]$. *Gray bars*, NH₄⁺-N concentration $[g L^{-1}]$. *White squares*, ECON value [%] (CH₄ production after addition of ethanol compared to non-supplemented biogas sludge). *Black squares*, ACON value [%] (CH₄ production after addition of acetate compared to non-supplemented biogas sludge). *White triangle*, TAC value $[g CaCO_3 L^{-1}]$. *Black triangle*, VFA value $[g HAceq L^{-1}]$. CH₄ production experiments were conducted in triplicates. The respective standard deviations are indicated by *error bars*.

Figure 5: Scheme of the anaerobic degradation process in a biogas reactor and relevance of BEAP values.

Continuous arrows, direct correlation between the supplement and the metabolic potential of the digestion level. *Dashed arrows*, indirect correlation between the substrate and the microbial metabolism of the anaerobic degradation step.

Figure 1:





Figure 2:

Figure 3:



Figure 4:



Figure 5:



Cluster	Biogas Plant	temperature	pH- value	CH ₄ production	CH ₄ production	CH₄ production	BCON⁵	ECON⁰	ACONd	PCON ^e	VFA/ TAC	VFA ^f	TAC ^g	NH4+-Nh	acetic acid ⁱ	butyric acid ⁱ	propionic acid ^k
		[°C]		measured	calculated ^a	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[g HAceq g⁻¹CaCO₃]	[g HAceq]	[g CaCO ₃]	[g L ⁻¹]	[mM]	[mM]	[mM]
1	1	40	7.9	52.08 ± 4.8	47.04	110.7	116.8	210.3	183.8	111.1	0.18	3.28	18.7	3.14	4.50	< 0.33	< 0.41
1	2	40	8.0	48.72 ± 2.4	48.72	100.0	n.d.	227.8	171.2	n.d.	0.18	3.25	17.7	3.23	2.16	< 0.33	< 0.41
1	3	40	8.0	51.84 ± 11.8	45.84	113.1	n.d.	226.7	191.8	n.d.	0.17	3.06	17.7	2.98	4.83	< 0.33	< 0.41
1	4	40	8.0	48.24 ± 1.7	39.12	123.3	101.5	253.7	202.5	97.5	0.20	3.75	19.0	3.05	2.50	< 0.33	0.54
1	5	55	7.8	60.48 ± 3.1	49.44	122.3	111.7	190.5	182.2	102.0	0.28	2.83	10.2	1.54	11.82	< 0.33	1.22
1	6	55	7.8	49.68 ± 6.5	49.44	100.5	n.d.	218.2	173.3	n.d.	0.28	2.83	10.2	1.54	11.82	< 0.33	1.22
1	7	40	7.9	73.68 ± 6.2	54.00	136.4	106.6	234.1	165.6	75.5	0.20	3.60	17.9	3.05	2.50	< 0.33	< 0.41
1	8	40	8.1	48.96 ± 9.1	40.32	121.4	115.4	229.5	209.4	106.1	0.18	4.24	23.9	4.54	4.00	< 0.33	0.41
1	9	39	8.1	50.88 ± 15.4	46.08	110.4	119.5	245.0	187.2	111.7	0.20	3.31	16.7	2.98	1.00	< 0.33	0.81
1	10	39	7.8	80.40 ± 7.0	63.60	126.4	116.1	194.9	180.7	110.3	0.22	3.32	15.4	2.77	6.49	< 0.33	0.81
1	11	39	7.8	72.96 ± 16.3	63.60	114.7	101	196.8	184.9	98.2	0.22	3.28	15.2	2.79	6.16	< 0.33	0.68
1	12	45	8.0	51.60 ± 0.7	48.72	105.9	98.1	203.8	163.2	92.5	0.20	2.97	14.7	2.61	2.33	< 0.33	< 0.41
1	13	49	8.1	67.68 ± 0.7	67.92	100.0	104.1	202.5	184.7	93.5	0.25	4.14	16.3	3.07	7.00	< 0.33	1.76
1	14	41	7.9	49.44 ± 1.9	39.84	124.1	118.9	203.8	163.3	109.3	0.24	4.44	18.4	3.20	18.80	< 0.33	1.76
1	15	41	7.9	47.76 ± 1.0	40.08	119.2	114.0	198.8	173.0	109.7	0.20	2.98	15.1	2.53	3.80	< 0.33	0.54
1	16	43	8.0	61.92 ± 1.9	45.60	139.5	119.2	198.1	170.6	107.9	0.30	4.22	14.0	3.73	13.80	< 0.33	5.54
2	17	40	8.1	57.60 ± 7.9	50.16	114.8	n.d.	146.6	129.5	n.d.	0.20	4.61	22.8	4.28	6.49	< 0.33	0.68
2	18	39	8.2	55.44 ± 10.3	52.80	105.0	103.3	152.2	141.8	96.0	0.17	3.54	20.4	4.25	6.00	< 0.33	0.54
2	19	39	8.3	68.64 ± 13.9	62.40	110.0	81.2	137.3	105.3	91.3	0.19	4.44	23.6	5.38	18.15	< 0.33	0.81
2	20	39	8.2	49.20 ± 5.3	46.80	105.1	105.3	144.4	118.2	92.6	0.22	4.66	21.3	4.75	15.82	< 0.33	1.35
2	21	39	7.9	54.24 ± 5.0	51.60	105.1	113.9	138.9	123.1	98.6	0.24	4.64	19.4	3.94	7.66	< 0.33	1.08
2	22	39	7.9	35.52 ± 1.2	32.40	109.6	117.3	156.2	124.8	92.0	0.19	4.35	22.4	4.35	12.49	0.57	2.03
2	23	41	7.9	37.20 ± 1.4	27.84	133.6	112.1	149.9	139.3	94.3	0.19	4.40	23.0	3.82	6.33	0.45	0.54
2	24	43	8.1	60.96 ± 3.8	58.56	104.1	118.3	162	146.8	100.3	0.21	5.33	25.3	5.32	11.32	< 0.33	1.22
2	25	40	8.2	51.60 ± 2.2	39.36	131.1	119.5	156.7	138.9	87.0	0.22	6.00	27.4	5.58	9.66	< 0.33	1.49
2	26	45	8.3	37.68 ± 0.7	32.64	115.4	100.9	157.7	147.8	94.8	0.21	5.35	25.4	6.02	9.99	< 0.33	0.68

Table S1: BEAP values and physico-chemical parameters of agricultural biogas plants

Cluster	Biogas Plant	temperature	pH- value	CH4 production	CH4 production	CH4 production	BCON ^b	ECON ^c	ACONd	PCON ^e	VFA/ TAC	VFA ^f	TAC ^g	NH4+-Nh	acetic acid ⁱ	butyric acid ^j	propionic acid ^k
		[°C]		measured	calculateda	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[g HAceq g⁻¹CaCO₃]	[g HAceq]	[g CaCO₃]	[g L ⁻¹]	[mM]	[mM]	[mM]
3	27	40	8.1	29.52 ± 2.2	44.64	66.1	202	313.0	241.3	143.7	0.18	4.24	23.9	4.54	4.00	< 0.33	0.41
3	28	47	7.9	69.60 ± 5.3	86.40	80.6	224.5	247.6	203.5	161.4	0.24	2.48	10.3	1.49	7.66	< 0.33	0.95
3	29	40	7.7	51.82 ± 5.5	69.12	75.0	187.8	280.7	226.8	153.6	0.21	2.61	12.5	1.76	4.50	< 0.33	0.54
3	30	43	7.8	34.08 ± 5.5	37.68	90.4	260.2	341.3	257.6	167.8	0.20	2.65	13.5	2.79	3.83	< 0.33	0.41
3	31	40	7.8	41.04 ± 3.4	46.80	87.7	300.5	342.9	248.4	267.1	0.21	3.56	16.8	2.74	2.00	< 0.33	0.54
3	32	42	7.7	49.20 ± 1.0	94.56	52.0	245.8	278.3	221.5	172.7	0.21	2.49	11.6	1.89	2.83	< 0.33	0.54
3	33	40	7.9	61.44 ± 10.8	72.48	84.8	242.9	253.6	193.5	201.8	0.24	2.88	12.2	1.76	3.66	< 0.33	0.81
4	34	47	7.7	102.72 ± 6.0	80.16	128.1	217.9	228.8	202.6	142.0	0.25	2.50	10.0	1.93	7.83	< 0.33	0.95
4	35	40	7.8	64.56 ± 9.6	47.04	137.2	216.3	253.0	188.2	166.2	0.18	2.89	15.7	2.69	3.00	< 0.33	< 0.41
4	36	n.d.	n.d.	30.96 ± 2.2	n.d.	n.d.	186.8	193.9	168.0	120.2	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
4	37	43	8.2	59.28 ± 7.4	58.80	100.8	158.8	207.1	164.1	124.8	0.20	5.12	25.4	4.99	14.65	< 0.33	1.22
4	38	43	7.3	74.40 ± 1.0	66.48	111.9	253	232.0	193.6	161.3	0.26	1.96	7.4	0.92	3.16	< 0.33	0.54
4	39	42	7.8	20.16 ± 15.4	19.92	101.2	154	240.8	169.7	132.1	0.25	2.84	11.5	1.95	5.50	< 0.33	0.41
4	40	38	8.0	52.56 ± 0.2	52.32	100.5	151.1	224.6	187.7	123.0	0.19	4.34	22.6	3.69	6.16	< 0.33	0.54
4	41	40	8.0	18.72 ± 2.2	n.d.	n.d.	245.6	219.0	177.4	136.7	0.23	3.85	16.9	2.76	3.50	< 0.33	0.54
4	42	42	7.4	82.80 ± 8.6	74.16	111.7	199.8	215.3	169.7	126.8	0.23	2.05	8.8	1.11	2.33	< 0.33	0.54
5	43	41	8.0	25.52 ± 2.4	45.36	51.9	136.3	204.4	111.6	115.7	0.29	3.71	12.9	2.27	42.80	< 0.33	0.53
unclassified	44	42	75	27 84 + 1 2	43 92	63.4	109.9	144 6	110.4	96 5	0.28	3 72	13.1	2 01	23 31	< 0.33	1 89
unclassified	45	43	8.0	67 68 + 1 7	91.68	73.8	108.9	159.2	150.1	101.2	0.29	4 52	15.6	2.36	13.32	0.45	2 16
unclassified	46	41	77	28.08 + 4.3	39.84	70.5	99.1	118.7	120.4	94.0	0.24	2 92	12.1	2.00	11.32	< 0.33	0.81
unclassified	47	45	79	95 28 + 23 5	118 80	80.2	122.3	150.3	121.9	97.0	0.30	4 90	16.1	2.58	14 20	< 0.33	0.81
unclassified	48	41	8.0	57 36 + 3 1	103.68	55.3	135.8	192.6	150.7	104.7	0.00	4.63	21.8	5.13	13 49	< 0.33	1.35
unclassified	49	44	7.8	14.64 ± 0.7	48.96	29.9	115.5	298.0	222.4	106.3	0.21	10.40	14.8	3.36	5.33	< 0.33	125 73
unclassified	50	48	8.1	4.8 + 4.6	47.76	8.5	89.4	813.1	453.5	257.9	0.54	9,19	17.0	3.38	13.66	< 0.33	83.86
unclassified	51	50	7.6	117.12 + 1.4	234 72	49.9	120.7	128.1	130.9	89.3	0.84	8.52	10.2	2.32	20.15	< 0.33	41.05
unclassified	52	44	7.8	37.92 + 1.7	38.64	98.1	106	149.2	110.1	105.5	0.73	8.45	11.6	2.73	70.77	1.59	19,99
unclassified	53	40	7.8	80.64 ± 9.4	53.04	152.0	108.7	138.3	97.5	113.9	0.23	3.45	14.8	2.29	12.49	< 0.33	0.95

Chapter 4: Refai et al. 2017 J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol accepted

a) The amount of the substrate fed into the biogas plants and specific data for gas- and CH₄ yields of the used substrates were used to calculate the maximum CH₄ yield [53].

b)-e) CH₄ production of biogas sludge supplemented with butyrate (BCON), ethanol (ECON), acetate (ACON), propionate (PCON) [50 mM].

f)-g) The volatile fatty acid content (VFA) and the carbonate buffer capacity (TAC) were analyzed according to Nordmann [49].

h) The NH₄-N concentration was measured by an ion-sensitive electrode [60].

i)-k) Acid concentrations were determined by gas chromatography as described by Refai et al. [54].

Table S2: Process parameters of lab-scale reactors

Phase	1	2 (early)	2 (late)	3	4
	No stress conditions	Induction of NH4+-N stress	Induction of NH4+-N stress	Reduction of CH ₄ yield	Recovery
Day	5	8	13	15	35
NH4 ⁺ -N (%)*	100	120	183	185	143
CH4 yield (%)*	100	100	100	70	89
ECON (%)*	100	62	35	28	48
ACON (%)*	100	50	40	10	44
VFA (%)*	100	110	150	140	110
TAC (%)*	100	110	130	135	130

*all parameters of the stress fermenters were compared to parameters of control fermenters which were set to 100%

IV. Summary

Biomass from energy crops and organic waste is one of the most important renewable energy sources and can be used for the production of biogas. Biogas formation is based on the fermentation of organic matter, e.g. energy crops and different types of manure, and is performed in biogas plants that generate electric power and heat. Many groups of microorganisms are involved in the anaerobic degradation of organic material and in the formation of biogas, which proceeds in the four interdependent steps of hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis. Thus, the synthesis of biogas depends on a variety of microorganisms and includes a huge number of biochemical reactions. However, the weakest link of the microbial anaerobic degradation chain determines the performance and the speed of the overall system. This bottle neck has to be determined to specifically optimize the biogas production process.

So far, it is only possible to analyze the overall process performance by analytical monitoring parameters, e.g. biogas formation, VFA concentration, pH, and buffer capacity. Nevertheless, the biochemical bottlenecks are not identified yet and a differential analysis of metabolic activities of the microorganism involved in biogas formation is not possible but this analysis is crucial to identify the rate-limiting step.

Therefore, the aims of this thesis focused on the development of monitoring strategies for the quantification of metabolic capacities of the microorganisms involved in anaerobic degradation of organic matter to identify biochemical bottlenecks and to improve the efficiency of biogas production.

- 1) In the **first chapter** an enzymatic test system is presented for the quantification of methanogenic archaea, the most important microbial group in biogas formation. The analysis of their metabolic activity was based on the heterodisulfide reductase, a key enzyme in all methanogenic pathways. Using a rapid enzymatic test system, the activity of the heterodisulfide reductase was detected in cell free extract prepared from biogas sludge. These activity measurements enabled the specific quantification of all methanogenic archaea involved in the anaerobic degradation process. In the second test system cell lysates obtained from biogas sludge were separated by ultracentrifugation. Cytoplasmic membranes and cytoplasmic fractions revealed heterodisulfide reductase activity, respectively, indicating the presence of hydrogenotrophic and aceticlastic methanogens. The different localization of the heterodisulfide reductase within these groups of organisms allowed to quantify the metabolic activity of both groups of methanogenic archaea. In hydrogenotrophic methanogens the heterodisulfide reductase is restricted to the cytoplasm of the cells and in aceticlastic methanogens the enzyme is localized in the cytoplasmic membrane. It became evident that one third of the total Hdr activity was found in the membrane fraction representing aceticlastic methanogens. The cytoplasmic fraction contained two third of the total Hdr activity that derived from hydrogenotrophic methanogens.
- 2) Chapter 2 comprises the results on the analysis of the metabolic activity of all microbial degradation steps in biogas sludge to shed light on the question which group of organism

constitutes the bottleneck in the anaerobic breakdown of organic material. Biogas sludge was incubated and analyzed in anaerobic small-scale batch reactors within 24 h. These batch reactors mirrored the conditions and the performance of the full-scale biogas plant. The stability of the process was analyzed by analytical parameters such as CH₄ production, VFA concentrations, and pH. CH₄ production was examined after supplementation of biogas sludge with substrates for syntrophic bacteria (butyrate, propionate, or ethanol) as well as with acetate and H₂+CO₂ as substrates for methanogenic archaea. A significant increase of CH₄ formation was measured when sludge from different biogas plants was supplemented with acetate or ethanol. In contrast, other fermentation products such as propionate, butyrate, or H₂ resulted in only slightly increased CH₄ yields. These results led to the conclusion that aceticlastic methanogenesis and syntrophic ethanol-oxidation did not constitute the biochemical bottleneck during biogas formation, respectively.

- 3) Increasing CH₄ formation caused by ethanol addition was analyzed in small-scale continuous reactors filled with biogas sludge to determine the influence of ethanol on CH₄ production over longer time periods (Chapter 3). These reactors reflected all conditions found in full-scale biogas plants. Pulsed ethanol supplementation and continuous addition of ethanol to the reactors led to significantly increased biomethanation. The basic CH₄ production continued to take place in the small-scale reactors. However, ethanol supplementation led to the production of additional CH₄ in the biogas sludge because an increase in organic loading rate was achieved that did not influence the normal fermentation processes. Furthermore, it was also possible to increase CH₄ formation by daily addition of ethanolic solutions (e.g. beer) to the biogas sludge. The biogas formation increased directly after the addition of ethanol or ethanolic solutions. Thus, an adjustment of CH₄ production to fluctuant power demands is possible. According to that, the addition of ethanol to biogas plants can be used to ensure power supply in times of daily or seasonal peak loads.
- 4) The study presented in Chapter 4 allows to quantify the metabolic performance of microorganisms involved in different digestion levels in biogas plants. A test system referred to as <u>BEAP</u> profile was developed which is based on the addition of intermediate substrates of prokaryotes involved in the different digestion levels. Supplementation of biogas sludge samples with butyrate (<u>B</u>CON), ethanol (<u>E</u>CON), acetate (<u>A</u>CON) or propionate (<u>P</u>CON) and subsequently the analysis of CH₄ formation in comparison to control samples without supplementation enabled to characterize the performance of the degradation process by rapid testing of metabolic activities of the microorganisms involved in biogas formation. Furthermore, a differentiation between specific BEAP profiles was possible for standard biogas plants and for biogas reactors with process incidents (beginning of NH₄⁺-N intoxication, start of acidification, insufficient hydrolysis and potential mycotoxin effects). Moreover, at the beginning of NH₄⁺-N intoxication the BEAP profiles function as an early warning system to predict critical NH₄⁺-N concentration thresholds leading to a drop of CH₄ formation in commercial agricultural biogas plants.

V. Reference list

Abbanat D. R. and Ferry J. G. (1991) Resolution of component proteins in an enzyme complex from *Methanosarcina thermophila* catalyzing the synthesis or cleavage of acetyl-CoA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88, 3272–3276.

Abouelenien F., Nakashimada Y., Nishio N. (2009) Dry mesophilic fermentation of chicken manure for production of methane by repeated batch culture. *J Biosci Bioeng* **107**, 293–295.

Agler M. T., Spirito C. M., Usack J. G., Werner J. J., Angenent L. T. (2014) Development of a highly specific and productive process for *n*-caproic acid production: applying lessons from methanogenic microbiomes. *Water Sci Technol* **69**, 62–68.

Ahring B. K., Sandberg M., Angelidaki I. (1995) Volatile fatty acids as indicators of process imbalance in anaerobic digestors. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **43**, 559–565.

Ahring B. K. and Westermann P. (1988) Product inhibition of butyrate metabolism by acetate and hydrogen in a thermophilic coculture. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **54**, 2393–2397.

Alves M. M., Pereira M. A., Sousa D. Z., Cavaleiro A. J., Picavet M., Smidt H., Stams A. J. (2009) Waste lipids to energy: How to optimize methane production from long-chain fatty acids (LCFA). *Microbial Biotechnol* **2**: 538-550.

Amani T., Nosrati M., Mousavi S. M., Kermanshahi R. K. (2010) Study of syntrophic anaerobic digestion of volatile fatty acids using enriched cultures at mesophilic conditions. *Int J Environ Sci Technol* **8**, 83-96.

Amann R. I., Ludwig W., Schleifer K. H. (1995) Phylogenetic identification and in situ detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. *Microbiol Rev* **59**, 143–169.

Amon T., Amon B., Kryvoruchko V., Zollitsch W., Mayer K., Gruber L. (2007) Biogas production from maize and dairy cattle manure - Influence of biomass composition on the methane yield. *Agric Ecosyst Environ* **118**, 173–182.

Amon T., Bischhoff M., Clemens J., Heuwinkel H., Keymer U., Meißauer G., Oechsner H., Reinhold G., Schelle H., Weiland P., Welsch W., Zerr W. (2015) Gasausbeuten in landwirtschaftlichen Biogasanlagen. (ed Kuratorium für Technik und Bauwesen in der Landwirtschaft e.V.) 3. Auflage, Heft 107.

Anderson G. K. and Yang G. (1992) Determination of bicarbonate and total volatile acid concentration in anaerobic digesters using a simple titration. *Water Environ Res* 64, 53–59.

Angelidaki I. and Ahring B. K. (1992) Effects of free long-chain fatty acids on thermophilic anaerobic digestion. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **37**: 808-812.

Angelidaki I. and Ahring B. K. (1993) Thermophilic anaerobic digestion of livestock waste: the effect of ammonia. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **38**, 560–564.

Angelidaki I. and Ahring B. K. (1994) Anaerobic thermophilic digestion of manure at different ammonia loads: effect of temperature. *Water Res* **28**, 727–731.

Angelidaki I. and Ahring B. K. (2000) Methods for increasing the biogas potential from the recalcitrant organic matter contained in manure. *Water Sci Technol* **41**: 189-194.

Angelidaki I., Ellegaard L., Ahring B. K. (1999) A comprehensive model of anaerobic bioconversion of complex substrates to biogas. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **63**, 363–372.

Ankel-Fuchs D., Hüster R., Mörschel E., Albracht S. P. J., Thauer R. K. (1986) Structure and function of methyl-coenzyme M reductase and of factor F₄₃₀ in methanogenic bacteria. *Syst Appl Microbiol* **7**, 383–387.

Ankel-Fuchs D. and Thauer R. K. (1986) Methane formation from methyl-coenzyme M in a system containing methyl-coenzyme M reductase, component B and reduced cobalamin. *Eur J Biochem* **156**, 171–177.

Arbeitsgemeinschaft Energiebilanzen e. V. (2016) Bruttostromerzeugung in Deutschland für 2013 bis 2015. https://www.destatis.de/DE/ZahlenFakten/Wirtschaftsbereiche/Energie/Erzeugung /Tabellen/Bruttostromerzeugung.html (15.10.2016)

Avella M., Bonadies E., Martuscelli E., Rimedio R. (2001) European current standardization for plastic packaging recoverable through composting and biodegradation. *Polymer testing* **20**: 517-521.

Barber M. J., Siegel L. M., Schauer N. L., May H. D., Ferry J. G. (1983) Formate dehydrogenase from *Methanobacterium formicicum*. Electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy of the molybdenum and iron-sulfur centers. *J Biol Chem* **258**, 10839–10845.

Barker H. A. (1940) Studies upon the methane fermentation. IV. The isolation and culture of *Methanobacterium omelianskii. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* **6**, 201–220.

Barton L. L., Fardeau M.-L., Fauque G. D. (2014) Hydrogen Sulfide: A Toxic Gas Produced by Dissimilatory Sulfate and Sulfur Reduction and Consumed by Microbial Oxidation. *Met Ions Life Sci* **14**:237-277.

Bartoschek S., Vorholt J. A., Thauer R. K., Geierstanger B. H., Griesinger C. (2000) *N*-Carboxymethanofuran (carbamate) formation from methanofuran and CO₂ in methanogenic archaea. *Eur J Biochem* **267**, 3130–3138.

Battilani P., Costa L. G., Dossena A., Gullino M. L., Marchelli R., Galaverna G., Pietri A., Dall'Asta C., Giorni P., Spadaro D., Gualla A. (2009) Scientific information on mycotoxins and natural plant toxicants. *EFSA J* **6**, 1–467.

Bayer E. A., Belaich J.-P., Shoham Y., Lamed R. (2004) The cellulosomes: Multienzyme machines for degradation of plant cell wall polysaccharides. *Annu Rev Microbiol* **58**, 521–554.

Bayer E. A., Morag E., Lamed R. (1994) The cellulosome - A treasure-trove for biotechnology. *Trends Biotechnol* **12**, 379–386.

Becher B. and Müller V. (1994) $\Delta\mu_{Na+}$ drives the synthesis of ATP via an $\Delta\mu_{Na+}$ -translocating F₁F₀-ATP synthase in membrane vesicles of the archaeon *Methanosarcina mazei* Gö1. *J Bacteriol* **176**, 2543–2550.

Becher B., Müller V., Gottschalk G. (1992a) The methyl-tetrahydromethanopterin: coenzyme M methyltransferase of *Methanosarcina* strain Gö1 is a primary sodium pump. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **91**, 239–243.

Becher B., Müller V., Gottschalk G. (1992b) *N*⁵-methyl-tetrahydromethanopterin:coenzyme M methyltransferase of *Methanosarcina* strain Gö1 is an Na⁺-translocating membrane protein. *J Bacteriol* **174**, 7656–7660.

Beifuss U., Tietze M., Bäumer S., Deppenmeier U. (2000) Methanophenazine: Structure, Total Synthesis, and Function of a New Cofactor from Methanogenic Archaea. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl* **39**, 2470–2472.

Ben-Bassat A., Lamed R., Zeikus J. G. (1981) Ethanol production by thermophilic bacteria: metabolic control of end product formation in *Thermoanaerobium brockii*. *J Bacteriol* **146**, 192–199.

Berger E., Jones W. A., Jones D., Woods D. (1990) Sequencing and expression of a cellodextrinase (*ced1*) gene from *Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens* H17c cloned in *Escherichia coli. Mol Gen Genet* **223**, 310–318.

Bergmann I., Mundt K., Sontag M., Baumstark I., Nettmann E., Klocke M. (2010a) Influence of DNA isolation on Q-PCR-based quantification of methanogenic Archaea in biogas fermenters. *Syst Appl Microbiol* **33**, 78–84.

Bergmann I., Nettmann E., Mundt K., Klocke M. (2010b) Determination of methanogenic *Archaea* abundance in a mesophilic biogas plant based on 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis. *Can J Microbiol* **56**, 440–444.

Bernstad A., Malmquist L., Truedsson C., Jansen J. L. C. (2013) Need for improvements in physical pretreatment of source-separated household food waste. *Waste Manag* **33**, 746–754.

Biogasforum Bayern - Prozessbiologische Störungen in NawaRo- und Gülleanlagen. https://www.biogas-forum-bayern.de/publikationen/Prozessbiologische_Storungen_in_ NawaRo Anlagen.pdf (06.05.2016).

Bisaria R., Madan M., Mukhopadhyay S. N. (1983) Production of biogas from residues from mushroom cultivation. *Biotechnol Lett* **5**, 811–812.

Björnsson L. (2000) Intensification of the biogas process by improved process monitoring and biomass retention. Lund University.

Björnsson L., Murto M., Mattiasson B. (2000) Evaluation of parameters for monitoring an anaerobic co-digestion process. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **54**, 844–849.

Blume F., Bergmann I., Nettmann E., Schelle H., Rehde G., Mundt K., Klocke M. (2010) Methanogenic population dynamics during semi-continuous biogas fermentation and acidification by overloading. *J Appl Microbiol* **109**, 441–450.

Boe K. (2006) Online monitoring and control of the biogas process. Technical University of Denmark.

Boe K., Batstone D. J., Steyer J.-P., Angelidaki I. (2010) State indicators for monitoring the anaerobic digestion process. *Water Res* 44, 5973–5980.

Boe K., Steyer J.-P., Angelidaki I. (2008) Monitoring and control of the biogas process based on propionate concentration using online VFA measurement. *Water Sci Technol* **57**, 661–666.

Bordeleau É. L. and Droste R. L. (2011) Comprehensive review and compilation of pretreatments for mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic digestion. *Water Sci Technol* **63**, 291–296.

Bradford M. M. (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal Biochem* **72**, 248–254.

Brambilla M., Araldi F., Marchesi M., Bertazzoni B., Zagni M., Navarotto P. (2012) Monitoring of the startup phase of one continuous anaerobic digester at pilot scale level. *Biomass Bioenergy* **36**, 439–446.

Breitung J. and Thauer R. K. (1990) Formylmethanofuran: tetrahydromethanopterin formyltransferase from *Methanosarcina barkeri* Identification of *N*⁵ -formyltetrahydromethanopterin as the product. *FEBS Lett* **275**, 226–230.

Brugère J.-F., Borrel G., Gaci N., Tottey W., O'Toole P. W., Malpuech-Brugère C. (2014) Archaebiotics: proposed therapeutic use of archaea to prevent trimethylaminuria and cardiovascular disease. *Gut Microbes* **5**, 5–10. **Bruni E., Jensen A. P., Angelidaki I.** (2010) Comparative study of mechanical, hydrothermal, chemical and enzymatic treatments of digested biofibers to improve biogas production. *Bioresour Technol* **101**, 8713–8717.

Bryant M. P. (1979) Microbial Methane Production - Theoretical Aspects. J Anim Sci 48, 193.

Bryant M. P., Wolin E. A., Wolin M. J., Wolfe R. S. (1967) *Methanobacillus omelianskii*, a symbiotic association of two species of bacteria. *Arch Mikrobiol* **59**, 20–31.

Busch G. (2013) Biogas Technology. *In*: Bioporcessing Technologies in Biorefinery for Sustainable Production of Biofuels, Chemicals and Biopolymers (eds Yang S.-T., El-Enshasy H. A., Thongchul N.), pp 279–292. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA.

Buss K. A., Ingram-Smith C., Ferry J. G., Sanders D. A., Hasson M. S. (1997) Crystallization of acetate kinase from *Methanosarcina thermophila* and prediction of its fold. *Protein Sci* **6**, 2659–2662.

Cadena Pereda R. O., Rivera Muñoz E. M., Herrera Ruiz G. (2010) Automatic volumetric gas flow meter for monitoring biogas production from laboratory-scale anaerobic digester. *Sens Actuator B Chem* **147**, 10–14.

Carlsson M., Lagerkvist A., Morgan-Sagastume F. (2012) The effects of substrate pretreatment on anaerobic digestion systems: A review. *Waste Manag* **32**, 1634–1650.

Carrere H., Antonopoulou G., Affes R., Passos F., Battimelli A., Lyberatos G., Ferrer I. (2016) Review of feedstock pretreatment strategies for improved anaerobic digestion: From lab-scale research to full-scale application. *Bioresour Technol* **199**, 386–397.

Carrère H., Dumas C., Battimelli A., Batstone D. J., Delgenès J. P., Steyer J. P., Ferrer I. (2010) Pretreatment methods to improve sludge anaerobic degradability: A review. *J Hazardous Mater* **183**, 1–15.

Carrez M. C. (1908) Le ferrocyanure de potassium et l'acétate de zinc comme agents de défécation des urines. *Annales de chimie analytique* **13**, 97–101.

Chandra R., Takeuchi H., Hasegawa T. (2012a) Hydrothermal pretreatment of rice straw biomass: A potential and promising method for enhanced methane production. *Appl Energy* **94**, 129–140.

Chandra R., Takeuchi H., Hasegawa T., Kumar R. (2012b) Improving biodegradability and biogas production of wheat straw substrates using sodium hydroxide and hydrothermal pretreatments. *Energy* **43**, 273–282.

Chen Y., Cheng J. J., Creamer K. S. (2008) Inhibition of anaerobic digestion process: A review. *Bioresour Technol* **99**, 4044–4064. **Climent M., Ferrer I., Baeza M. d. M., Artola A., Vázquez F., Font X.** (2007) Effects of thermal and mechanical pretreatments of secondary sludge on biogas production under thermophilic conditions. *Chem Eng J* **133**, 335–342.

Cobb S. A. and Hill D. T. (1991) Volatile fatty acid relationships in attached growth anaerobic fermenters. *T ASAE* **34**, 2564–2572.

Conrad R. and Wetter B. (1990) Influence of temperature on energetics of hydrogen metabolism in homoacetogenic, methanogenic, and other anaerobic bacteria. *Arch Microbiol* **155**, 94–98.

Cuetos M. J., Gómez X., Otero M., Morán A. (2008) Anaerobic digestion of solid slaughterhouse waste (SHW) at laboratory scale: Influence of co-digestion with the organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW). *Biochem Eng J* **40**, 99–106.

Demirbas A. (2009) Global Renewable Energy Projections. Energy Source Part B 4, 212-224.

Demirel B., Neumann L., Scherer P. (2008) Microbial Community Dynamics of a Continuous Mesophilic Anaerobic Biogas Digester Fed with Sugar Beet Silage. *Eng Life Sci* **8**, 390–398.

Demirel B. and Scherer P. (2011) Trace element requirements of agricultural biogas digesters during biological conversion of renewable biomass to methane. *Biomass Bioenergy* **35**, 992–998.

Deppenmeier U. (2002). The unique biochemistry of methanogenesis. *Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol* **71**, 223-283.

Deppenmeier U., Blaut M., Schmidt B., Gottschalk G. (1992) Purification and properties of a F₄₂₀-nonreactive, membrane-bound hydrogenase from *Methanosarcina strain* Gö1. *Arch Microbiol* **157**, 505–511.

Deppenmeier U. and Müller V. (2007) Life close to the thermodynamic limit: how methanogenic archaea conserve energy. *Results Probl Cell Differ* **45**, 123–152.

Deppenmeier U., Johann A., Hartsch T., Merkl R., Schmitz R. A., Martinez-Arias R., Henne A., Wiezer A., Bäumer S., Jacobi C., Brüggemann H., Lienard T., Christmann A., Bömeke M., Steckel S., Bhattacharyya A., Lykidis A., Overbeek R., Klenk H.-P., Gunsalus R. P., Fritz H.-J., Gottschalk G. (2002) The genome of *Methanosarcina mazei*: evidence for lateral gene transfer between bacteria and archaea. *J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol* **4**, 453–461.

Deppenmeier U., Müller V., Gottschalk G. (1996) Pathways of energy conservation in methanogenic archaea. *Arch Microbiol* **165**, 149–163.

Derichs J., Kämpfer P., Lipski A. (2014) *Pedobacter nutrimenti* sp. nov., isolated from chilled food. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **64**, 1310–1316.

Deublein D. and Steinhauser A. (2008) Biogas from Waste and Renewable Resources. Weinheim. WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

Dincer I. (1998) Energy and Environmental Impacts: Present and Future Perspectives. *Energy Sources* **20**, 427–453.

Ding S.-Y., Rincon M. T., Lamed R., Martin J. C., McCrae S. I., Aurilia V., Shoham Y., Bayer E. A., Flint H. J. (2001) Cellulosomal scaffoldin-like proteins from *Ruminococcus flavefaciens*. *J Bacteriol* **183**, 1945–1953.

Ding S.-Y., Xu Q., Crowley M., Zeng Y., Nimlos M., Lamed R., Bayer E. A., Himmel M. E. (2008) A biophysical perspective on the cellulosome: New opportunities for biomass conversion. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* **19**, 218–227.

Dollhofer V., Nast M., Kinker I., Dorn-in S., Dandikas V., Bauer J., Lebuhn M. (2015) Anaerobe Pilze im Biogasprozess *In:* Biogas in der Landwirtschaft - Stand und Perspektiven, FNR/KTBL-Kongress vom 22. bis 23. September 2015 in Potsdam, Tagungsband (ed Kuratorium für Technik und Bauwesen in der Landwirtschaft e.V), pp 108-118. https://www.researchgate.net /publication/286934127_Anaerobe_Pilze_im_Biogasprozess. (13.10.2016).

Dridi B., Fardeau M.-L., Ollivier B., Raoult D., Drancourt M. (2012) *Methanomassiliicoccus luminyensis* gen. nov., sp. nov., a methanogenic archaeon isolated from human faeces. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **62**, 1902–1907.

Drosg B., Frost P., Baxter D. (2013) Process monitoring in biogas plants. Tulln. International Energy Agency Bioenergy.

Dubey S.-K., Meena R. K., Sao S., Patel J., Thakur S., Shukla P. (2014) Isolation and Characterization of Cellulose Degrading Bacteria from Biogas Slurry and their RAPD profiling. *Curr Res Microbiol Biotechnol* **2**, 416–421.

Dumas Z., Ross-Gillespie A., Kümmerli R. (2013) Switching between apparently redundant ironuptake mechanisms benefits bacteria in changeable environments. *Proc R Soc [Biol]* **280**, 20131055.

Ellermann J., Rospert S., Thauer R. K., Bokranz M., Klein A., Voges M., Berkessel A. (1989) Methyl-coenzyme-M reductase from *Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum* (strain Marburg). Purity, activity and novel inhibitors. *Eur J Biochem* **184**, 63–68.

Elliott A. and Mahmood T. (2007) Pretreatment technologies for advancing anaerobic digestion of pulp and paper biotreatment residues. *Water Res* **41**, 4273–4286.

Ermler U., Grabarse W., Shima S., Goubeaud M., Thauer R. K. (1997) Crystal structure of methyl-coenzyme M Reductase: The key enzyme of biological methane formation. *Science* **278**, 1457–1462.

EEG (2000) Gesetz für den Vorrang Erneuerbarer Energien (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz – EEG) sowie zur Änderung des Energiewirtschaftsgesetzes und des Mineralölsteuergesetzes vom 29. März 2000. BGBI I Nr.13 S. 305.

EEG (2004) Gesetz zur Neuregelung des Rechts der Erneuerbaren Energien im Strombereich vom 21. Juli 2004. BGBI I Nr.40 S. 1918.

EEG (2008) Gesetz zur Neuregelung des Rechts der Erneuerbaren Energien im Strombereich und zur Änderung damit zusammenhängender Vorschriften vom 25. Oktober 2008. BGBI I Nr.49 S. 2074.

EEG (2012) Gesetz zur Änderung des Rechtsrahmens für Strom aus solarer Strahlungsenergie und zu weiteren Änderungen im Recht der erneuerbaren Energien vom 17. August 2012. BGBI I Nr.380 S. 1754.

Fachagentur für nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. (2015) Gasausbeuten verschiedener Substrate. https://mediathek.fnr.de/grafiken/daten-und-fakten/bioenergie/biogas/gasausbeuten-verschiedener-substrate-fm.html (11.07.2016)

Fachverband Biogas e.V. (2012) Branchenzahlen 2011 und Prognose der Branchenentwicklung 2012/2013. http://www.biogas.org/edcom/webfvb.nsf/id/DE_PM-29-12/\$file/12-11-16_Biogas%20 Branchenzahlen%202011-2012-2013.pdf (10.07.2014).

Fachverband Biogas e.V. (2015) Branchenzahlen 2015 und Prognose der Branchenentwicklung2016.http://www.biogas.org/edcom/webfvb.nsf/id/DE_Branchenzahlen/\$file/16-09-23_Biogas_Branchenzahlen-2015_Prognose-2016.pdf (11.10.2016).

Fantozzi F. and Buratti C. (2009) Biogas production from different substrates in an experimental Continuously Stirred Tank Reactor anaerobic digester. *Bioresour Technol* **100**, 5783–5789.

Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (2015) Development of Renewable Energy Sources in Germany 2015. http://www.erneuerbare-energien.de/EE/Redaktion/DE/Downloads/ development-of-renewable-energy-sources-in-germany-2015.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=8; (11.07.2016).

Feitkenhauer H., v. Sachs J., Meyer U. (2002) On-line titration of volatile fatty acids for the process control of anaerobic digestion plants. *Water Res* **36**, 212–218.

Feng X. M., Karlsson A., Svensson B. H., Bertilsson S. (2010) Impact of trace element addition on biogas production from food industrial waste–linking process to microbial communities. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **74**: 226-240.

Ferrer I., Ponsá S., Vázquez F., Font X. (2008) Increasing biogas production by thermal (70°C) sludge pre-treatment prior to thermophilic anaerobic digestion. *Biochem Eng J* **42**, 186–192.

Ferry J. G. (1993) Methanogenesis. Boston, MA. Springer US; Imprint; Springer.

Ferry J. G. and Lessner D. J. (2008) Methanogenesis in marine sediments. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1125**, 147–157.

Fischer M. A., Güllert S., Neulinger S. C., Streit W. R., Schmitz R. A. (2016) Evaluation of 16S rRNA Gene Primer Pairs for Monitoring Microbial Community Structures Showed High Reproducibility within and Low Comparability between Datasets Generated with Multiple Archaeal and Bacterial Primer Pairs. *Front Microbiol* **7**, 1297.

Frąc M. and Ziemiński K. (2012) Methane fermentation process for utilization of organic waste. *Int Agrophys* **26**, 317–330.

Fricke W. F., Seedorf H., Henne A., Krüer M., Liesegang H., Hedderich R., Gottschalk G., Thauer R. K. (2006) The genome sequence of *Methanosphaera stadtmanae* reveals why this human intestinal archaeon is restricted to methanol and H₂ for methane formation and ATP synthesis. *J Bacteriol* **188**, 642–658.

Fry I. V., Cammack R., Hucklesby D. P., Hewitt E. J. (1982) Kinetics of leaf nitrite reductase with methyl viologen and ferredoxin under controlled redox conditions. *Biochem J* **205**, 235–238.

Gabris C., Bengelsdorf F. R., Dürre P. (2015) Analysis of the key enzymes of butyric and acetic acid fermentation in biogas reactors. *Microb Biotechnol* **8**, 865–873.

Gadre R. V. (1989) Removal of hydrogen sulfide from biogas by chemoautotrophic fixed-film bioreactor. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **34**, 410–414.

Gallert C. and Winter J. (1997) Mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic digestion of source-sorted organic wastes: effect of ammonia on glucose degradation and methane production. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **48**: 405-410.

Gerhardt M., Pelenc V., Bäuml M. (2007) Application of hydrolytic enzymes in the agricultural biogas production: Results from practical applications in Germany. *Biotechnol J* **2**: 1481-1484.

Glass N. L., Schmoll M., Cate J. H. D., Coradetti S. (2013) Plant cell wall deconstruction by ascomycete fungi. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 67, 477–498.

Goertz A., Zuehlke S., Spiteller M., Steiner U., Dehne H. W., Waalwijk C., Vries I. de, Oerke E. C. (2010) *Fusarium* species and mycotoxin profiles on commercial maize hybrids in Germany. *Eur J Plant Pathol* **128**, 101–111.

Gottschalk G. (1978) Bacterial Metabolism. New York. Springer-Verlag New York Inc.

Gottschalk G. and Thauer R. K. (2001) The Na⁺-translocating methyltransferase complex from methanogenic archaea. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1505**, 28–36.
Goux X., Calusinska M., Lemaigre S., Marynowska M., Klocke M., Udelhoven T., Benizri E., Delfosse P. (2015) Microbial community dynamics in replicate anaerobic digesters exposed sequentially to increasing organic loading rate, acidosis, and process recovery. *Biotechnol Biofuels* **8**: 122.

Grein F., Ramos A. R., Venceslau S. S., Pereira I. A. C. (2013) Unifying concepts in anaerobic respiration: Insights from dissimilatory sulfur metabolism. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1827**, 145–160.

Gruninger R. J., Puniya A. K., Callaghan T. M., Edwards J. E., Youssef N., Dagar S. S., Fliegerova K., Griffith G. W., Forster R., Tsang A., McAllister T., Elshahed M. S. (2014) Anaerobic fungi (phylum *Neocallimastigomycota*): advances in understanding their taxonomy, life cycle, ecology, role and biotechnological potential. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **90**, 1–17.

Guo W.-Q., Ren N.-Q., Wang X.-J., Xiang W.-S., Meng Z.-H., Ding J., Qu Y.-Y., Zhang L.-S. (2008) Biohydrogen production from ethanol-type fermentation of molasses in an expanded granular sludge bed (EGSB) reactor. *Int J Hydrogen Energy* **33**, 4981–4988.

Hagen M., Polman E., Jensen J. K., Myken A., Jönsson O., Dahl A. (2001). Adding gas from biomass to the gas grid. *Contract No: XVII/4*.1030, 99-412.

Hahn H., Krautkremer B., Hartmann K., Wachendorf M. (2014) Review of concepts for a demand-driven biogas supply for flexible power generation. *Renew Sustainable Energy Rev* **29**, 383–393.

Hahnke S., Maus I., Wibberg D., Tomazetto G., Pühler A., Klocke M., Schlüter A. (2015) Complete genome sequence of the novel *Porphyromonadaceae* bacterium strain ING2-E5B isolated from a mesophilic lab-scale biogas reactor. *J Biotechnol* **193**, 34–36.

Hanreich A., Schimpf U., Zakrzewski M., Schlüter A., Benndorf D., Heyer R., Rapp E., Pühler A., Reichl U., Klocke M. (2013) Metagenome and metaproteome analyses of microbial communities in mesophilic biogas-producing anaerobic batch fermentations indicate concerted plant carbohydrate degradation. *Syst Appl Microbiol* **36**, 330–338.

Hansen K. H., Angelidaki I., Ahring B. K. (1998) Anaerobic digestion of swine manure: inhibition by ammonia. *Water Res* **32**, 5–12.

Hansen T. L., Jansen J. L. C., Davidsson Å., Christensen T. H. (2007) Effects of pre-treatment technologies on quantity and quality of source-sorted municipal organic waste for biogas recovery. *Waste Manage* **27**, 398–405.

Hashimoto A. G. (1982) Methane from cattle waste: Effects of temperature, hydraulic retention time, and influent substrate concentration on kinetic parameter (*k*). *Biotechnol Bioeng* **24**, 2039–2052.

Hashimoto A. G., Varel V. H., Chen Y. R. (1981) Ultimate methane yield from beef cattle manure: Effect of temperature, ration conctituents, antibiotics and manure age. *Agric Wastes* **3**: 241-256.

Hatamoto M., Imachi H., Ohashi A., Harada H. (2007) Identification and cultivation of anaerobic, syntrophic long-chain fatty acid-degrading microbes from mesophilic and thermophilic methanogenic sludges. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **73**, 1332–1340.

Hattori S. (2008) Syntrophic acetate-oxidizing microbes in methanogenic environments. *Microbes Environ* **23**, 118–127.

Hauge J. G. (1956) On the mechanism of dehydrogenation of fatty acyl derivatives of coenzyme A. IV. Kinetic studies. *J Am Chem Soc* **78**, 5266–5272.

Hawkes F. R., Guwy A. J., Hawkes D. L., Rozzi A. G. (1994) On-line monitoring of anaerobic digestion: Application of a device for continuous measurement of bicarbonate alkalinity. *Water Sci Technol* **30**, 1–10.

Healy F. G., Ray R. M., Aldrich H. C., Wilkie A. C., Ingram L. O., Shanmugam K. T. (1995) Direct isolation of functional genes encoding cellulases from the microbial consortia in a thermophilic, anaerobic digester maintained on lignocellulose. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **43**, 667– 674.

Hecht C., Bieler S., Griehl C. (2005) Liquid chromatographic–mass spectrometric - analyses of anaerobe protein degradation products. *J Chrom A* **1088**: 121-125.

Hecht C. and Griehl C. (2009) Investigation of the accumulation of aromatic compounds during biogas production from kitchen waste. *Bioresour Technol* **100**: 654-658.

Hedderich R., Berkessel A., Thauer R. K. (1989) Catalytic properties of the heterodisulfide reductase involved in the final step of methanogenesis. *FEBS Lett* **255**, 67–71.

Hedderich R. and Thauer R. K. (1988) *Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum* contains a soluble enzyme system that specifically catalyzes the reduction of the heterodisulfide of coenzyme M and 7-mercaptoheptanoylthreonine phosphate with H₂. *FEBS Lett* **234**, 223–227.

Heiden S., Hedderich R., Setzke E., Thauer R. K. (1993) Purification of a cytochrome-*b*containing H₂:heterodisulfide oxidoreductase complex from membranes of *Methanosarcina barkeri. Eur J Biochem* **213**, 529–535.

Heiden S., Hedderich R., Setzke E., Thauer R. K. (1994) Purification of a two-subunit cytochrome-*b*-containing heterodisulfide reductase from methanol-grown *Methanosarcina barkeri*. *Eur J Biochem* **221**, 855–861.

Hendriks A. T. W. M. and Zeeman G. (2009) Pretreatments to enhance the digestibility of lignocellulosic biomass. *Bioresour Technol* **100**, 10–18.

Heo N.-H., Park S.-C., Lee J.-S., Kang H. (2003) Solubilization of waste activated sludge by alkaline pretreatment and biochemical methane potential (BMP) tests for anaerobic co-digestion of municipal organic waste. *Water Sci Technol* **48**, 211–219.

Hickey R. F. and Switzenbaum M. S. (1991) The response and utility of hydrogen and carbon monoxide as process indicators of anaerobic digesters subject to organic and hydraulic Overloads. *J Water Pollut Control Fed* **63**, 129–140.

Hill D. T. and Holmberg R. D. (1988) Long chain volatile fatty acid relationships in anaerobic digestion of swine waste. *Biol Waste* **23**, 195–214.

Hoehler T. M., Alperin M. J., Albert D. B., Martens C. S. (1998) Thermodynamic control on hydrogen concentrations in anoxic sediments. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* **62**, 1745–1756.

Hölker U. (2013) Eine ständig aktualisierte und erweiterte Beschreibung von über 1.600 Biogasanlagen. http://www.biogaswissen.de (10.07.2014).

Ide T., Bäumer S., Deppenmeier U. (1999) Energy conservation by the H₂:heterodisulfide oxidoreductase from *Methanosarcina mazei* Gö1: Identification of two proton-translocating segments. *J Bacteriol* **181**, 4076–4080.

International Energy Agency (2015) World Energy Outlook 2015. Paris: London. http://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/WEB_WorldEnergyOutlook2015Execut iveSummaryEnglishFinal.pdf.(09.10.2016).

Izumi K., Okishio Y., Nagao N., Niwa C., Yamamoto S., Toda T. (2010) Effects of particle size on anaerobic digestion of food waste. *Int Biodeter Biodegr* **64**, 601–608.

Jaenicke S., Ander C., Bekel T., Bisdorf R., Dröge M., Gartemann K.-H., Jünemann S., Kaiser O., Krause L., Tille F., Zakrzewski M., Pühler A., Schlüter A., Goesmann A. (2011) Comparative and joint analysis of two metagenomic datasets from a biogas fermenter obtained by 454-pyrosequencing. *PLoS ONE* **6**, e14519.

Jain S., Jain S., Wolf I. T., Lee J., Tong Y. W. (2015) A comprehensive review on operating parameters and different pretreatment methodologies for anaerobic digestion of municipal solid waste. *Renew Sustainable Energy Rev* **52**, 142-154.

Jain S. R. and Mattiasson B. (1998) Acclimatization of methanogenic consortia for low pH biomethanation process. *Biotechnol Lett* **20**, 771–775.

Jantsch T. G. and Mattiasson B. (2004) An automated spectrophotometric system for monitoring buffer capacity in anaerobic digestion processes. *Water Res* **38**, 3645–3650.

Jetten M. S. M, Stams A. J. M., Zehnder A. J. B. (1989) Isolation and characterization of acetylcoenzyme A synthetase from *Methanothrix soehngenii*. *J Bacteriol* **171**, 5430–5435.

Jetten M. S. M., Stams A. J. M., Zehnder A. J. B. (1992) Methanogenesis from acetate: a comparison of the acetate metabolism in *Methanothrix soehngenii* and *Methanosarcina* spp. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 88, 181–198.

Jindou S., Karita S., Fujino E., Fujino T., Hayashi H., Kimura T., Sakka K., Ohmiya K. (2002) α-Galactosidase Aga27A, an enzymatic component of the *Clostridium josui* cellulosome. *J Bacteriol* **184**, 600–604.

Jones J. B. and Stadtman T. C. (1981) Selenium-dependent and selenium-independent formate dehydrogenases of *Methanococcus vannielii*. *J Biol Chem* **256**, 656–663.

Kampmann K., Ratering S., Baumann R., Schmidt M., Zerr W., Schnell S. (2012) Hydrogenotrophic methanogens dominate in biogas reactors fed with defined substrates. *Syst Appl Microbiol* **35**, 404–413.

Kampmann K., Ratering S., Geißler-Plaum R., Schmidt M., Zerr W., Schnell S. (2014) Changes of the microbial population structure in an overloaded fed-batch biogas reactor digesting maize silage. *Bioresour Technol* **174**: 108-117.

Kantachote D., Charernjiratrakul W., Noparatnaraporn N., Oda K. (2008) Selection of sulfur oxidizing bacterium for sulfide removal in sulfate rich wastewater to enhance biogas production. *Electron J Biotechnol* **11**, 1-12.

Karakashev D., Batstone D. J., Angelidaki I. (2005) Influence of environmental conditions on methanogenic compositions in anaerobic biogas reactors. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **71**, 331–338.

Kern T., Fischer M. A., Deppenmeier U., Schmitz R. A., Rother M. (2016a) *Methanosarcina flavescens* sp. nov., a methanogenic archaeon isolated from a full-scale anaerobic digester. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **16**, 1533-1538.

Kern T., Linge M., Rother M. (2015) *Methanobacterium aggregans* sp. nov., a hydrogenotrophic methanogenic archaeon isolated from an anaerobic digester. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **65**, 1975–1980.

Kern T., Theiss J., Röske K., Rother M. (2016). Assessment of hydrogen metabolism in commercial anaerobic digesters. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **100**: 4699-4710.

Kim H.-W., Nam J.-Y., Kang S.-T., Kim D.-H., Jung K.-W., Shin H.-S. (2012) Hydrolytic activities of extracellular enzymes in thermophilic and mesophilic anaerobic sequencing-batch reactors treating organic fractions of municipal solid wastes. *Bioresour Technol* **110**, 130–134.

Kim I. S., Hwang M. H., Jang N. J., Hyun S. H., Lee S. T. (2004) Effect of low pH on the activity of hydrogen utilizing methanogen in bio-hydrogen process. *Int J Hydrogen Energ* **29**: 1133-1140.

Kim S. and Holtzapple M. T. (2005) Lime pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis of corn stover. *Bioresour Technol* **96**, 1994–2006.

Kim S. and Holtzapple M. T. (2006) Effect of structural features on enzyme digestibility of corn stover. *Bioresour Technol* **97**, 583–591.

Kleyböcker A., Liebrich M., Verstraete W., Kraume M., Würdemann H. (2012) Early warning indicators for process failure due to organic overloading by rapeseed oil in one-stage continuously stirred tank reactor, sewage sludge and waste digesters. *Bioresour Technol* **123**, 534–541.

Klocke M., Mähnert P., Mundt K., Souidi K., Linke B. (2007) Microbial community analysis of a biogas-producing completely stirred tank reactor fed continuously with fodder beet silage as mono-substrate. *Syst Appl Microbiol* **30**, 139–151.

Klocke M., Nettmann E., Bergmann I., Mundt K., Souidi K., Mumme J., Linke B. (2008) Characterization of the methanogenic Archaea within two-phase biogas reactor systems operated with plant biomass. *Syst Appl Microbiol* **31**, 190–205.

Koeck D. E., Zverlov V. V., Liebl W., Schwarz W. H. (2014) Comparative genotyping of *Clostridium thermocellum* strains isolated from biogas plants: Genetic markers and characterization of cellulolytic potential. *Syst Appl Microbiol* **37**, 311–319.

Kosugi A., Murashima K., Doi R. H. (2001) Characterization of xylanolytic enzymes in *Clostridium cellulovorans*: Expression of xylanase activity dependent on growth substrates. *J Bacteriol* **183**, 7037–7043.

Krewulak K. D. and Vogel H. J. (2008) Structural biology of bacterial iron uptake. *Biochim Biophysica Acta* **1778**, 1781–1804.

Krishania M., Kumar V., Vijay V. K., Malik A. (2012) Opportunities for improvement of process technology for biomethanation processes. *Green Process Synth* **1**, 49–59.

Krishania M., Kumar V., Vijay V. K., Malik A. (2013) Analysis of different techniques used for improvement of biomethanation process: A review. *Fuel* **106**, 1–9.

Kröber M., Bekel T., Diaz N. N., Goesmann A., Jaenicke S., Krause L., Miller D., Runte K. J., Viehöver P., Pühler A., Schlüter A. (2009) Phylogenetic characterization of a biogas plant microbial community integrating clone library 16S-rDNA sequences and metagenome sequence data obtained by 454-pyrosequencing. *J Biotechnol* **142**, 38–49.

Krylova N. I., Khabiboulline R. E., Naumova R. P., Nagel M. A. (1997) The influence of ammonium and methods for removal during the anaerobic treatment of poultry manure. *J Chem Technol Biotechnol* **70**: 99-105.

Künkel A., Vaupel M., Heim S., Thauer R. K., Hedderich R. (1997) Heterodisulfide reductase from methanol-grown cells of *Methanosarcina barkeri* is not a flavoenzyme. *Eur J Biochem* **244**, 226–234.

Künkel A., Vorholt J. A., Thauer R. K., Hedderich R. (1998) An *Escherichia coli* hydrogenase-3type hydrogenase in methanogenic archaea. *Eur J Biochem* **252**, 467–476.

Kunow J., Shima S., Vorholt J. A., Thauer R. K. (1996) Primary structure and properties of the formyltransferase from the mesophilic *Methanosarcina barkeri*: Comparison with the enzymes from thermophilic and hyperthermophilic methanogens. *Arch Microbiol* **165**, 97–105.

Kurakake M., Ide N., Komaki T. (2007) Biological pretreatment with two bacterial strains for enzymatic hydrolysis of office paper. *Curr Microbiol* **54**, 424–428.

Labatut R. A., Angenent L. T., Scott N. R. (2011) Biochemical methane potential and biodegradability of complex organic substrates. *Bioresour Technol* **102**, 2255–2264.

Lahav O. and Morgan B. E. (2004) Titration methodologies for monitoring of anaerobic digestion in developing countries-a review. *J Chem Technol Biot.* **79**, 1331–1341.

Lamed R., Naimark J., Morgenstern E., Bayer E. A. (1987) Specialized cell surface structures in cellulolytic bacteria. *J Bacteriol* **169**, 3792–3800.

Lansche J. and Müller J. (2012) Life cycle assessment of energy generation of biogas fed combined heat and power plants: Environmental impact of different agricultural substrates. *Eng Life Sci* **12**, 313–320.

Latimer M. T. and Ferry J. G. (1993) Cloning, sequence analysis, and hyperexpression of the genes encoding phosphotransacetylase and acetate kinase from *Methanosarcina thermophila*. *J Bacteriol* **175**, 6822–6829.

Lebhun M., Weiß S., Munk B., Guebitz G. M. (2015) Microbiology and Molecular Biology Tools for Biogas Process Analysis, Diagnosis and Control. *Biogas Sci Technol* **151**, 1-40.

Lerm S., Kleyböcker A., Miethling-Graff R., Alawi M., Kasina M., Liebrich M., Würdemann H. (2012) Archaeal community composition affects the function of anaerobic co-digesters in response to organic overload. *Waste Manage* **32**, 389–399.

Lettinga G., Van Velsen, A. F. M., Hobma S. W., de Zeeuw W., Klapwijk A. (1980) Use of the upflow sludge blanket (USB) reactor concept for biological wastewater treatment, especially for anaerobic treatment. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **22**, 699–734.

Li A., Chu Y., Wang X., Ren L., Yu J., Liu X., Yan J., Zhang L., Wu S., Li S. (2013) A pyrosequencing-based metagenomic study of methane-producing microbial community in solid-state biogas reactor. *Biotechnol Biofuels* **6**, 3.

Liew L. N., Shi J., Li Y. (2011) Enhancing the solid-state anaerobic digestion of fallen leaves through simultaneous alkaline treatment. *Bioresour Technol* **102**, 8828–8834.

Lin J.-G., Ma Y.-S., Chao A. C., Huang C.-L. (1999) BMP test on chemically pretreated sludge. *Bioresour Technol* 68, 187–192.

Lindorfer H., Waltenberger R., Köllner K., Braun R., Kirchmayr R. (2008) New data on temperature optimum and temperature changes in energy crop digesters. *Bioresour Technol* **99**, 7011–7019.

Liu F. H., Wang S. B., Zhang J. S., Zhang J., Yan X., Zhou H. K., Zhao G. P., Zhou Z. H. (2009) The structure of the bacterial and archaeal community in a biogas digester as revealed by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis and 16S rDNA sequencing analysis. *J Appl Microbiol* **106**, 952–966.

Liu J. (2003) Instrumentation, control and automation in anaerobic digestion. Lund University.

Llabrés-Luengo P. and Mata-Alvarez J. (1988) Influence of temperature, buffer, composition and straw particle length on the anaerobic digestion of wheat straw—Pig manure mixtures. *Resour Conserv Recy* **1**, 27–37.

Lv Z., Leite A. F., Harms H., Richnow H. H., Liebetrau J., Nikolausz M. (2014) Influences of the substrate feeding regime on methanogenic activity in biogas reactors approached by molecular and stable isotope methods. *Anaerobe* **29**, 91–99.

Lynd L. R., Weimer P. J., van Zyl W. H., Pretorius I. S. (2002) Microbial Cellulose Utilization: Fundamentals and Biotechnology. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* **66**, 506–577.

Ma J., Duong T. H., Smits M., Verstraete W., Carballa M. (2011) Enhanced biomethanation of kitchen waste by different pre-treatments. *Bioresour Technol* **102**, 592–599.

Mähnert P. and Linke B. (2009) Kinetic study of biogas production from energy crops and animal waste slurry: effect of organic loading rate and reactor size. *Environ Technol* **30**, 93–99.

Ma K. and Thauer R. K. (1990a) *N*⁵, *N*¹⁰-Methylenetetrahydromethanopterin reductase from *Methanosarcina barkeri. FEMS Microbiol Lett* **70**, 119–124.

Ma K. and Thauer R. K. (1990b) Purification and properties of *N*⁵, *N*¹⁰methylenetetrahydromethanopterin reductase from *Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum* (strain Marburg). *Eur J Biochem* **191**, 187–193. **Marchaim U. and Krause C.** (1993) Propionic to acetic acid ratios in overloaded anaerobic digestion. *Bioresour Technol* **43**, 195–203.

Maurya M. S., Singh L., Sairam M., Alam S. I. (1994) Production of biogas from night-soil: effect of temperature and volatile solids. *Indian J of Microbiol* **34**, 223–228.

Mayer F. and Müller V. (2014) Adaptations of anaerobic archaea to life under extreme energy limitation. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* **38**, 449–472.

McCarty P. L. and McKinney R. E. (1961) Salt Toxicity in Anaerobic Digestion. *Water Pollut Control Fed* **33**, 339–415.

McEniry J., Allen E., Murphy J. D., O'Kiely P. (2014) Grass for biogas production: The impact of silage fermentation characteristics on methane yield in two contrasting biomethane potential test systems. *Renew Energy* **63**, 524–530.

McInerney M. J., and Bryant M. P. (1981). Review of methane fermentation fundamentals [Production of fuel gas from organic waste products]. *In:* Fuel gas production from biomass. Chemical Rubber Co. Press Inc. West. Palm Beach, USA.

McInerney M. J., Bryant M. P., Pfennig N. (1979) Anaerobic bacterium that degrades fatty acids in syntrophic association with methanogens. *Arch Microbiol* **122**, 129–135.

McInerney M. J., Sieber J. R., Gunsalus R. P. (2009) Syntrophy in anaerobic global carbon cycles. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* **20**, 623–632.

McInerney M. J., Struchtemeyer C. G., Sieber J., Mouttaki H., Stams A. J. M., Schink B., Rohlin L., Gunsalus R. P. (2008) Physiology, ecology, phylogeny, and genomics of microorganisms capable of syntrophic metabolism. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1125**, 58–72.

Mechichi T. and Sayadi S. (2005) Evaluating process imbalance of anaerobic digestion of olive mill wastewaters. *Process Biochem* **40**, 139–145.

Mendes A. A., Pereira E. B., de Castro H. F. (2006) Effect of the enzymatic hydrolysis pretreatment of lipids-rich wastewater on the anaerobic biodigestion. *Biochem Eng J* **32**, 185–190.

Metje M. and Frenzel P. (2007) Methanogenesis and methanogenic pathways in a peat from subarctic permafrost. *Environ Microbiol* **9**, 954–964.

Meuer J., Bartoschek S., Koch J., Künkel A., Hedderich R. (1999) Purification and catalytic properties of Ech hydrogenase from *Methanosarcina barkeri*. *Eur J Biochem* **265**, 325–335.

Michaud S., Bernet N., Buffière P., Roustan M., Moletta R. (2002) Methane yield as a monitoring parameter for the start-up of anaerobic fixed film reactors. *Water Res* **36**, 1385–1391.

Mirahmadi K., Kabir M. M., Jeihanipour A., Karimi K., Taherzadeh M. J. (2010) Alkaline pretreatment of spruce and birch to improve bioethanol and biogas production. *BioResour* **5**, 928–938.

Miron J., Jacobovitch J., Bayer E. A., Lamed R., Morrison M., Ben-Ghedalia D. (2001) Subcellular distribution of glycanases and related components in *Ruminococcus albus* SY3 and their role in cell adhesion to cellulose. *J Appl Microbiol* **91**, 677–685.

Mittweg G., Oechsner H., Hahn V., Lemmer A., Reinhardt-Hanisch A. (2012) Repeatability of a laboratory batch method to determine the specific biogas and methane yields. *Eng Life Sci* **12**, 270–278.

Mladenovska Z. and Ahring B. K. (2000) Growth kinetics of thermophilic *Methanosarcina* spp. isolated from full-scale biogas plants treating animal manures. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **31**, 225–229.

Moestedt J., Påledal S. N., Schnürer A., Nordell E. (2013) Biogas Production from Thin Stillage on an Industrial Scale - Experience and Optimisation. *Energies* **6**, 5642–5655.

Moletta R., Escoffier Y., Ehlinger F., Coudert J.-P., Leyris J.-P. (1994) On-line automatic control system for monitoring an anaerobic fluidized-bed reactor: Response to organic overload. *Water Sci Technol* **30**, 11–20.

Møller H. B., Sommer S. G., Ahring B. K. (2004) Methane productivity of manure, straw and solid fractions of manure. *Biomass Bioenergy* **26**: 485-495.

Monlau F., Latrille E., Da Costa A. C., Steyer J.-P., Carrère H. (2013) Enhancement of methane production from sunflower oil cakes by dilute acid pretreatment. *Appl Energy* **102**, 1105–1113.

Moosbrugger R. E., Wentzel M. C., Ekama G. A., Marais G. v. R. (1993) Weak acid/bases and pH control in anaerobic systems - A review. *Water SA* **19**, 1–10.

Morita M. and Sasaki K. (2012) Factors influencing the degradation of garbage in methanogenic bioreactors and impacts on biogas formation. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **94**, 575–582.

Mshandete A., Björnsson L., Kivaisi A. K., Rubindamayugi M. S. T., Mattiasson B. (2006) Effect of particle size on biogas yield from sisal fibre waste. *Renew Energy* **31**, 2385–2392.

Müller H. W. and Trösch W. (1986) Screening of white-rot fungi for biological pretreatment of wheat straw for biogas production. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **24**, 180–185.

Müller N., Worm P., Schink B., Stams A. J. M., Plugge C. M. (2010) Syntrophic butyrate and propionate oxidation processes: From genomes to reaction mechanisms. *Environ Microbiol Rep* **2**, 489–499.

Munk B., Bauer C., Gronauer A., Lebuhn M. (2012) A metabolic quotient for methanogenic *Archaea. Water Sci Technol* 66, 2311–2317.

Munk B. and Lebuhn M. (2014) Process diagnosis using methanogenic *Archaea* in maize-fed, trace element depleted fermenters. *Anaerobe* **29**, 22–28.

Murashima K., Kosugi A., Doi R. H. (2002) Synergistic effects on crystalline cellulose degradation between cellulosomal cellulases from *Clostridium cellulovorans*. *J Bacteriol* **184**, 5088–5095.

Murto M., Björnsson L., Mattiasson B. (2004) Impact of food industrial waste on anaerobic codigestion of sewage sludge and pig manure. *J Environ Manage* **70**, 101–107.

Mutschlechner M., Illmer P., Wagner A. O. (2015) Biological pre-treatment: Enhancing biogas production using the highly cellulolytic fungus *Trichoderma viride*. *Waste Manag* **43**: 98-107.

Nettmann E., Bergmann I., Mundt K., Linke B., Klocke M. (2008) Archaea diversity within a commercial biogas plant utilizing herbal biomass determined by 16S rDNA and *mcr*A analysis. *J Appl Microbiol* **105**, 1835–1850.

Nettmann E., Bergmann I., Pramschüfer S., Mundt K., Plogsties V., Herrmann C., Klocke M. (2010) Polyphasic analyses of methanogenic archaeal communities in agricultural biogas plants. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **76**, 2540–2548.

Neves L., Oliveira R., Alves M. M. (2009) Co-digestion of cow manure, food waste and intermittent input of fat. *Bioresour Technol* **100**: 1957-1962.

Neyens E. and Baeyens J. (2003) A review of thermal sludge pre-treatment processes to improve dewaterability. *J Hazardous Mater* **98**, 51–67.

Nielsen H. B. and Ahring B. K. (2006) Responses of the biogas process to pulses of oleate in reactors treating mixtures of cattle and pig manure. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **95**, 96–105.

Nielsen H. B. and Angelidaki I. (2008) Strategies for optimizing recovery of the biogas process following ammonia inhibition. *Bioresour Technol* **99**, 7995–8001.

Nielsen H. B., Uellendahl H. W., Ahring B. K. (2007) Regulation and optimization of the biogas process: Propionate as a key parameter. *Biomass Bioenergy* **31**, 820–830.

Nishimura S. and Yoda M. (1997) Removal of hydrogen sulfide from an anaerobic biogas using a bio-scrubber. *Water Sci Technol* **36**, 349–356.

Nölling J., Breton G., Omelchenko M. V., Makarova K. S., Zeng Q., Gibson R., Lee H. M., Dubois J., Qiu D., Hitti J., Wolf Y. I., Tatusov R. L., Sabathe F., Doucette-Stamm L., Soucaille P., Daly M. J., Bennett G. N., Koonin E. V., Smith D. R. (2001) Genome sequence and comparative analysis of the solvent-producing bacterium *Clostridium acetobutylicum*. *J Bacteriol* **183**, 4823–4838.

Nordmann W. (1977) Die Überwachung der Schlammfaulung. Beilage zur Korrespondenz Abwasser 3

Nyns E. J. (1986). Biomethanation processes. Biotechnol 8, 207-267.

Ohara H., Karita S., Kimura T., Sakka K., Ohmiya K. (2000) Characterization of the cellulolytic complex (cellulosome) from *Ruminococcus albus*. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* **64**, 254–260.

Oude Elferink S. J., van Lis R., Heilig H. G., Akkermans A. D., Stams A. J. (1998) Detection and quantification of microorganisms in anaerobic bioreactors. *Biodegradation* **9**, 169–177.

Palatsi J., Viñas M., Guivernau M., Fernandez B., Flotats X. (2011) Anaerobic digestion of slaughterhouse waste: Main process limitations and microbial community interactions. *Bioresour Technol* **102**, 2219–2227.

Parawira W., Murto M., Read J. S., Mattiasson B. (2005) Profile of hydrolases and biogas production during two-stage mesophilic anaerobic digestion of solid potato waste. *Process Biochem* **40**, 2945–2952.

Parawira W. (2012) Enzyme research and applications in biotechnological intensification of biogas production. *Crit Rev Biotechnol* **32**, 172–186.

Park J.-S., Matano Y., Doi R. H. (2001) Cohesin-dockerin interactions of cellulosomal subunits of *Clostridium cellulovorans. J Bacteriol* **183**, 5431–5435.

Pérez-Elvira S. I., Nieto Diez P., Fdz-Polanco F. (2006) Sludge minimisation technologies. *Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol* **5**, 375–398.

Perski H. J., Schönheit P., Thauer R. K. (1982) Sodium dependence of methane formation in methanogenic bacteria. *FEBS Lett* **143**, 323–326.

Persson M., Jönsson O., Wellinger A. (2006) Biogas upgrading to vehicle fuel standards and grid injection. In *IEA Bioenergy task* (Vol. 37).

Petersson A., Thomsen M. H., Hauggaard-Nielsen H., Thomsen A. B. (2007) Potential bioethanol and biogas production using lignocellulosic biomass from winter rye, oilseed rape and faba bean. *Biomass Bioenergy* **31**: 812-819.

Pfennig N. and Lippert K. D. (1966) Über das Vitamin B12-Bedürfnis phototropher Schwefelbakterien. *Archiv Mikrobiol* **55**, 245–256.

Pindt P. F., Angelidaki I., Ahring B. K. (2003) Dynamics of the anaerobic process: Effects of volatile fatty acids. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **82**, 791–801.

Pisa K. Y., Weidner C., Maischak H., Kavermann H., Müller V. (2007) The coupling ion in the methanoarchaeal ATP synthases: H⁺ vs. Na⁺ in the A₁A₀ ATP synthase from the archaeon *Methanosarcina mazei* G1. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **277**, 56–63.

Pobeheim H., Munk B., Lindorfer H., Guebitz G. M. (2011) Impact of nickel and cobalt on biogas production and process stability during semi-continuous anaerobic fermentation of a model substrate for maize silage. *Water Res* **45**, 781–787.

Pomper B. K., Vorholt J. A., Chistoserdova L., Lidstrom M. E., Thauer R. K. (1999) A methenyl tetrahydromethanopterin cyclohydrolase and a methenyl tetrahydrofolate cyclohydrolase in *Methylobacterium extorquens* AM1. *Eur J Biochem* **261**, 475–480.

Prates J. A. M., Tarbouriech N., Charnock S. J., Fontes C. M. G. A., Ferreira L. M. A., Davies
G. J. (2001) The structure of the feruloyl esterase module of xylanase 10B from *Clostridium thermocellum* provides insights into substrate recognition. *Structure* 9, 1183–1190.

Preissler D. (2010) Prozessbiologische Störungen in NawaRo-und Gülleanlagen: Symptome, Ursachen und mögliche Lösungsansätze. *Biogas Forum Bayern*.

Preissler D., Drochner U., Lemmer A., Oechsner H., Jungbluth T. (2010) Sulphur binding in biogas plants using ferric salts. *Landtechnik* **65**, 201–203.

Procházka J., Dolejš P., Máca J., Dohányos M. (2012) Stability and inhibition of anaerobic processes caused by insufficiency or excess of ammonia nitrogen. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **93**: 439-447.

Qiao J.-T., Qiu Y.-L., Yuan X.-Z., Shi X.-S., Xu X.-H., Guo R.-B. (2013) Molecular characterization of bacterial and archaeal communities in a full-scale anaerobic reactor treating corn straw. *Bioresour Technol* **143**, 512–518.

Rabus R., Venceslau S.S., Wöhlbrand L., Voordouw G., Wall J. D., Pereira I. A. C. (2015) Chapter Two – A post-genomic view of the ecophysiology, catabolism and biotechnological relevance of sulphate-reducing prokaryotes. *Adv Microb Physiol.* **66**, 55-321.

Raemy A., Meylan M., Casati S., Gaia V., Berchtold B., Boss R., Wyder A., Graber H. U. (2013) Phenotypic and genotypic identification of streptococci and related bacteria isolated from bovine intramammary infections. *Acta Vet Scand* **55**, 53.

Rafique R., Poulsen T. G., Nizami A.-S., Asam Z.-u.-Z., Murphy J. D., Kiely G. (2010) Effect of thermal, chemical and thermo-chemical pre-treatments to enhance methane production. *Energy* **35**, 4556–4561.

Rajagopal R., Masse D. I., Singh G. (2013) A critical review on inhibition of anaerobic digestion process by excess ammonia. *Bioresour Technol* **143**, 632–641.

Rasche M. E., Smith K. S., Ferry J. G. (1997) Identification of cysteine and arginine residues essential for the phosphotransacetylase from *Methanosarcina thermophila*. *J Bacteriol* **179**, 7712–7717.

Rasi S., Veijanen A., Rintala J. (2007) Trace compounds of biogas from different biogas production plants. *Energy* **32**, 1375–1380.

Raybuck S. A., Ramer S. E., Abbanat D. R., Peters J. W., Orme-Johnson W. H., Ferry J. G., Walsh C. T. (1991) Demonstration of carbon-carbon bond cleavage of acetyl coenzyme A by using isotopic exchange catalyzed by the CO dehydrogenase complex from acetate-grown *Methanosarcina thermophila. J Bacteriol* **173**, 929–932.

Refai S., Berger S., Wassmann K., Deppenmeier U. (2014) Quantification of methanogenic heterodisulfide reductase activity in biogas sludge. *J Biotechnol* **180**, 66–69.

Refai S., Berger S., Wassmann K., Hecht M., Dickhaus T., Deppenmeier U. (2017) BEAP profiles as rapid test system for status analysis and early detection of process incidents in biogas plants. *J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol,* accepted.

Refai S., Wassmann K., Deppenmeier U. (2014) Short-term effect of acetate and ethanol on methane formation in biogas sludge. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **98**, 7271–7280.

Refai S., Wassmann K., van Helmont S., Berger S., Deppenmeier U. (2014) Increase of methane formation by ethanol addition during continuous fermentation of biogas sludge. *J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol* **41**, 1763–1772.

Resch C., Grasmug M., Smeets W., Braun R., Kirchmayr R. (2006) Optimised anaerobic treatment of house-sorted biodegradable waste and slaughterhouse waste in a high loaded half technical scale digester. *Water Sci Technol* **53**, 213–221.

Rieger C. and Weiland P. (2006) Prozessstörungen frühzeitig erkennen. *Biogas Journal* **4**, 18–20.

Rincón M. T., Cepeljnik T., Martin J. C., Lamed R., Barak Y., Bayer E. A., Flint H. J. (2005) Unconventional mode of attachment of the *Ruminococcus flavefaciens* cellulosome to the cell surface. *J Bacteriol* **187**, 7569–7578.

Rozzi A., Di Pinto A. C., Limoni N., Tomei M. C. (1994) Start-up and operation of anaerobic digesters with automatic bicarbonate control. *Bioresour Technol* **48**, 215–219.

Ruan Z., Wang Y., Song J., Jiang S., Wang H., Li Y., Zhao B., Jiang R., Zhao B. (2014) *Kurthia huakuii* sp. nov., isolated from biogas slurry, and emended description of the genus *Kurthia*. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **64**, 518–521.

Ryckebosch E., Drouillon M., Vervaeren H. (2011) Techniques for transformation of biogas to biomethane. *Biomass Bioenergy* **35**, 1633–1645.

Sage M., Daufin G., Gesan-Guiziou G. (1999) Effect of prehydrolysis of milk fat on its conversion to biogas. *J dairy sci* **91**: 4062-4074.

Saha B. C. (2003) Hemicellulose bioconversion. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 30, 279–291.

Sanders F. A. and Bloodgood D. E. (1965) The effect of nitrogen-to-carbon ratio on anaerobic decomposition. *Water Pollut Control Fed* **37**, 1741–1752.

Schattauer A., Abdoun E., Weiland P., Plöchl M., Heiermann M. (2011) Abundance of trace elements in demonstration biogas plants. *Biosyst Eng* **108**, 57–65.

Schieder D., Quicker P., Schneider R., Winter H., Prechtl S., Faulstich M. (2003) Microbiological removal of hydrogen sulfide from biogas by means of a separate biofilter system: experience with technical operation. *Water Sci Technol* **48**, 209–212.

Schink B. (1997) Energetics of syntrophic cooperation in methanogenic degradation. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* **61**, 262–280.

Schink B. (1985) Fermentation of acetylene by an obligate anaerobe, *Pelobacter acetylenicus* sp. nov. *Arch Microbiol* **142**, 295–301.

Schlegel K. and Müller V. (2011) Sodium ion translocation and ATP synthesis in methanogens. *Meth Enzymol* **494**, 233-255.

Schlegel K., Welte C., Deppenmeier U., Müller V. (2012) Electron transport during aceticlastic methanogenesis by *Methanosarcina acetivorans* involves a sodium-translocating Rnf complex. *FEBS J* **279**, 4444–4452.

Schlüter A., Bekel T., Diaz N. N., Dondrup M., Eichenlaub R., Gartemann K.-H., Krahn I., Krause L., Krömeke H., Kruse O., Mussgnug J. H., Neuweger H., Niehaus K., Pühler A., Runte K. J., Szczepanowski R., Tauch A., Tilker A., Viehöver P., Goesmann A. (2008) The metagenome of a biogas-producing microbial community of a production-scale biogas plant fermenter analysed by the 454-pyrosequencing technology. *J Biotechnol* **136**, 77–90.

Schmidt J. E. and Ahring B. K. (1993) Effects of hydrogen and formate on the degradation of propionate and butyrate in thermophilic granules from an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **59**, 2546–2551.

Schnürer A., Zellner G., Svensson B. H. (1999) Mesophilic syntrophic acetate oxidation during methane formation in biogas reactors. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **29**, 249–261.

Scholten J. C. M. and Conrad R. (2000) Energetics of syntrophic propionate oxidation in defined batch and chemostat cocultures. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **66**, 2934–2942.

Schwarz W. H. (2001) The cellulosome and cellulose degradation by anaerobic bacteria. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **56**, 634–649.

Seitz H.-J., Schink B., Pfennig N., Conrad R. (1990) Energetics of syntrophic ethanol oxidation in defined chemostat cocultures. *Arch Microbiol* **155**, 82–88.

Sharma S. K., Mishra I. M., Sharma M. P., Saini J. S. (1988) Effect of particle size on biogas generation from biomass residues. *Biomass* **17**, 251–263.

Shima S., Thauer R. K., Michel H., Ermler U. (1996) Crystallization and preliminary X-ray diffraction studies of formylmethanofuran: Tetrahydromethanopterin formyltransferase from *Methanopyrus kandleri. Proteins* **26**, 118–120.

Sieber J. R., McInerney M. J., Gunsalus R. P. (2012) Genomic insights into syntrophy: the paradigm for anaerobic metabolic cooperation. *Annu Rev Microbiol* **66**, 429–452.

Singh P. R. and Jain M. K. (1986) Studies on the cellulolytic bacteria and cellulose degradation in a cattle waste-fed biogas digester. *MIRCEN J Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **2**, 309–317.

Skiadas I. V., Gavala H. N., Lu J., Ahring B. K. (2005) Thermal pre-treatment of primary and secondary sludge at 70 °C prior to anaerobic digestion. *Water Sci Technol* **52**, 161–166.

Smith K. S. and Ingram-Smith C. (2007) *Methanosaeta*, the forgotten methanogen? *Trends Microbiol* **15**, 150–155.

Sonakya V., Raizada N., Kalia V. C. (2001) Microbial and enzymatic improvement of anaerobic digestion of waste biomass. *Biotechnol Lett* **23**, 1463–1466.

Sorgenfrei O., Müller S., Pfeiffer M., Sniezko I., Klein A. (1997) The [NiFe] hydrogenases of *Methanococcus voltae*: Genes, enzymes and regulation. *Arch Microbiol* **167**, 189–195.

Sparling R. and Daniels L. (1990) Regulation of formate dehydrogenase activity in *Methanococcus thermolithotrophicus. J Bacteriol* **172**, 1464–1469.

Speece R. E. (1983) Anaerobic biotechnology for industrial wastewater treatment. *Environ Sci Technol* **17**, 416A-27A.

Sprott G. D. and Patel G. B. (1986) Ammonia toxicity in pure cultures of methanogenic bacteria. *Syst Appl Microbiol* **7**, 358–363.

Sprott G. D., Shaw K. M., Jarrell K. F. (1984). Ammonia/potassium exchange in methanogenic bacteria. *J BiolChem* **259**, 12602-12608.

Sreekrishnan T. R., Kohli S., Rana V. (2004). Enhancement of biogas production from solid substrates using different techniques - a review. *Bioresour Technol*, **95**, 1-10.

Stams A. J. M. (1994) Metabolic interactions between anaerobic bacteria in methanogenic environments. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* **66**, 271–294.

Stams A. J. M. and Plugge C. M. (2009) Electron transfer in syntrophic communities of anaerobic bacteria and archaea. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **7**, 568–577.

St-Pierre B. and Wright A.-D. G. (2013) Metagenomic analysis of methanogen populations in three full-scale mesophilic anaerobic manure digesters operated on dairy farms in Vermont, USA. *Bioresour Technol* **138**, 277–284.

Streit W. R. and Schmitz R. A. (2004) Metagenomics - the key to the uncultured microbes. *Curr Opin Microbiol* **7**, 492–498.

Sun L., Müller B., Schnürer A. (2013) Biogas production from wheat straw: Community of cellulose-degradtion bacteria. *Energ Sustain Soc* **3**, 1-11.

Sun Y. and Cheng J. (2002) Hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials for ethanol production: A review. *Bioresour Technol* **83**, 1–11.

Sundberg C., Al-Soud W. A., Larsson M., Alm E., Yekta S. S., Svensson B. H., Sorensen S. J., Karlsson A. (2013) 454 pyrosequencing analyses of bacterial and archaeal richness in 21 full-scale biogas digesters. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **85**, 612–626.

Supaphol S., Jenkins S. N., Intomo P., Waite I. S., O'Donnell A. G. (2011) Microbial community dynamics in mesophilic anaerobic co-digestion of mixed waste. *Bioresour Technol* **102**, 4021–4027.

Switzenbaum M. S., Giraldo-Gomez E., Hickey R. F. (1990) Monitoring of the anaerobic methane fermentation process. *Enzyme Microb Technol* **12**, 722–730.

Taherzadeh M. J. and Karimi K. (2008) Pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes to improve ethanol and biogas production: a review. *Int J Mol Sci* **9**, 1621–1651.

Takizawa N., Umetsu K., Takahata H., Hoshiba H. (1994) Temperature effects on continuously expanding anaerobic digester with dairy manure slurry. *Res Bull Obihiro Univ, Nat Sci* **19**, 31–36.

te Brömmelstroet B. W., Hensgens C. M., Geerts W. J., Keltjens J. T., van der Drift C., Vogels G. D. (1990a) Purification and properties of 5,10-methenyltetrahydromethanopterin cyclohydrolase from *Methanosarcina barkeri*. *J Bacteriol* **172**, 564–571.

te Brömmelstroet B. W., Hensgens C. M., Keltjens J. T., van der Drift C., Vogels G. D. (1990b) Purification and properties of 5,10-methylenetetrahydromethanopterin reductase, a coenzyme F_{420} -dependent enzyme, from *Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum* strain ΔH . *J Biol Chem* **265**, 1852–1857.

te Brömmelstroet B. W., Hensgens C. M., Keltjens J. T., van der Drift C., Vogels G. D. (1991a) Purification and characterization of coenzyme F_{420} -dependent 5,10methylenetetrahydromethanopterin dehydrogenase from *Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum* strain ΔH . *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1073**, 77–84.

te Brömmelstroet B. W., Geerts W. J., Keltjens J. T., van der Drift C., Vogels G. D. (1991b) Purification and properties of 5,10-methylenetetrahydromethanopterin dehydrogenase and 5,10methylenetetrahydromethanopterin reductase, two coenzyme F₄₂₀-dependent enzymes, from *Methanosarcina barkeri. Biochim Biophys Acta* **1079**, 293–302.

Thauer R. K., Jungermann K., Decker K. (1977) Energy conservation in chemotrophic anaerobic bacteria. *Bacteriol Rev* **41**, 100–180.

Thauer R. K., Kaster A.-K., Seedorf H., Buckel W., Hedderich R. (2008) Methanogenic archaea: ecologically relevant differences in energy conservation. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **6**, 579–591.

Thauer R. K. and Morris J. G. (1984) Metabolism of chemotrophic anaerobes: Old views and new aspects. *In:* The Micrcobe 1984: part 2. Prokaryotes and eukaryotes (eds Kelly D. P., Carr N. G.), *Symp Soc Gen Microbiol* pp 123-168. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge.

Theiss J., Rother M., Röske K. (2016) Influence of DNA isolation method on the investigation of archaeal diversity and abundance in biogas plants. *Arch Microbiol* **198**, 619–628.

Tietze M., Beuchle A., Lamla I., Orth N., Dehler M., Greiner G., Beifuss U. (2003) Redox potentials of methanophenazine and CoB-S-S-CoM, factors involved in electron transport in methanogenic archaea. *Chembiochem* **4**, 333–335.

Tiquia S. M. (2002) Evolution of extracellular enzyme activities during manure composting. *J Appl Microbiol* **92**, 764–775.

Toreci I., Kennedy K. J., Droste R. L. (2009a) Effect of High Temperature Microwave Thickened Waste-Activated Sludge Pretreatment on Distribution and Digestion of Soluble Organic Matter. *Environ Eng Sci* **26**, 981–991.

Toreci I., Kennedy K. J., Droste R. L. (2009b) Evaluation of continuous mesophilic anaerobic sludge digestion after high temperature microwave pretreatment. *Water Res* **43**, 1273–1284.

Umetsu K., Takahata H., Kawamoto T. (1992) Effect of temperature on mesophilic anaerobic digestion of dairy cow slurry. *Res Bull Obihiro Univ Ser I* **17**, 71–78.

Vaupel M., Dietz H., Linder D., Thauer R. K. (1996) Primary structure of cyclohydrolase (Mch) from *Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum* (strain Marburg) and functional expression of the *mch* gene in *Escherichia coli. Eur J Biochem* **236**, 294–300.

Vaupel M. and Thauer R. K. (1998) Two F₄₂₀-reducing hydrogenases in *Methanosarcina barkeri*. *Arch Microbiol* **169**, 201–205.

VDLUFA (1995) Die Untersuchung von Düngemitteln. *In*: VDLUFA-Methodenvorschrift, Methodenbuch Band II.1 – Düngemittel. VDLUFA Verlag. Speyer.

VDLUFA (2011) Bestimmung der Biogas- und Methanausbeute in Gärtests. *In*: VDLUFA-Methodenvorschrift, Methodenbuch Band VII – Umweltanalytik. VDLUFA Verlag Speyer.

Venceslau S. S., Stockdreher Y., Dahl C., Pereira I. A. C. (2014) The "bacterial heterodisulfide" DsrC is a key protein in dissimilatory sulfur metabolism. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1837**, 1148–1164.

Vos P., Garrity G., Jones D., Krieg N. R., Ludwig W., Rainey F. A., Schleifer K.-H., Whitman,
W. (eds) (2011). Volume 3: The Firmicutes. *In*: Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology.
Springer Science & Business Media. New York.

Wagner A. O., Lins P., Malin C., Reitschuler C., Illmer P. (2013) Impact of protein-, lipid- and cellulose-containing complex substrates on biogas production and microbial communities in batch experiments. *Sci Total Environ* **458-460**, 256–266.

Ward A. J., Hobbs P. J., Holliman P. J., Jones D. L. (2008) Optimisation of the anaerobic digestion of agricultural resources. *Bioresour Technol* **99**: 7928-7940.

Webb A. R. and Hawkes F. R. (1985) The anaerobic digestion of poultry manure: variation of gas yield with influent concentration and ammonium-nitrogen levels. *Agric Wastes* **14**: 135-156.

Weiland P. (1993) One-and two-step anaerobic digestion of solid agroindustrial residues. *Water Sci Technol* **27**, 145–151.

Weiland P. (2006) Biomass digestion in agriculture: a successful pathway for the energy production and waste treatment in Germany. *Eng Life Sci* **6**: 302-309.

Weiland P. (2008) Wichtige Messdaten für den Prozessablauf und Stand der Technik in der Praxis. *In*: Gülzower Fachgespräche, Messen, Steuern, Regeln bei der Biogaserzeugung (eds Fachagerntur für nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V.). http://www.biogaspartner.de/fileadmin/biogas/ Downloads/pdf_328-gf_band_27_biogaserzeugung_ bf.pdf (14.10.2016).

Weiland P. (2010) Biogas production: current state and perspectives. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **85**, 849–860.

Weisburg W. G., Barns S. M., Pelletier D. A., Lane D. J. (1991) 16S ribosomal DNA amplification for phylogenetic study. *J Bacteriol* **173**, 697–703.

Welte C. and Deppenmeier U. (2011a) Membrane-bound electron transport in *Methanosaeta thermophila*. *J Bacteriol* **193**, 2868–2870.

Welte C. and Deppenmeier U. (2011b) Proton translocation in methanogens. *Methods Enzymol* **494**, 257-280.

Welte C. and Deppenmeier U. (2014) Bioenergetics and anaerobic respiratory chains of aceticlastic methanogens. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1837**, 1130–1147.

Welte C., Krätzer C., Deppenmeier U. (2010) Involvement of Ech hydrogenase in energy conservation of *Methanosarcina mazei*. *FEBS J* **277**, 3396–3403.

Westerholm M., Levén L., Schnürer A. (2012) Bioaugmentation of syntrophic acetate-oxidizing culture in biogas reactors exposed to increasing levels of ammonia. *Appl Environ Microbial* **78**: 7619-7625.

Whitlock R. (2012) German biogas market slumps in contrast to Europe. http://www.renewableenergymagazine.com/article/german-biogas-market-slumps-in-contrast-to-20121205 (08.02.2012).

Wilkie A. and Colleran E. (1986) Pilot-scale digestion of pig slurry supernatant using an upflow anaerobic filter. *Environ Technol Lett* **7**, 65–76.

Wilkie A. C., Riedesel K. J., Owens J. M. (2000) Stillage characterization and anaerobic treatment of ethanol stillage from conventional and cellulosic feedstocks. *Biomass Bioenergy* **19**, 63–102.

Wirth R., Kovács E., Maróti G., Bagi Z., Rákhely G., Kovács K. L. (2012) Characterization of a biogas-producing microbial community by short-read next generation DNA sequencing. *Biotechnol biofuels* **5**, 1-16.

Woese C. R. and Fox G. E. (1977) Phylogenetic structure of the prokaryotic domain: The primary kingdoms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **74**, 5088–5090.

Wolin E. A., Wolfe R. S., Wolin M. J. (1964) Viologen dye inhibition of methane formation by *Methanobacillus omelianskii*. *J Bacteriol* **87**, 993–998.

World Energy Council (2013) World Energy Resources 2013 Survey. London, England. https://www.worldenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/Complete_WER_2013_Survey.pdf (09.10.2016).

Xiao W. and Clarkson W. W. (1997) Acid solubilization of lignin and bioconversion of treated newsprint to methane. *Biodegradation* **8**, 61–66.

Yang S.-T., El-Enshasy H. A., Thongchul N. (eds) (2013). Bioprocessing Technologies in Biorefinery for Sustainable Production of Fuels, Chemicals, and Polymers. Hoboken, NJ, USA. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Yu Y., Lee C., Kim J., Hwang S. (2005) Group-specific primer and probe sets to detect methanogenic communities using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **89**, 670–679.

Zhang Y.-H. P. and Lynd L. R. (2004) Toward an aggregated understanding of enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose: Noncomplexed cellulase systems. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **88**, 797–824.

Zhao H., Yang D., Woese C. R., Bryant M. P. (1993) Assignment of fatty acid-β-oxidizing syntrophic bacteria to *Syntrophomonadaceae* fam. nov. on the basis of 16S rRNA sequence analyses. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* **43**, 278–286.

Zhao Y., Zhang H., Boone D. R., Mah R. A. (1986) Isolation and characterization of a fastgrowing, thermophilic *Methanobacterium* species. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **52**, 1227–1229.

Zheng Y., Zhao J., Xu F., Li Y. (2014) Pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for enhanced biogas production. *Prog Energy Combust Sci* **42**, 35–53.

Ziganshin A. M., Liebetrau J., Pröter J., Kleinsteuber S. (2013) Microbial community structure and dynamics during anaerobic digestion of various agricultural waste materials. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **97**, 5161–5174.

VI. List of Publications

- <u>Refai S.</u>, Berger S., Wassmann K., Deppenmeier U. (2014a) Quantification of methanogenic heterodisulfide reductase activity in biogas sludge. *J Biotechnol* **180**: 66-69.
- <u>Refai S.</u>, Wassmann K., Deppenmeier U. (2014b) Short-term effect of acetate and ethanol on methane formation in biogas sludge. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **98**: 7271-7280.
- <u>Refai S.</u>, Wassmann K., van Helmont S., Berger S., Deppenmeier U. (2014c) Increase of methane formation by ethanol addition during continuous fermentation of biogas sludge. *J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol* 41: 1763-1772.
- <u>Refai S.</u>, Berger S., Wassmann K., Hecht M., Dickhaus T., Deppenmeier U. (2017) BEAP profiles as rapid test system for status analysis and early detection of process incidents in biogas plants. *J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol*, accepted.
- Fischer M. A., Neulinger S. C., Wassmann K., <u>Refai S.</u>, Künzel S., Deppenmeier U., Schmitz R. A. (2017) High ammonia concentration significantly affecting microbial community composition and transcription patters in biogas reactors. *Biotechnol Biofuels*, to be submitted

VII. Acknowledgments/ Danksagung

Ein großer Dank geht an Herrn Prof. Dr. Uwe Deppenmeier für die Vergabe des hochinteressanten Themas, für sein stetes Interesse am Fortgang der Arbeit und für die Möglichkeit zum selbständigen wissenschaftlichen Arbeiten. Ich danke ihm, dass er mich unterstützt und sich immer Zeit genommen hat, um über meine Arbeit zu diskutieren. Seine kreativen Ideen im Labor haben wesentlich zum Gelingen dieser Arbeit beigetragen. Ich bedanke mich für seine gewissenhafte Korrektur meiner Manuskripte, sowie für die Möglichkeit, tolle Erfahrungen während vieler nationaler und internationaler Meetings und Konferenzen machen zu können.

Frau PD Dr. Christiane Dahl danke ich sehr für die freundliche Übernahme des Zweitgutachtens.

Mein Dank gilt auch Herrn Prof. Dr. Lukas Schreiber und Herrn Prof. Dr. Sigurd Höger für die Bereitschaft Mitglieder meiner Prüfungskommission zu sein und für ihr Interesse an meiner Arbeit.

Ich möchte allen Kooperationspartnern des BioPara Netzwerks für die gute Zusammenarbeit, die vielen wissenschaftlichen Diskussionen und die Inspirationen bei unseren halbjährlichen Meetings danken.

Ich danke Frau Prof. Dr. Diana Imhof, die mich im Rahmen des MeTra Programms und auch darüber hinaus als Mentorin ermutigt hat, meine wissenschaftliche Karriere fortzuführen. Sie fand immer die richtigen Worte, um mich zu motivieren und zu unterstützen.

Danken möchte ich ebenso Herrn Dipl. Bioing. Thomas Dickhaus von der Firma Bioreact GmbH für die Zusammenarbeit sowie Herrn Thomas Fülling, der mich während der Laborarbeit zuverlässig mit großen Mengen Biogasschlamm versorgt hat. Dipl. Bioing. Nadine Hörter und Dipl. Oecotroph. Yvonne Dill von der Firma Bonalytic GmbH danke ich für die physiko-chemischen Analysen des Biogasschlammes und für die gemeinsame Durchführung der semi-kontinuierlichen Laborreaktoren. Mein ganz besonderer Dank geht an Dr. Melanie Hecht von der Firma Schaumann BioEnergy für die erfolgreiche und freundschaftliche Zusammenarbeit im BioPara Projekt und für die wirklich tolle Koordination und Organisation bei der gemeinsamen Durchführung der semi-kontinuierlichen Laborreaktoren.

Großer Dank geht an alle aktuellen und ehemaligen Doktoranden, Diplomanden, Bachelor- und Master-Studenten der Arbeitsgruppe Deppenmeier. Ich möchte mich insbesondere bei Dr. Stefanie Berger bedanken für ihre Unterstützung von der ersten bis zur letzten Minute dieser Arbeit und für die gemeinsame kreative, lustige, freudige, teilweise harte aber unvergessliche Zeit. Dr. Maria Meyer und Dr. Kati Wassmann möchte ich für die produktive und freundschaftliche Zusammenarbeit im BioPara Projekt danken. Ein besonderer Dank geht an das Große Labor, vor allem an M. Sc. Lena Kröninger, M. Sc. Nageena Zahid und M. Sc. Thomas Franke und an das Swox Labor, besonders an Dr. Jessica Zeiser, M. Sc. Konrad Kosciow und M. Sc. Anna Siemen für die tolle Zusammenarbeit und einzigartige Arbeitsatmosphäre. Dank euch allen bin ich jeden Morgen gern ins Labor gekommen. Ein herzlicher

Dank geht an Dipl. Biol. Elisabeth Schwab, die mich immer hilfsbereit und freundlich unterstützt und alle Fragen geduldig beantwortet hat.

Ein großer Dank geht auch an B. Sc. Jan Streeck, M. Sc. Lisa Nauroth, M. Sc. Sebastian van Helmont, B. Sc. Sebastian Kraus, M. Sc. Janine Simon, M. Sc. Julia Feldhues und M. Sc. Julia Hitschler für das Interesse und ihre Begeisterungsfähigkeit im Labor.

Ich danke allen Mitarbeitern der Arbeitsgruppen Dahl, Galinski, Lipski, Sahl und Schneider für die nette Arbeitsatmosphäre und die tolle Zusammenarbeit.

Besonders danken möchte ich auch meinen Freunden, die mich in den letzten Jahren begleitet und an mich geglaubt haben. Ein großes Dankeschön geht vor allem an Dipl. Biol. Katharina Moritz. Du hast mich in jeder Phase der letzten 10 Jahren bedingungslos unterstützt.

Ein liebevoller Dank geht an meinen Freund Jens Engelen. Deine Liebe, dein Verständnis und deine Geduld haben mir in vielen Momenten die Kraft gegeben durchzuhalten.

Der größte Dank geht an meine Familie, meine Eltern Angelika und Khaled und an meine Schwester Miriam. Ihr habt mich mit großem Verständnis begleitet und meinen Entscheidungen viel Vertrauen entgegengebracht. Eurer liebevollen Unterstützung habe ich es zu verdanken, dass ich es bis hier schaffen konnte, daher widme ich euch in tiefer Dankbarkeit und Liebe diese Arbeit.